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3Letter from the Chairman and CEO

Letter from the 
Chairman and CEO

2019 was a challenging year in 
many ways. In geopolitical terms, 
the past 12 months were marked 
by uncertainty around the world: 
trade tensions between the United 
States and China, inconclusive 
Brexit negotiations and ongoing 
instability in the Middle East are  
a few of the factors destabilising 
global markets. 

Pan Xueping 
Chairman

Sheng Yiping  
CEO
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ITMA Barcelona
Despite this background, it was also the year of great 
innovations for Saurer, which we proudly presented at 
the ITMA exhibition in Barcelona (Spain). These included 
our new carding machine Autocard and draw frame 
Autodraw, which were well received by customers at  
the show. This was also the case for the Group's first 
air-spinning machine Autoairo, with its unique machine 
concept receiving much praise. The Company also 
launched its own range of laboratory equipment, Autolab. 
Another exciting development included a sensor  
that measures tension and monitors yarn twist for our 
twisting machines, a world first. Additionally, ITMA 
visitors had the opportunity to explore the mill manage-
ment system Senses. This program connects all 
machines in the textile plant, including those of third 
parties, and allows customers to harness the power  
of data to optimise production.

All of these products were presented under our 
reinvigorated brand, highlighting the inspiring connection 
between our customers, partners and employees: 
together, we power creation.

Financials 2019
Saurer achieved revenues for the full year 2019 of  
RMB 8.58 billion, a year-on-year (YoY) decline of 7 % 
(2018: RMB 9.22 billion). Global uncertainty, combined  
with the usual anticipation of the innovations presented 
at ITMA, dampened the demand for machines and 
services for most of 2019, although a slight recovery was 
seen in the second half-year. Net profit attributable  
to shareholders amounted to RMB 609 million, –24.9 % 
compared with last year (2018: RMB 810 million).  
The Technologies Segment saw a sharp downturn in  
its market: –29.3 % YoY, while the Spinning Segment, 
which accounts for 85 % of revenues, displayed relative 
stability. Sales revenue in Asia (including China  
and India) grew by 4.6 %. Notably, the Group's biggest 
market, China, rose by approximately 17 %. 

Innovation and customer focus are key
We are steadfast with our outside-in strategy:  
focusing on customers' needs and offering innovative, 
fit-for-purpose solutions. Feedback received from 
customers during and after the ITMA indicates that  
we are on the right track. We have a complete and 
powerful basket of solutions to meet the demands of 
customers. In addition, with our increased focus  
on digitalisation and automation, we are leading the 
world's textile companies into the future. 

Acknowledgements
On behalf of the Board of Directors and the Group 
Management, we would like to thank our employees  
for their immense commitment during the course  
of a year characterised by highs and lows. We are 
grateful to have built long and meaningful relationships 
with our customers, suppliers and business partners;  
the bonds are growing stronger every year. Lastly, we 
acknowledge the essential role that you, our share-
holders, play – thank you for putting your trust in us.

Wattwil/Shanghai, 30 June 2020

Pan Xueping 
Chairman

Sheng Yiping  
CEO
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When assembling an Autocard, 
there is no tolerance for error.  
The machine must be constructed 
with the highest precision, 
because only an immaculate fibre 
preparation allows you to create 
a high-quality yarn further down 
the production line. This is why 
carding is known as the heart of 
the spinning mill. Our Autocard is 
capable of delivering exceptional 
quality and superior productivity 
at the same time. The newest 
Autocard has the same footprint 
as its predecessor, but a larger 
carding area of 4m².

“I set out to build  
the machines of 
highest precision for 
our customers.”
 
Li Jinjiang
Senior general assembly operator
Pre-spinning 
Urumqi, China

More about  
our Autocard

We power creation
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Our inherent pioneering spirit 
drives us to develop new products 
and constantly improve existing 
ones. For us, technology is a means 
to an end: it’s about creating 
added value for our customers. 
Our slim-balloon technology, for 
example, addresses one of our 
customers' biggest pain points 
with its low energy consumption. 
I am very proud that even in an 
established technology such  
as twisting, we still manage to 
patent several new developments 
every year. 

“We always evaluate 
technological 
developments from 
the customer's 
perspective.”
 
Jürgen Schnitzler
Head of Research and Development
Twisting
Krefeld, Germany

More about our  
twisting solutions

Annual Report 2019
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Our industry is developing ever 
more rapidly, and Saurer’s strength 
in innovation plays a big part. 
Currently we’re testing our new 
automated feed-through for the 
Epoca 7, which can embroider 
fabric lengths of up to 120 metres 
continuously – without cutting! 
This system is almost ready for its 
market launch. Being part of the 
development of innovations like 
this is what drives me every day 
– for over 40 years now. 

“My mission  
is to reduce our 
customers’ ramp-up 
costs by getting  
new developments 
market-ready.”
 
Kurt Bösch 
Head of Training Centre 
Embroidery 
Arbon, Switzerland

More about 
Embroidery
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We have the very highest quality 
standards. All components 
undergo rigorous testing before 
series production is approved.  
We put particular emphasis on 
machine parts that come into 
contact with the yarn and thus 
have a direct influence on the 
yarn quality. These components 
are subjected to intensive, long-
term tests to ensure their dura-
bility. This is especially important 
in the production of high-quality 
tire cord, since the automotive 
industry places the highest safety 
requirements on its suppliers.

“Nothing leaves  
the factory until  
it’s been tested 
thoroughly.”
 
Michael Herrmann 
Quality assurance specialist 
Twisting  
Krefeld, Germany

More about our 
CableCorder

We power creation
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As a provider of systems, our 
focus is on the optimal integration 
of hardware and software. Our 
Senses mill management system  
is a perfect example. Senses 
brings the machines to a new level 
of intelligence, creating added 
value for our customers in terms 
of quality and productivity. With 
Senses, the customer always has 
access to production, quality, and 
performance data – in real time, 
from everywhere. And since flexi - 
bility is important to us, Senses  
is also compatible with machinery 
from other manufacturers.

“The new digital 
business line 
demonstrates 
Saurer’s strength.”
 
Theresa Heckmann 
Marketing and Communications  
Business Line Digital 
Übach-Palenberg, Germany

More about 
Senses
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We are always looking to expand 
the uses of our ring-spinning 
machines, by testing various 
machine settings for the customer 
and then analysing the results in 
our laboratory. We do this for 
existing machines and materials 
as well as for new acquisitions and 
new materials. Our expert know-
ledge helps customers get the 
most out of their machines. We’re 
also observing trends and using 
this knowledge to optimise the 
machines. With these measures, 
we ensure that the functionality 
of our machines is keeping pace 
with changing customer needs.

“It’s fascinating  
that fibres can be 
used to make such  
a wide variety of 
products with the 
help of our machines.”
 
Miriam Kehrwieder 
Textile technologist 
Ring spinning 
Übach-Palenberg, Germany

More about ring spinning 
and fancy yarns

We power creation
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Important notes

1.  The Board of Directors, the Board of Supervisors, 
Directors, Supervisors and Senior Executives of Saurer 
Intelligent Technology Co. Ltd (“the Company”), 
hereby confirm that the content set out in this Annual 
Report is true, accurate and complete, and free from 
any false representations, misleading statements or 
material omissions, and are individually and collec-
tively responsible for the content therein.

2.  All members of the Board of Directors attended the 
board meeting to review this Annual Report.

3.  PwC Mainland China (special general partnership) 
presented a qualified Auditor’s Report for the Com-
pany. The BoD and Supervisory Board of the Com-
pany have made special statements regarding the 
related issue.
PricewaterhouseCoopers (special general partnership) 
audited the Company's 2019 financial report and issued 
a qualified opinion. The Board of Directors, Supervisory 
Board and Independent Directors of the Company 
made an announcement regarding the matters. For 
more details, please refer to the announcements dis-
closed on 30 June 2020, including: “Board of Directors' 
Opinion on the Qualified Opinion of the Annual Audit 
Report 2019 of Saurer Intelligent Technology Co. Ltd”, 
“Board of Directors' Opinion on the Adverse Opinion of 
the Internal Control Report of Saurer Intelligent Tech-
nology Co. Ltd”, “Supervisors' Opinion on the Qualified 
Opinion of Annual Audit Report 2019 of Saurer Intelli-
gent Technology Co. Ltd”, “Supervisors' Opinion on the 
Adverse Opinion of the Internal Control Report of 
Saurer Intelligent Technology Co. Ltd”.

4.  Pan Xueping, Chairman of the Board of Directors, 
and Lu Yimin, Chief Financial Officer and accountant 
in charge, confirm the truthfulness, accuracy and 
completeness of the financial statements in this 
Annual Report.

5.  Proposed profit distribution and capital reserve plan 
for the reporting period, as reviewed by the Board of 
Directors.
According to the Articles of Association and the rele-
vant laws and regulations, and considering factors 
such as shareholders’ returns and the Company’s busi-
ness development, the Board of Directors reviewed and 
approved the profit distribution plan for 2019 as follows:

Given the downward pressure on the economy from 
the Covid-19 pandemic, Saurer’s long-term plan and 
short-term business operations, as well as the major 
investment plans or major cash expenditures during 
the next 12 months, Saurer is not planning to distrib-
ute profit or increase equity. This step is intended to 
enhance the Company's financial stability and anti-
risk capacity, to ensure the Company's capital needs 
for future production and operation, and to safeguard 
the long-term interests of all stakeholders.

Article 8 of the Regulations on The Repurchase of 
Shares of Listed Companies on the Shanghai Stock 
Exchange mentioned that: “If a listed company repur-
chases shares through call auction, the repurchased 
shares can be equal to cash dividends and are included 
in the calculation of cash dividends in proportion". The 
total amount used to repurchase Saurer shares in 2019 
was RMB 108.9 million, accounting for 17.9 % of the dis-
tributable profit realised in 2019. The amount is higher 
than 10 % of the realised distributable profits in 2019. 
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In 2017-2019, the Company's cumulative profit distri-
bution in cash for three consecutive years amounts to 
RMB 557.4 million, representing 80.5 % of annual distrib-
utable profits for three consecutive years. This meets 
the requirement for cash dividends recorded in Saurer’s 
Articles of Association: “Except for exceptional circum-
stances, if the Company's profit and cumulative undis-
tributed profit are positive and the Company’s long-
term development is secured, the profits distributed 
in cash in a single year shall not be less than 10 % of 
the distributable profit for the year, and the profits 
distributed in cash over three years shall not be less 
than 30 % of the annual distributable profits realised in 
those three years."

6.  Disclaimer with respect to forward-looking statements 
None of the forward-looking statements contained in 
this report, such as the development strategies or 
future business plans, constitute a commitment by the 
Company to investors. Investors are advised to be 
aware that investments involve risks.

7.  Important risk warnings
The risks faced by the Company are detailed in “Com-
pany’s Future Development” under Section 4, “Discus-
sion and Analysis of Operations". Investors are advised 
that investments involve risks.
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1. Definitions

1 Definitions

The following terms in this report shall have the meanings as shown below unless indicated otherwise: 

Definitions of regularly used terms

Saurer Intelligent, the Company,  
this Company and the Listed Company Refers to Saurer Intelligent Technology Co. Ltd

Saurer Group, Saurer Intelligent Group Refers to Saurer Intelligent Technology Co. Ltd and all its subsidiaries

Jinsheng Industrial Refers to Jiangsu Jinsheng Industry Co. Ltd

State-owned company Refers to Urumqi State-owned Assets Operation (Group) Co. Ltd

CDBC Refers to China Development Bank Capital Co. Ltd

Jinbuer Refers to
Changzhou Jinbuer Investment Partnership (limited partnership),  
formerly known as Changzhou Kimble Investment Partnership (limited partnership)

Jiangsu Huatai Refers to Jiangsu Huatai Strategic Emerging Industry Investment Fund (limited partnership)

Hehe Investment Refers to Changzhou Hehe Investment Partnership (limited partnership)

Shenzhen Longding Refers to Shenzhen Longding Shuming Equity Investment Partnership (limited partnership)

China Advanced Manufacturing Fund Refers to China Advanced Manufacturing Industry Investment Fund (limited partnership)

Huashan Investment Refers to Huashan Investment Co. Ltd

Shanghai Yongjun Refers to Shanghai Yongjun Equity Investment Partnership (limited partnership)

Ningbo Yukang Refers to Ningbo Yukang Equity Investment Centre (limited partnership)

Tibet Jiaze Refers to Tibet Jiaze Venture Investment

Hezhong Investment Refers to Changzhou Hezhong Investment Partnership (limited partnership)

Shanghai Jinye Refers to
Shanghai Jinye Venture Capital Investment Partnership (limited partnership),  
formerly known as Shanghai Jinye Equity Investment Partnership (limited partnership)

Shanghai Hongcheng Refers to
Shanghai Hongcheng Venture Capital Investment Partnership (limited liability),  
formerly known as Shanghai Hongcheng Equity Investment Partnership (limited liability)

Beijing Zhongtai Refers to Beijing Zhongtai Financial Investment Co. Ltd

Nanjing Daofeng Refers to Nanjing Daofeng Investment Management Centre (general partnership)

Litai Company Refers to Xinjiang Litai Silk Road Investment Co. Ltd

Litai Xingshi Refers to Litai Xingshi (Taicang) Holding Co. Ltd

Saurer Intelligent Machinery Refers to Saurer Intelligent Machinery Co. Ltd

Saurer Germany Refers to Saurer Spinning Solutions GmbH & Co. KG

Saurer Technologies Refers to Saurer Technologies GmbH & Co. KG

Saurer Switzerland Refers to SAURER AG

Saurer Switzerland Technology Refers to Saurer Intelligent Technology AG

Saurer Jiangsu Refers to Saurer (Jiangsu) Textile Machinery Co. Ltd

Saurer Changzhou Refers to Saurer (Changzhou) Textile Machinery Co. Ltd

Saurer Shanghai Refers to Saurer (Shanghai) Textile Machinery Technology Co. Ltd

Saurer Xinjiang Refers to Saurer Xinjiang Intelligent Machinery Co. Ltd

SSE Refers to Shanghai Stock Exchange

E³ + I Refers to Energy, Economics, Ergonomics, Intelligence

PwC Refers to PwC China (special general partnership)

CSRC Refers to China Securities Regulatory Commission

AGM/EGM Refers to Annual General Meeting/Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders
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2. Company  
profile and  
financial summary
1 Company information

Chinese name 卓郎智能技术股份有限公司

Chinese abbreviation 卓郎智能
English name Saurer Intelligent Technology Co. Ltd

English abbreviation Saurer Intelligent

Legal representative Pan Xueping

2 Contact person and contact information 

Secretary to the Board of Directors Representative of Securities Affairs

Name Zeng Zhengping An Ning

Address 100 Zunyi Road, Hangqiao, The Place, Changning District, Shanghai 100 Zunyi Road, Hangqiao, The Place, Changning District, Shanghai

Tel 021-22262549 021-22262549

Fax 021-22262586 021-22262586

Email dlu-china-ir@saurer.com dlu-china-ir@saurer.com

3 Basic profile

Registered address Room 1505, Weitai Building, 1 Weitai South Road, Economic and Technological Development Zone, Urumqi, Xinjiang 

Zip code 830026

Office address 1 Bainiaohu, Toutunhe District, Urumqi, Xinjiang 

Zip code 830022

Company website www.saurer.com

Email dlu-china-ir@saurer.com

4 Information disclosure and  
place of collection

Designated newspapers for disclosure of the Company’s information Securities Times, Securities Daily and Shanghai Securities News

Website designated by the CSRC for publishing the Annual Report http://www.sse.com.cn/

Place of collection of Annual Report Office of the Board of Directors

Company website www.saurer.com

Email dlu-china-ir@saurer.com
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5 Information on the Company’s shares

Shares of the Company

Type of shares Place of listing Stock abbreviation Stock code Stock abbreviation before change

A shares Shanghai Stock Exchange (SSE) Saurer Intelligent 600545 Xinjiang Urban Construction

6 Other relevant information

Accounting firm  
(Mainland China)

Name PwC Mainland China (special general partnership)

Office address
202 Hubin Road, Corporate Avenue 2nd Bldg,  
PwC Centre 11th Floor, Huangpu District, Shanghai

Signing accountants Sun Ying, Zhang Weibin

Sponsor performing  
continuous supervision duties  
in the reporting period

Name ZTF Securities Co. Ltd, formerly known as Haiji Securities Co. Ltd

Office address China Chuneng Building 50th floor, Nanshan Area, Shenzhen

Authorised sponsor representatives Chang Jiang, Chen Huawei

Continuous supervision period 28 July 2017 – 31 December 2020

7 Major accounting data and  
financial indicators of the Company  
for the last three years

(1) Major accounting data

Major accounting data 2019 2018 Change YoY (%) 2017

Revenue 8 575 309 9 220 759 –7.0  8 713 412

Net profit attributable to shareholders of the Listed Company 608 934 810 294 –24.9  658 327

Net profit attributable to shareholders of the Listed Company 
less non-recurring gains and losses 649 356 767 381 –15.4  649 046

Net cash flow from operating activities –252 733 –1 042 763 –75.8  676 157

Year-end 2019 Year-end 2018 Change YoY (%) Year-end 2017

Net assets attributable to shareholders of the Listed Company 4 942 804 4 653 156 6.2  2 207 034

Total assets 13 203 971 14 415 706 –8.4  14 531 772

Unit: thousand RMB

(2) Major financial indicators

Major financial indicators 2019 2018 Change YoY (%) 2017

Basic earnings per share (yuan/share) 0.3218 0.4275 –24.7 0.4556

Diluted earnings per share (yuan/share) 0.3218 0.4275 –24.7 0.4556

Basic earnings per share after deducting non-recurring gains and losses (yuan/share) 0.3432 0.4049 –15.2 0.4492

Weighted average return on equity (%) 12.69 30.58 –17.89 pts 23.67

Weighted average return on equity after deducting non-recurring gains and losses (%) 13.53 28.96 –15.43 pts 23.34

Unit: thousand RMB
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8 Major financial data for each  
quarter in 2019

Q1
(Jan. – Mar.)

Q2
(Apr. – Jun.)

Q3
(Jul. – Sep.)

Q4
(Oct. – Dec.)

Revenue 1 697 591 2 118 068 2 008 199 2 751 451

Net profit attributable to shareholders of the Listed Company 138 152 139 790 89 176 241 816

Net profit attributable to shareholders of the Listed Company  
less non-recurring gains and losses 115 032 181 145 93 519 259 660

Net cash flow from operating activities –830 342 –273 847 –810 991 1 662 447

Unit: thousand RMB

9 Items and amounts of non-recurring 
gains and losses

Non-recurring gains and losses 2019 Note (if applicable) 2018 2017

Income and losses arising from disposal of assets 138
Gains and losses generated from 
disposals of fixed assets 148 –1 318

Government subsidies calculated in current gains and losses, except those  
that are closely related to normal operating activities and in compliance with 
national policies, which are based on a certain standard quota or amount 27 519

Including RMB 25 million special fund  
for corporate development 46 305 2 511

Capital occupancy fees charged to non-financial enterprises,  
recorded in income statement in the current period 11 325

Interest income generated from 
temporary supplier loans provided to 
third–party companies 5 353 23 775

Expected employee severance expenses and other costs resulting  
from shutdowns of operations outside China   –115 480

Employee severance payments arising 
from from consolidation of business 
outside China 0 –8 539

Other net non-operating income and expenditure other than the above 1 031 –640 –21 068

Other items that meet the definition of non-recurring gains and losses 0 0 12 082

Amounts attributable to minority shareholders 9 685 0 –92

Income tax effects 25 360 –8 253 1 930

 –40 422 42 913 9 281

Unit: thousand RMB 

10 Items using fair value measurement

Item
Beginning 

balance
Ending 

balance
Change  
in 2019

Amount affecting 
balance in 2019

Financial assets at fair value with changes factored into current gains and losses 1 104 966 6 310 –1 098 656 253

Financial liabilities at fair value with changes factored into current gains and losses  
of current period 5 416 10 478 5 062 0

Financing receivables 113 322 7 025 –106 297 0

1 223 704 23 813 –1 199 891 253

Unit: thousand RMB
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3. Business  
overview

1 Main business, operating model and 
core competencies

Saurer is a global leader in high-end textile equipment and 
solutions with over 160 years of history. Its business focuses 
mainly on the R&D, production and sales of intelligent tex-
tile equipment and their key components. The Company 
has a history of creating innovation: its strategic partner-
ships with other textile machinery companies enable it to 
deliver a suite of solutions. Through market insight, inno-
vation and partnership, Saurer has become one of the few 
suppliers in the staple fibre processing industry that offers 
blowing machines, cotton carding machines, roving 
frames, ring-spinning, fully automated rotor-spinning as 
well as air-spinning machines, winding machines, cabling, 
twisting and two-for-one twisting machines. The Com-
pany has production sites and sales organisations in 12 
countries and regions, including China, Germany, Switzer-
land and India, and its customers are spread across 130 
countries. All its key products have significant competitive 
advantages and are in leading positions in the global tex-
tile market. 

(1) Main business
Saurer is divided into two business segments: Spinning 
Solutions and Technologies. 

(a) Spinning Solutions 
Saurer Spinning Solutions provides customers with a 
suite of solutions required for processing fibre from bale 
to yarn, including pre-spinning, ring-, rotor- and air- 
spinning machines as well as winding machines and 
their key components. Its flagship products include 
the Autocoro, the Autoconer and the ring-spinning 
machines ZR 72XL and ZI 72XL. 

(b) Technologies 
With its Twisting Solutions, Embroidery, Elastomer 
Components and Engineered Bearing Solutions busi-
ness units, the Technologies segment concentrates on 
high-value-added technologies, components and 
solutions in the textile manufacturing process for sta-
ple as well as man-made fibres. It also specialises in 
technological innovations that go beyond textile. 
Flagship products include the GlassTwister VGT 9/11, 
the CableCorder CC5 for tire cord and the Epoca 7 
pro shuttle embroidery machine.
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(2) Business model
Throughout its long history, Saurer has established a 
unique pattern of adapting to market developments by 
repositioning its R&D, production and procurement, prod-
uct portfolio and sales and service organisation accord-
ing to customer needs. 

(a) R&D model
Saurer has a specialised product R&D department that 
undertakes both standard and customised projects 
and has set up R&D centres in China, Germany and 
Switzerland. Saurer’s R&D follows a specific workflow, 
adhering to its new “E³ + I” concept, which focuses on 
improving product performance in terms of Energy, 
Economy, and Ergonomics, plus Intelligence. First, 
product management together with the sales and 
after-sales service departments gather and sort infor-
mation on customer needs. Product management then 
defines the product requirements according to the cus-
tomer’s needs. Interdisciplinary development teams, 
led by professional project managers, are responsible 
for setting up product development projects. A proto-
type for the new product is created, taking into 
account technical requirements and E³ + I parameters 
as well as the required customer features. Once the 
technology has taken shape, the product enters sev-
eral production and market testing stages. The entire 
product development process is a closed-loop, itera-
tive process aimed at continuous improvement.

(b) Production and procurement model
Saurer implements order-based (make to order) pro-
duction. The offering is designed according to cus-
tomer-specific requirements. 

The procurement process required for the key parts, 
and the control and information systems for each 
modular assembly, are performed independently 
within the Company. Standard parts are acquired by 
the procurement department from qualified suppliers.

(c) Assembly model
Once the key components have been procured or pro-
duced, Saurer completes the assembly of stand-alone 
machines and entire production lines for final testing. 
Specialised stand-alone machines are assembled at 
Saurer, while the assembly of complete production 
lines for final testing is completed at the customer’s 
site. Final acceptance testing is then performed in 
strict compliance with the design specifications. Final 
acceptance indicates that Saurer’s product meets the 
requirements of the technical specifications, the agree-
ment and tender documents. 

(d) Sales
Saurer employs two sales models, depending on the 
size of the market. In larger markets, Saurer uses a 
direct sales model for market development. In rela-
tively small-scale markets or those with a low concen-
tration of customers, Saurer generally chooses to 
work with a distributor.
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(3) State of the industry
In 2019, the textile industry in China – the world’s largest 
textile market – came under increasing profitability pres-
sure, due to the weakening global economy and continu-
ing trade frictions resulting in investment restraint. There 
is also ongoing pressure on most sections of the global 
supply chains.

2 Significant changes in major assets

During the reporting period, the Company's fixed asset 
balance increased by RMB 410 million, due to the transfer 
of RMB 280 million of construction in progress into fixed 
assets, reflecting the completion and operational start of 
Saurer Xinjiang’s smart factory. 

At the end of the reporting period, the Company held 
assets outside China of RMB 5.44 billion, which account 
for 41.2 % of total assets (at RMB 13.2 billion).

3 Core competencies

As a company steeped in tradition, Saurer has always 
been a pioneer in the textile machinery industry. Passion 
for its products lies at the heart of the Company’s history 
of innovation. With more than 1 500 registered patents 
and over 1 000 patents pending as of 31 December 2019, 
and currently almost 500 R&D employees worldwide, 
Saurer’s R&D teams are a driving force for development 
in the textile industry. Today, Saurer is one of the few sup-
pliers in the staple fibre processing industry able to 
deliver a suite of solutions, covering the spinning process 
from bale to yarn.

(1) Competing with the unique value of E³ + I 
Saurer’s R&D departments use their resources and capa-
bilities to design solutions that are compatible with cus-
tomers’ requirements for energy savings, economical 
production and ergonomics (E³, or Triple Added Value). 
With digitalisation progressing in all industries, the Saurer 
response is to add intelligence. This is embodied in the 
Company’s E³ + I concept.

(2) Competing through technological innovation 
At the ITMA (International Textile Machinery Association) 
exhibition in June 2019, Saurer launched a series of industry- 
leading products, including:

The fully automated Autoairo air-spinning machine: the 
newly launched Autoairo can carry out twenty-four piec-
ing operations simultaneously. Compared with other 
machines on the market, the piecing capacity of the 
Autoairo is twice as high. The Autoairo requires 40 % less 
space than other air-spinning machines for the same 
yarn quantity. The higher productivity per square metre 
of production area decreases investment and subse-
quent costs. The launch of the newly developed air-spin-
ning machine brings Saurer new profit growth potential.
 
The new Autocard has been added to the flexible pre-spin-
ning portfolio, which offers the right solutions for the prepa-
ration of all kinds of fibres for the subsequent processes. 
The right combination of blow room, carding and draw 
frame ensures excellent fibre utilisation and sliver quality 
for high efficiency and high-quality yarn in spinning. 

AutoBD, the new semi-automatic rotor-spinning machine, 
can be fitted with the intelligent automation solutions of 
the Autocoro, if desired, to get a fully automated rotor-spin-
ning machine. The AutoBD offers new possibilities to pene-
trate the mid-price market segment. 

The third generation of the fully automatic rotor-spinning 
machine Autocoro with its revolutionary single spindle 
technology is equipped with an intelligent light concept 
and 50 % higher piecing capacity compared with the pre-
vious generation. With several additional performance 
advantages, and its unprecedented productivity, the 
Autocoro is the leader in its market segment.

The automatic winding machine Autoconer can be 
equipped with the new MultiLink, which enables to link up 
to four ring-spinning machines, thus saving up to 20 % 
energy cost. 

The ZI 72XL compact ring-spinning machine, with up to 
2 016 spinning positions, offers more flexibility to custom-
ers from all markets: the ZI 72XL is a highly efficient 
ring-spinning machine which can be tailored to meet 
specific customer needs for their applications. The new 
Impact FX pro technology provides customers with two 
different compact-spinning systems, supporting the com-
petitiveness or our customers’ products.

Twisting and cabling machines: Saurer’s glass fibre ring- 
twisting machine enjoys a high reputation in the industry. 
In the advent of the 5G era, the use of glass fibre will 
increase substantially. The machine can meet the diversi-
fied requirements of our customers with the dedication to 
improve manufacture efficiency and create higher value.
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(3) Competing on the strength of the Saurer brand
For over 160 years, Saurer’s engineering experience has 
been a driving force for innovation in the textile industry. 
The continuous development of the Company’s core com-
petencies provides customers with optimal solutions to 
meet their needs. Saurer plays a key role at many stages 
along the textile value chain. Through insight, innovation 
and partnerships, Saurer solutions lead the industry in 
spinning technology as well as high-quality threading and 
cabling systems for tire cords, carpet yarns and glass-fila-
ment yarns. Saurer is a technology leader in embroidery 
machines and textile machine components for spinning 
and twisting, including drafting systems, spindles and 
spindle drives, and rings and travellers. Beyond textile, 
the Saurer reputation for expertise extends to glass-form-
ing aprons and special bearings. 

Saurer’s strong standing and reputation are the Compa-
ny’s backbone for growth in international markets.

(4) Competing through combined local know-how and 
global reach
In 2013, Jinsheng Industrial acquired Saurer. As a Chinese 
business, Saurer has a significant advantage in regional 
development. China’s vision for the textile industry is hav-
ing a profound impact on the Company's growth strategy. 
Saurer is well-positioned to reap the rewards of invest-
ments along the re-invigorated trade route from east to 
west at the heart of the “One Belt, One Road” initiative. 

Saurer’s competitiveness is strengthened further by its 
global reach in all major markets. Because a short 
response time is a key factor for success, Saurer has pro-
duction sites as well as sales and service organisations in 
12 countries, including Brazil, China, Germany, India, Mex-
ico, Switzerland, Turkey and the US. It provides excellent 
service to its customers in over 130 countries worldwide. 
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4. Discussion  
and analysis of 
operations
1 Overview of operations

In 2019, global economic growth continued to slow and 
GDP growth rates around the world maintained their 
downward trend. With tightening financial conditions 
overseas and financial adjustment domestically, China’s 
GDP growth rate stood at 6.1 %, its lowest level since 
1990. The global textile machinery industry continues to 
run at a sluggish pace, with textile machinery manufac-
turing countries/regions all undergoing an adjustment 
phase as global demand for textile machinery decreased. 

The textile industry in China came under increasing prof-
itability pressure in 2019, with continuing pressure on 
most sections of supply chains. The cumulative business 
revenues of 35 000 textile companies above a certain size 
were RMB 4 943.4 billion, a decrease of 1.5 % YoY, which is 
4.4 percentage points lower than last year. Profit for this 
group amounted to RMB 225.1 billion, a decrease of 
11.6 % YoY, which is 19.6 percentage points lower than last 
year (source: China Textile Industry Association & Indus-
trial Economic Research Institute). According to the 
Financial Report of 2019 Textile Machinery issued by 
China Textile Machinery Association, the textile compa-
nies which are above a certain size achieved a revenue of 
RMB 81.9 billion in 2019, a decrease of 7 % over the same 
period of last year. The total profit is RMB 5.9 billion, a 
decrease of 3.6 % over the same period last year. 

In 2019, Saurer’s operating revenue decreased 7 % YoY to 
RMB 8.58 billion, due to the global economic situation, 
recurrent trade friction and investment uncertainties. Net 
profit attributed to equity holders of the Company was 
RMB 609 million, a decrease of 24.9 % YoY.

China saw a 16.9 % increase in revenue, but the country’s 
financial downturn and geopolitical uncertainty affected 
revenues in the important textile markets of Turkey (down 
67.4 %) and India (down 32.7 %). However, Saurer’s busi-
ness strategy of focusing on emerging markets secured 
fruitful results: revenues in Brazil (34.4 %), Vietnam (39.8 %) 
and Pakistan (66.8 %) grew substantially. Vietnam in par-
ticular has recorded three consecutive years of increases.

According to “The Audit Report on the Differences 
between the Actual Net Profit and Committed Net Profit of 
Saurer Intelligent Machinery” (PwC Special Audit No. 1651 
[2020]), Saurer’s net profit attributable to the owners of 
the parent company less non-recurring gains and losses 
was RMB 2.54 billion, which exceeds the committed net 
profit of RMB 2.35 billion by 7.8 %. Saurer has successfully 
achieved its target for the three-year period 2017-2019.

A highlight of 2019 was Saurer’s participation in the ITMA 
exhibition in June in Barcelona (Spain). The Company 
hosted over 3 500 visitors from more than 1 500 companies 
and launched a series of cutting-edge products, such as 
the Autoairo - Saurer’s new fully automated air-spinning 
machine, to mention just one. Saurer signed new con-
tracts for over EUR 200 million, which greatly boosted 
sales in the second half of 2019 and into 2020. The suc-
cessful showing in Barcelona has motivated the Com-
pany to continue its focus on optimising its organisation 
and processes, and on improving its customer experience 
as it prepares the next generation of innovative products. 
These are set for launch at the 2023 ITMA in Milan (Italy).

2019 was also a very special year for Saurer in terms of 
product anniversaries: the Autocoro fully automatic 
rotor-spinning machine celebrated its 40th year; the BD 
semi-automatic rotor-spinning machine turned 50; the 
automatic winding machine Autoconer had its 60th anni-
versary; the ring-spinning machine turned 70; and Saurer 
Embroidery celebrated its 150th anniversary.
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(1) Spinning Solutions Segment
During the reporting period, the Spinning Solutions Seg-
ment achieved revenues of RMB 7.3 billion, a decrease of 
1.6 % YoY.

Saurer has implemented a “KAM” (key account manage-
ment) concept in sales to focus on maintaining a close 
relationship to its customers. In 2019, Saurer successfully 
won new strategic customers and signed major con-
tracts with them, laying a solid foundation for long-term 
cooperation. Through effective use of resources, scientific 
integration and efficient inter-departmental coopera-
tion, Saurer delivered its first Autoairo fully automatic 
air-spinning machine to customers in Turkey before the 
end of 2019, only six months after the product launch at 
the 2019 ITMA. 

The Saurer factory in Xinjiang province, where construc-
tion started in 2016, is established as a world-leading 
production site for intelligent textile machinery. After 
delivery of the first machines from the new site in 2018, 
the factory entered full production in the second half of 
2019. This increased production capacity and reduced 
production costs, while further increasing gross margins. 
In the beginning of 2019, Saurer established a collabora-
tion with the local technical university. Through the Saurer 
Scholarship programme, Saurer Study Class and Saurer 
Apprenticeship project, young talents were attracted to 
the new smart factory.

(2) Saurer Technologies Segment
During the reporting period, the Technologies Segment 
achieved revenues of RMB 1.32 billion, representing a 
decrease of 29.3 % YoY. 

As a system provider covering the full value chain, Saurer 
took the next step into digitalisation with Senses, the 
digital mill management system. The Senses data plat-
form bundles and analyses production, quality and per-
formance data across textile factories, even across 
machines of different suppliers. Considering the increas-
ing complexity of textile operations, higher transparency 
is one key factor for operational success. Senses enables 
the customer to utilise raw materials and allocate time, 
personnel, energy and funds more efficiently, making it 
possible to manage factories through intelligence and 
digitalisation.

Looking ahead, the pressures of global financial uncer-
tainty, increasing costs and fiercer competition will per-
sist. The unexpected Covid-19 pandemic affected the Chi-
nese textile industry heavily; however, the mitigation of 
the pandemic and the release of supportive governmen-
tal policies should result in less operating pressure for the 
affected companies. Demand for automation and digital-
isation in textile processes in order to reduce labour input 
per 10 000 spindles remains unaffected. Saurer will con-
tinue its strategy with its focus on the customer first, lead-
ing with innovation and operational excellence – along 
with the confidence to seize newly arising opportunities 
and become the first choice provider for customers look-
ing for intelligent solutions within the textile industry.
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2 Results of main operations during  
the reporting period

During the reporting period, the Company achieved rev-
enue of RMB 8.58 billion, which represents a decrease of 
7 % YoY. Net profit attributable to the shareholders of the 
Listed Company reached RMB 610 million, representing a 
decrease of 24.9 % YoY. Net cash flow from operating 
activities was RMB –253 million. As of 31 December 2019, 
the total assets of the Company amounted to RMB 13.2 
billion, and net assets attributable to the shareholders of 
the Listed Company were RMB 4.94 billion.

(1) Analysis of main business
(a) Changes in income and cash flow

Item 2019 2018 Change YoY (%)

Revenue 8 575 309 9 220 759 –7.0

Operating expenses 6 024 662 6 571 207 –8.3

Cost of sales 498 664 568 699 –12.3

Administrative expenses 379 477 382 922 –0.9

R&D expenses 460 291 475 204 –3.1

Financial expenses 168 920 139 160 21.4

Net cash flow from 
operating activities –252 733 –1 042 763 N/A

Net cash flow from 
investing activities 1 386 317 2 304 714 –39.8

Net cash flow from 
financing activities –1 994 832 –484 060 N/A

Unit: thousand RMB

(b) Revenue and expenses
During the reporting period, the Company achieved 
revenue of RMB 8.58 billion, a decrease of 7 % YoY. 
The Technologies Segment was a significant contrib-
utor to this decrease. Operating expenses were RMB 
6.02 billion, a decrease of 8.3 % YoY, mainly due to 
the increased cost of operations resulting from busi-
ness expansion. Product structure optimisation and 
cost reduction measures increased the gross margin 
by 1 % YoY.

(i) Operating activities by industry, segment and region

Primary business by industry
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Textile  
machinery 8 575 309 6 024 662 29.7 –7.0 –8.3 +1.0 pts

Unit: thousand RMB

Primary business by segment
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Spinning 
Solutions 
Segment 7 302 970 5 101 985 30.1 –1.6 –1.3 +0.2 pts

Technologies 
Segment 1 327 066 922 430 30.5 –29.3 –34.2 +5.2 pts

Unit: thousand RMB
Note: the revenue and operating costs by segment include internal 
revenue and expenses.

Primary business by region

Revenue by region 2019 2018 Change YoY (%)

China 4 779 806  4 087 878 16.9

India 623 526 926 397 –32.7

Turkey 287 182 880 848 –67.4

Asia (excl. China/India) 1 766 661 1 840 587  –4.0

Americas 599 292 746 377 –19.7

Europe/Africa/others 
(excl. Turkey) 518 843 738 671 –29.8

8 575 309 9 220 759 –7.0

Unit: thousand RMB

Notes on operating activities by industry, 
segment and region
The rate of investment in the textile industry has 
slowed due to factors such as fiercer international 
competition and continuing trade frictions between 
the US and China. Faced with complex global eco-
nomic conditions, many downstream companies are 
scaling down investments and maintaining a wait-
and-see attitude. Equipment procurements were 
delayed. A global lack of confidence in the textile 
industry led to the slight year-on-year decline of reve-
nue in 2019.

Turkey experienced a temporary market weakness in 
2019, mainly due to the substantial fluctuations in the 
exchange rate of its domestic currency. This led to the 
suspension of a large number of spinning investment 
projects. The situation should improve in 2020. As the 
political and monetary situation in Turkey stabilises, 
the Company has received some orders from Turkish 
customers. The decline in revenue in the Indian market 
is mainly due to local political and economic uncer-
tainties, which have persisted since the second half of 
2018. The decline in revenue in the US is a consequence 
of the US-China trade frictions. 
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The ITMA exhibition was held in Barcelona (Spain) in 
June 2019, where Saurer launched a number of innova-
tive products with major technical breakthroughs. 
Saurer noticed that some downstream customers' 
investment plans in 2019 were delayed due to the 
expected launch of new products. Despite the gener-
ally difficult environment in the textile industry, the 
trend of transferring production to Western China, Cen-
tral Asia, Southeast Asia and other regions is becoming 
clearer in the downstream industry. As the world's lead-
ing solutions and service provider for intelligent spin-
ning and yarn processing equipment, Saurer has strong 
competitive advantages in these emerging markets. 

(ii)  Production and sales analysis
Production and sales of ring-spinning machines 
increased due to the implementation and develop-
ment of the Key Account Management approach in 
2019. At the same time, production and sales of 
rotor-spinning, twisting and embroidery machines 
dropped due to the impact from macroeconomic and 
industry conditions.

(iii) Cost analysis
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Textile 
machinery

Raw  
material costs 4 540 892 75.4 4 979 415 75.8 –8.8

Other 1 483 770 24.6 1 591 792 24.2 –6.8

6 024 662  100.0 6 571 207  100.0 –8.3

Unit: thousand RMB
Note: lower sales volume in the reporting period led to reduced raw 
material costs.

(iv) Major customers and suppliers
Sales to the top five customers amounted to RMB 3.56 
billion, accounting for 41.5 % of total annual sales, 
including sales to related parties amounting to RMB 
1.98 billion, which represent 23.1 % of total annual sales.

Purchases from the top five suppliers amounted to 
RMB 502.78 million, accounting for 8 % of total annual 
purchases. As in the previous year, there were no pur-
chases from related parties.

(c) Expenses

Item 2019 2018 Change YoY (%)

Cost of sales 498 664 568 699 –12.3

Administration expense 379 477 382 922 –0.9

R&D expenses 460 291 475 204 –3.1

Financial expenses 168 920 139 160 21.4

Tax and surcharges 29 471 19 911 48.0

Unit: thousand RMB

The increase in tax and surcharges is mainly due to 
the expanding business of Chinese subsidiaries.

(d) Expenditures on R&D

Expenditures on R&D 460 291

Capitalisation of R&D expenditures 114 312

Total R&D expenditures 574 603

Total R&D expenditures as % of revenue 6.7

Number of R&D employees 501

R&D employees as % of total employees 10.1

Capitalisation of R&D expenditures (%) 23.1

Unit: thousand RMB

Saurer places great importance on investment in 
product R&D as well as the enhancement of compre-
hensive R&D capacity. Years of investment in the 
research and development of intelligent textile equip-
ment were demonstrated with the launch of the 
Autoairo air-spinning machine at the ITMA in Barce-
lona, which opened up a new market for Saurer. In the 
future, Saurer will continue to invest in R&D to further 
enhance its core competencies.
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(e) Cash flow

Item 2019 2018 Change YoY (%)

Net cash flow from  
operating activities –252 733 –1 042 763 N/A

Net cash flow from  
investing activities 1 386 317 2 304 714 –39.8 %

Net cash flow from  
financing activities –1 994 832 –484 060 N/A

Unit: thousand RMB

Cash flow generated from operating activities in the 
reporting period improved by RMB 790 million over 
the previous year, primarily for the following reasons:

 ʸ operating payables in 2019 decreased by  
RMB 30 million (2018: decrease by RMB 780 
million), an increase of RMB 750 million YoY.

 ʸ inventory in 2019 increased by RMB 50 million 
(2018: increased by RMB 230 million),  
an increase of RMB 280 million YoY.

 ʸ net profit in 2019 was RMB 790 million (2018:  
RMB 860 million), a decrease of RMB 70 million YoY.

Cash flow generated from investing activities in the 
reporting period decreased by RMB 920 million over the 
previous year, primarily for the following reasons:

 ʸ cash flow was affected by the net cash  
change from the acquisition and redemption of 
financial products. Net cash inflow from other 
investment-related activities in 2019 was  
RMB 1.1 billion (2018: net cash inflow of  
RMB 3.4 billion), a decrease of RMB 2.3 billion YoY.

 ʸ net cash inflows from repayments of suppliers’ 
loans to third parties in 2019 amounted to  
RMB 200 million (2018: net cash outflow of RMB 80 
million), an increase of RMB 280 million YoY.

 ʸ net cash inflow resulting from cash received from 
and cash paid for restricted cash and deposits in 
2019 was RMB 440 million (2018: net cash outflow of 
RMB 470 million), an increase of RMB 910 million YoY.

 ʸ cash outflow from acquisition of fixed assets and 
intangible assets as well as other long-term assets 
in 2019 was RMB 400 million (2018: RMB 680 million), 
a change of RMB 280 million YoY.

Cash flow from financing activities in the reporting 
period decreased by RMB 1.51 billion over the previous 
year, primarily for the following reasons:

 ʸ in 2018 cash inflow generated from investment in 
minority shares by subsidiaries was RMB 3 billion, 
the cash flow decreased by RMB 4.2 billion from 
the equity payment for minority shareholders.  
No such matter occurred in 2019, thus the  
cash flow from financing activities changed by 
RMB 1.2 billion.

 ʸ net cash outflow due to repayment of and 
receipts from bank borrowings in 2019 was  
RMB 1.39 billion (2018: net cash inflow of  
RMB 1.06 billion), a change of RMB 2.45 billion YoY.

 ʸ cash outflow from payment of other 
financing-related activities was RMB 200 million 
(2018: RMB 60 million), a change of RMB 140 
million YoY.
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(2) Gains and losses from non-operating business

Item 2019 2018
Change  
YoY (%) Note

Tax and surcharges 29 471 19 911 48.0 Mainly due to the YoY sales increase in China subsidiary.

Asset impairment loss 19 966 53 193 -62.5

Mainly due to inventory impairment loss caused by the reclassification of bad debts 
provision of accounts receivables into the “credit impairment loss", as well as the 
decrease in inventory impairment loss.

Credit impairment loss 21 168 – 100.0 Mainly due to the reclassification of impairment loss.

Other gains 13 435 1 017 1 221.0 Mainly due to government subsidies related to the operation in subsidiaries in China and India.

Investment gains 11 578 88 249 –86.9 Mainly due to lower interest rates on financial products.

Gains on changes  
in fair value – 390 –100.0

Mainly due to changes in the fair value of financial assets  
(e.g. currency forward contract) in the current period.

Non-operating income 28 826 46 560 –38.1 Mainly due to fewer government subsidies.

Non-operating expenses 115 756 895 12 833.6
Mainly due to restructuring expenses related to employee resettlement and rent 
compensation from the close of factory.

Income tax expense 120 748 288 882 –58.2 Mainly due to the profit increase of subsidiaries in low-tax areas.

Minority interest income 181 229 46 756 287.6 Mainly due to fewer shares held by minority shareholders and the controlling company.

Unit: thousand RMB

(3) Assets and liabilities
(a) Assets and liabilities

Item

31  
December 

2019

As %  
of total  
assets

31  
December  

2018

As %  
of total  
assets

Change  
YoY (%) Note

Cash and cash 
equivalents 2 402 917 18.2 3 720 401 25.8 –35.4 Mainly due to fund change from long-term debt repayment.

Trading  
financial assets 6 310  0 – 0 100.0

Mainly due to financial instrument standard change which 
reclassifies financial asset into derivative financial asset.  
After the reclassification, the derivative financial asset change 
is mainly from currency balance increase in Germany.

Profit and loss of the 
financial assets that is 
measured at fair value – 0 4 966 0 –100.0

Mainly due to the effects of financial instrument guideline 
change to reclassify into trading financial asset.

Other accounts receivables 29 621 0.2 255 962 1.8 –88.4 Mainly due to third-party debt repayment.

Other current assets 207 711 1.6 1 301 055 9.0 –84.0
Mainly due to the redemption of financial products and the 
increase of income tax advance payment.

Long-term receivables 463 231 3.5 42 951 0.3 978.5 Mainly due to increased credit terms given to selected customers.

Fixed assets 1 308 481 9.9 903 000 6.3 44.9 Mainly due to Xinjiang plant’s conversion into fixed asset.

R&D expenditures 181 951 1.4 90 417 0.6 101.2
Mainly due to continued investment in R&D in Germany and 
Switzerland.

Deferred income  
tax assets 110 530 0.8 50 457 0.4 119.1

Mainly due to the deferred income tax balance increase from 
the deductible losses recognised by some subsidiaries.

Other non-current assets 228 784 1.7 427 584 3.0 –46.5 Mainly due to advances’ conversion into fixed asset.

Short-term borrowing 2 241 300 17.0 1 499 334 10.4 49.5 Mainly due to the increase of short-term liquidity loan.

Profit and loss of the 
financial liability that is 
measured at fair value – 0 5 416 0 –100.0

Mainly due to financial instrument standard change which 
reclassifies financial asset into derivative financial asset.  
After the reclassification, the derivative financial asset change 
mainly results from currency balance increase in Germany.

Advances from 
customers 260 616 2.0 586 799 4.1 –55.6

Mainly due to the fact that machines with advances from 
customers were delivered in 2019.

Long-term borrowings 450 000 3.4 2 552 138 17.7 –82.4 Mainly due to the early repayment of CDBC long-term borrowing.

Provisions 16 040 0.1 10 338 0.1 55.2 Mainly due to the increase of provisions for quality guarantees.

Deferred revenue  4 760 0 29 586 0.2 –83.9 Mainly due to the transfer into Xinjiang plant.

Deferred income  
tax liabilities 125 804 1.0 183 558 1.3 –31.5

Mainly due to the deferred income tax liability decrease, caused 
by the decrease of temporary differences in the taxable income.

Other  
comprehensive income 3 831 0 –48 440 –0.3 N/A Mainly due to fluctuations of foreign exchange rates.

Unit: thousand RMB
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(b) Restriction on assets at the end of the  
reporting period 

Item
Carrying value 

at year-end Reason for restriction

Cash and cash 
equivalents 429 346

For letters of guarantee  
and letters of credit issued

Notes receivables 2 224 For letters of guarantee

Other  
non-current assets 15 000

For long-term borrowing 
guarantee

Unit: thousand RMB

(4) Investments
(a) External equity investments

Please refer to “Major equity investments” and “Major 
non-equity investments”.

(i)   Major equity investments
There were no major equity investments in 2019.

(ii) Major non-equity investments
In 2019, the Company’s fixed asset balance increased 
by RMB 410 million. The completion of construction 
and start of operations at the Xinjiang smart factory 
led to the item “construction in progress” being trans-
ferred into fixed assets with a value of RMB 280 million.

(iii) Financial assets at fair value

Item
Initial 

balance
Ending  

balance

Change  
during the 
reporting  

period

Impact on  
current 

profit

Financial assets at fair 
value with changes 
factored into current 
gains/losses 1 104 966  6 310  –1 098 656  253 

During the reporting period, the Company's subsidi-
ary Saurer Intelligent Machinery Co. Ltd completed 
the capital increase. The industrial and commercial 
registration status was updated. The above-men-
tioned matters have been examined and approved by 
the Board of Directors and the third EGM of sharehold-
ers in 2018 (see ad hoc announcements 2018-052, 
2018-056 and 2019-005).

(iv) Major controlling subsidiaries and shareholding 
 companies

 ʸ Saurer Germany 
As of the end of 2019, Saurer Intelligent Machinery 
owned 80.65 % of its equities. Its registered 
capital is EUR 40 million. It is mainly engaged  
in the manufacture, sale and servicing of textile 
machinery and components. As of the end of 
2019, its total assets were EUR 565.1 million, and 
its net assets were EUR 171.9 million. Revenue was 
EUR 547.2 million. Operating profit was EUR 18.7 
million. Net profit was EUR 8.4 million. 

 ʸ Saurer Technologies  
As of the end of 2019, Saurer Intelligent Machinery 
owned 80.65 % of its equities. Its registered 
capital is EUR 10 million. It is mainly engaged in 
the manufacture, sale and servicing of textile 
machinery and components. As of the end of 
2019, its total assets were EUR 99.7 million, and its 
net assets were EUR 41.1 million. Revenue was  
EUR 128.6 million. Operating profit was EUR 4.07 
million. Net profit was EUR 4.5 million. 

 ʸ Saurer Switzerland 
As of the end of 2019, Saurer Intelligent Machinery 
owned 80.65 % of its equities. Its registered 
capital is CHF 1 million. It is mainly engaged in the 
manufacture, sale and servicing of textile 
machinery. As of the end of 2019, its total assets 
were CHF 218 million, and its net assets were  
CHF 92.8 million. Revenue was CHF 14.1 million. 
Operating loss was CHF 20.3 million. Net loss was  
CHF 19.8 million. 

 ʸ Saurer Switzerland Technology  
As of the end of 2019, Saurer Intelligent Machinery 
owned 80.65 % of its equities. Its registered 
capital is CHF 1 million. It is mainly engaged in the 
management, manufacture of textile machine, 
R&D, sale and servicing of textile machinery. As of 
the end of 2019, its total assets were CHF 219.7 
million, and its net assets were CHF 104.4 million. 
Revenue was CHF 52.6 million. Operating profit 
was CHF 30.8 million. 

 ʸ Saurer Jiangsu 
As of the end of 2019, Saurer Intelligent Machinery 
owned 80.65 % of its equities. Its registered 
capital is USD 50 million. It is mainly engaged in 
the manufacture, sale and servicing of textile 
machinery. As of the end of 2019, its total assets 
were RMB 4.15 billion, and its net assets were  
RMB 1.60 billion. Revenue was RMB 2.66 billion. 
Operating profit was RMB 459.8 million. Net profit 
was RMB 404.3 million.
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 ʸ Saurer Changzhou 
As of the end of 2019, Saurer Intelligent Machinery 
owned 80.65 % of its equities. Its registered 
capital is RMB 270 million. It is mainly engaged in 
the manufacture, sale and servicing of textile 
machinery. As of the end of 2019, its total assets 
were RMB 3.12 billion, and its net assets were  
RMB 646.5 million. Revenue was RMB 1.59 billion. 
Operating profit was RMB 339.8 million. Net profit 
was RMB 314.2 million.

3 The Company’s future development

(1) Competitive landscape and outlook
With the Covid-19 pandemic in late 2019 and early 2020, 
the entire textile machinery industry is facing multiple dif-
ficulties including interruptions in logistics and the supply 
chain as well as declining demand. There is an increased 
risk of order default and low cash flow. As the pandemic 
continues worldwide, the global textile machinery indus-
try outlook is poor for 2020. 

(2) Strategy
(a) Adapt and integrate industrial production

To enhance operational efficiency, the Company’s 
main business activities in Europe will focus on product 
R&D and the manufacture of key components, as well 
as assembly of certain high-end products. In procure-
ment, the Company will exploit the strength of the local 
Chinese market and proceed with plans to integrate 
the supply chain as a basis for ensuring product quality. 

(b) Continue to expand the business
The Company plans to strengthen its R&D efforts, 
using its pioneer spirit to develop innovative and cut-
ting-edge technologies, and its worldwide customer 
base to expand its business into other uncovered sec-
tors in the textile industry. The new Autoairo is one 
example of opening new markets for the Company. 
The area of glass filament yarns is an opportunity to 
grow beyond textile. Global demand for LCD screens, 
smartphones and electric vehicles is on the rise, con-
tributing to the stable position of the glass filament 
industry globally. 

(c)  Innovation based on the E³ + I concept
Saurer enjoys the highest level of R&D and technical 
innovation in the area of smart textile solutions, with 
500 R&D experts around the world and over 1 500 reg-
istered patents. The Company aims not only to enhance 
ergonomic applications and to make operations more 
efficient, but also to reduce the energy consumption 
of its solutions and to provide the best working envi-
ronment for operators. The Company will strengthen 
its focus on finding solutions that reduce waste and 
consumption of resources and increase machine intel-
ligence to improve quality and productivity. The Com-
pany aims to become more dynamic through cooper-
ation with Industry 4.0 experts and specialists in other 
relevant areas or through active M&A, enhancing its 
development capabilities and bringing its operations 
and offerings in line with trends in automation, digital-
isation and “smart” development.
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(d)  Improve sales of components and increase 
 service revenue

Saurer’s sales of components and services is focused 
mainly on customers who already use its machinery 
and equipment, but some components have broader 
appeal. The steady growth in sales of the Company’s 
traditional products has boosted its inventory of 
intelligent equipment. Since sales of components and 
services, with their relatively high margins, are reces-
sion-proof and enhance customer loyalty, increasing 
market share in this sector is an important part of the 
Company’s future development strategy. 

(3) Operating plan
(a) Customer focus (market-in approach)

The Company will continue to increase its focus on 
customers and provide them with both functional and 
profitable products and responsive services. The 
Company will offer more (online) training and related 
courses to customers and their employees. While 
helping customers to understand and utilise its prod-
ucts better, the Company aims to enrich its under-
standing of customers’ production processes and 
support customers in improving their operations.

(b) Innovative product development
The Company will continue to invest in R&D, closely 
follow customer needs and improve product perfor-
mance accordingly, promote innovation and R&D 
from an outside-in perspective and launch new prod-
ucts. The Company also plans to consolidate its posi-
tion as a leading global supplier of high-end technol-
ogy solutions.

(c)  Stable growth of market share
The Company will actively expand and develop new 
markets through an accurate grasp of changes in mar-
ket development, effectively and efficiently adjusting 
sales strategies while stabilising existing markets. 
Saurer’s Xinjiang smart factory started full production 
in the second half of 2019, lowering costs and support-
ing the Company in further expanding into emerging 
markets along the “One Belt, One Road” route.

(d) Systematic and effective cost control
The Company is continuing to implement its industrial 
redistribution and integration plan, increase the pro-
portion of procurement from low-cost countries and 
pursue the gradual shift of production lines from high-
er-cost areas and regions to lower-cost areas. This 
will systematically and effectively reduce the cost of 
production.

(e)  Corporate social responsibility
The Company will actively practice its corporate 
social responsibility in several ways. It will continue to 
promote the concept of E³ + I value for its products, 
improving product performance indicators in terms of 
energy savings, economic benefits, ergonomics and 
intelligence. With respect to social issues, the Com-
pany will actively take up and implement the Chinese 
government’s strategic policy on poverty alleviation. 
The Company also offers numerous employee bene-
fits such as vocational training or further education to 
enhance personal skills, and actively cares for employ-
ees' health and safety.
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(4) Potential risks
(a) Economic risks

Fluctuation in demand resulting from slow economic 
growth may occur from time to time. Textile products 
are consumer goods, and personal income level and 
future expectations of income may influence the pur-
chase of textile products such as garments and home 
textile products. Slow economic growth decreases the 
purchasing power of consumers and adversely affects 
industrial growth.

(b) Risks to competitive advantage
The pace of product updates and technology 
upgrades in the textile industry is accelerating con-
stantly. If Saurer cannot maintain its capability to 
innovate, improve its level of technology, protect IP 
(intellectual property) rights, acquire excellent talent, 
expand its share of high-quality customers, increase 
the scale of its business and improve its risk resilience, 
accurately grasp industrial trends and adjust its cor-
porate strategies in a timely manner by making the 
most of its own advantages, the Company will not be 
able to maintain its competitive edge, which would 
adversely affect its business.

(c)  International business risks
Saurer’s production sites and sales organisations are 
distributed across 12 countries around the world. 
Owing to the nature of global operations, the interna-
tional business risks faced by Saurer during its daily 
operations include those relating to management, 
investment decisions, politics, terrorism and other 
risks, as well as those that might result from regional 
cultural differences.

(d) Production safety risks
Saurer’s main products include intelligent textile equip-
ment and key components. The production processes 
involve complex procedures that are dangerous to 
some extent. Although Saurer has formulated a rela-
tively comprehensive set of guidelines and protocols, 
including rules and operational directives on manufac-
turing safety, to promote industrial safety, it is impossi-
ble to preclude personal injury or even death due to 
operational error or accidents in the course of produc-
tion activities. Such events can result in suspension of 
business and also in the Company being subject to 
penalties that affect daily operations and safety.

(e)  Foreign exchange fluctuation risks
Saurer’s production and sales are distributed across 
different countries and regions of the world and 
involve the settlement of different currencies, includ-
ing USD, EUR and RMB. Because foreign exchange 
rate fluctuations are unpredictable, they may repre-
sent risks for Saurer’s future operations, which in turn 
could affect business and profitability, as well as draw 
the attention and concern of investors to such risks.
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5. Significant  
events

1 Proposed plan for distribution  
of profit to common shareholders  
or capital reserve

(1) Formulation, implementation or adjustment  
of cash dividend policies
(a) Formulation or adjustment of cash dividend policies

During the reporting period, the Company did not for-
mulate any new cash dividend policies, nor were the 
cash dividend policies adjusted as stipulated in the 
Articles of Association. Please refer to the Articles of 
Association for the specific content of the cash divi-
dend policies.

(b) Implementation of cash dividend policies
During 2019, the Company implemented the interim 
dividend distribution plan for 2018 in accordance with 
a resolution passed at the Annual General Meeting 
(AGM) in 2018. Based on the total number of shares at 
1 895 412 995, cash dividends amounting to RMB 1.293 
(before tax) were distributed to all shareholders for 
every 10 shares from undistributed profits. A total of 
RMB 245 076 900 (before tax) was distributed. There 
were no other forms of profit distribution, and no cap-
ital reserve converted into share capital.

The Company's profit distribution plan for 2018 was in 
compliance with the Articles of Association and the 
relevant laws and regulations such as the Guideline 3 
for Supervision of Listed Companies – Cash Dividends 
of Listed Companies issued by the China Securities 
Regulatory Commission and the Guidelines for Cash 
Dividends of Listed Companies on the Shanghai Stock 
Exchange. After review and approval by the Board of 
Directors, the Independent Directors expressed their 
opinions and gave their approval. After review and 
implementation by the AGM, the relevant decision- 
making and implementation procedures were legal 
and effective.

(c)  Profit distribution plan for 2019
Considering the downward economic pressure result-
ing from the Covid-19 outbreak, Saurer’s long-term 
plan and short-term business operations, as well as 
the major investment plans or major cash expendi-
tures in the next 12 months, Saurer is not planning to 
distribute profit or increase equity. This decision is 
intended to enhance the Company's financial stabil-
ity and anti-risk capacity, and to ensure the Compa-
ny's capital needs for future production and opera-
tion, thus safeguarding the long-term interests of all 
shareholders.

According to Article 8 of the Regulations on The Repur-
chase of Shares of Listed Companies on the Shanghai 
Stock Exchange, “if a listed company repurchases 
shares through auction call, the repurchased shares 
can be equal to cash dividends and are included in the 
calculation of cash dividends in proportion". The 
cumulative repurchase amount of Saurer in 2019 was 
RMB 108.93 million, accounting for 17.9 % of the distribu-
table profit realised in 2019. 

In 2017-2019, the Company's cumulative profit distribu-
tion in cash for three consecutive years is RMB 557.38 
million, representing 80.4 % of annual distributable 
profit for three consecutive years.
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(2) Plan or proposed plan for distribution of profit  
to common shareholders or capital reserve over  
the last three years (including the reporting period)

Dividend 
year 

Stock 
dividend per 

10 shares 

Cash dividend  
per 10 shares  

(yuan, before tax)

Capital reserve 
transferred into 

share capital  
per 10 shares 

Amount  
of cash 

dividend 
(before tax) 

Net profit attributable to 
shareholders of the Listed 

Company in the consolidated 
financial statements for the  
year of dividend distribution

Percentage of net profit 
attributable to the  

shareholders of the Listed 
Company in the consolidated 

financial statements (%) 

2019 0 0 0 0 608 934 0

2018 0 1.293 0 245 077 810 294 30.24

2017 0 2.829 0 203 376 658 327 30.89

Unit: thousand RMB

(3) Share repurchase calculated into cash dividend

Cash dividend Percentage (%)

2019 108 931 17.9

Unit: thousand RMB

(4) Explanation for not distributing cash dividend  
to common shareholders during the reporting period

When the Company achieves a profit and the parental 
company’s profit for common shareholding distribution is 
positive, but the Company does not distribute a cash div-
idend to common shareholders, it is obligated to disclose 
a detailed reason and the plan for undistributed profit. 

Considering the downward economic pressure resulting 
from the Covid-19 outbreak, Saurer’s long-term plan and 
short-term business operations, as well as the major 
investment plans or major cash expenditures in the next 
12 months, Saurer is not planning to distribute profit or 
increase equity. This decision is intended to enhance the 
Company's financial stability and anti-risk capacity, and 
to ensure the Company's capital needs for future produc-
tion and operation, thus safeguarding the long-term 
interests of all shareholders.

The retained undistributed profits will be used to sup-
plement the working capital required for daily produc-
tion and operation, and to ensure Saurer’s normal oper-
ation and stable development. In the future, Saurer will 
place great importance on investor returns through 
cash dividends while considering various factors related 
to profit distribution, proactively implementing the 
profit distribution plan and sharing development results 
with all investors.
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2 Fulfilment of commitments

(1) Commitments of the actual controller, shareholders, affiliates,  
purchaser and related parties of the Company in the reporting period or renewal period

Commit-
ment 
background

Commitment 
type Committer Commitments Commitment date and period Fulfilment period

Was the commitment  
fulfilled in a timely manner?

If not fulfilled in a timely  
manner, state the specific 
reasons for non-fulfilment

If not fulfilled in a timely 
manner, state the  
next applicable plan
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Restricted  
sale of shares

State-owned 
company

1. Within 36 months after the completion of restructuring, the remaining shares of the Listed Company shall 
not be transferred. 2. For the remaining shares of the Listed Company, the shares derived from the Listed 
Company’s distribution of the stock dividends, capital reserve and the increase of share capital shall also comply 
with the above commitments. 3. If the applicable laws and regulations provide otherwise for the restricted 
sale period for the remaining shares of the Listed Company held by the state-owned company, or the CSRC 
has other requirements, the state-owned company shall comply with such regulations or requirements. If the 
state-owned company is in breach of the said commitments, it shall bear the corresponding legal liabilities, 
and indemnify the Listed Company or investors for any and all losses caused thereby as according to the law.

Within 36 months after 
completion of restructuring Yes Yes

Restricted  
sale of shares Jinsheng Group

The newly issued shares of the Listed Company subscribed by Saurer Intelligent Machinery shall not be 
transferred within 36 months after completion of issuance.

Within 36 months after 
completion of issuance Yes Yes

Restricted  
sale of shares Jinsheng Group

1. The shares of the Listed Company assigned by Jinsheng Group from the state-owned company shall not 
be transferred within 36 months after completion of the restructuring. 2. Within 6 months after completion 
of the restructuring, if the closing price of the shares of the Listed Company is lower than the issuing price 
for 20 consecutive business days, or if at the end of 6 months after completion of the restructuring the 
closing price is lower than the issuing price, the lock-up period of the shares of the Listed Company 
obtained due to the said restructuring (including the shares obtained resulting from assignment and 
issuance, similarly hereinafter) shall be automatically extended for 6 months. 3. Upon expiration of the said 
lock-up period, if the results commitment period as specified in the Results Commitment and Compensation 
Agreement signed by Jinsheng Group for the purpose of restructuring has not expired, or the obligations for 
shared compensation under the Results Commitment and Compensation Agreement have not been 
completed, the said lock-up period shall be extended to the date of expiration of the results commitment 
period and the date of completion of the share compensation obligations (if it is not necessary to provide 
compensation, then it shall be the date of release of the announcement on the special auditing report on 
the committed results). 4. Shares of the Listed Company acquired by restructuring, shares derived from 
distribution of dividends and capital reserve converted to equities etc. shall also comply with the above 
commitments. 5. If the applicable laws and regulations otherwise specify the restriction period for the 
shares of the Listed Company obtained by Jinsheng Group, or the CSRC has other requirements, Jinsheng 
Group shall comply with such regulations or requirements. If Jinsheng Group is in breach of the said 
commitments, it shall bear the corresponding legal liabilities, and indemnify the Listed Company or 
investors for any and all losses caused thereby according to law.

Within 36 months after 
completion of restructuring Yes Yes

Restricted  
sale of shares

CDBC, Zhao 
Hongxiu, Jinbuer, 
Jiangsu Huatai, 
Hehe Investment, 
Shenzhen Longding, 
Advanced 
Manufacturing 
Industry 
Investment Fund, 
Huashan Investment, 
Shanghai Yongjun, 
Ningbo Yukang, 
Tibet Jiaze, 
Hezhong Investment, 
Shanghai Jinye, 
Shanghai 
Hongcheng, 
Beijing Zhongtai, 
Nanjing Daofeng

1. If, upon completion of issuance, the Committer holds the equities of Saurer Intelligent Machinery for  
less than 12 months (subject to those as at the date upon completion of the industrial and commercial 
registration), the Committer shall not transfer the shares as issued by the Listed Company and subscribed 
by the Committer in such shares within 36 months after completion of issuance. If, upon completion of 
issuance, the Committer holds the shares of Saurer Intelligent Machinery for 12 months or more (according 
to the date of completion of the industrial and commercial registration), the Committer shall not transfer 
the shares as issued by the Listed Company and subscribed by the Committer in such shares within  
24 months after completion of issuance. 2. Within 6 months after completion of the restructuring, if the 
closing price of the shares of the Listed Company is lower than the issuing price for 20 consecutive 
business days, or if at the end of 6 months after completion of the restructuring the closing price is lower 
than the issuing price, the lock-up period of the shares of the Listed Company obtained by the Committer 
due to issuance shall be automatically extended for 6 months. 3. For the shares of the Listed Company 
obtained by the Committer from issuance, shares derived from distribution by the Listed Company of 
dividends and capital reserve converted to equities etc. shall also comply with the above commitments.
4. If the applicable laws and regulations provide otherwise for the restriction period for the shares of the 
Listed Company obtained by the Committer due to issuance, or the CSRC has other requirements, the 
Committer shall comply with such regulations or requirements. 5. If the Committer is in breach of the  
said commitments, it shall bear the corresponding legal liabilities, and indemnify the Listed Company or 
investors for any and all losses caused thereby according to law.

Within 24 or 36 months after 
completion of issuance Yes Yes
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2 Fulfilment of commitments

(1) Commitments of the actual controller, shareholders, affiliates,  
purchaser and related parties of the Company in the reporting period or renewal period

Commit-
ment 
background

Commitment 
type Committer Commitments Commitment date and period Fulfilment period

Was the commitment  
fulfilled in a timely manner?

If not fulfilled in a timely  
manner, state the specific 
reasons for non-fulfilment

If not fulfilled in a timely 
manner, state the  
next applicable plan
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Restricted  
sale of shares

State-owned 
company

1. Within 36 months after the completion of restructuring, the remaining shares of the Listed Company shall 
not be transferred. 2. For the remaining shares of the Listed Company, the shares derived from the Listed 
Company’s distribution of the stock dividends, capital reserve and the increase of share capital shall also comply 
with the above commitments. 3. If the applicable laws and regulations provide otherwise for the restricted 
sale period for the remaining shares of the Listed Company held by the state-owned company, or the CSRC 
has other requirements, the state-owned company shall comply with such regulations or requirements. If the 
state-owned company is in breach of the said commitments, it shall bear the corresponding legal liabilities, 
and indemnify the Listed Company or investors for any and all losses caused thereby as according to the law.

Within 36 months after 
completion of restructuring Yes Yes

Restricted  
sale of shares Jinsheng Group

The newly issued shares of the Listed Company subscribed by Saurer Intelligent Machinery shall not be 
transferred within 36 months after completion of issuance.

Within 36 months after 
completion of issuance Yes Yes

Restricted  
sale of shares Jinsheng Group

1. The shares of the Listed Company assigned by Jinsheng Group from the state-owned company shall not 
be transferred within 36 months after completion of the restructuring. 2. Within 6 months after completion 
of the restructuring, if the closing price of the shares of the Listed Company is lower than the issuing price 
for 20 consecutive business days, or if at the end of 6 months after completion of the restructuring the 
closing price is lower than the issuing price, the lock-up period of the shares of the Listed Company 
obtained due to the said restructuring (including the shares obtained resulting from assignment and 
issuance, similarly hereinafter) shall be automatically extended for 6 months. 3. Upon expiration of the said 
lock-up period, if the results commitment period as specified in the Results Commitment and Compensation 
Agreement signed by Jinsheng Group for the purpose of restructuring has not expired, or the obligations for 
shared compensation under the Results Commitment and Compensation Agreement have not been 
completed, the said lock-up period shall be extended to the date of expiration of the results commitment 
period and the date of completion of the share compensation obligations (if it is not necessary to provide 
compensation, then it shall be the date of release of the announcement on the special auditing report on 
the committed results). 4. Shares of the Listed Company acquired by restructuring, shares derived from 
distribution of dividends and capital reserve converted to equities etc. shall also comply with the above 
commitments. 5. If the applicable laws and regulations otherwise specify the restriction period for the 
shares of the Listed Company obtained by Jinsheng Group, or the CSRC has other requirements, Jinsheng 
Group shall comply with such regulations or requirements. If Jinsheng Group is in breach of the said 
commitments, it shall bear the corresponding legal liabilities, and indemnify the Listed Company or 
investors for any and all losses caused thereby according to law.

Within 36 months after 
completion of restructuring Yes Yes

Restricted  
sale of shares

CDBC, Zhao 
Hongxiu, Jinbuer, 
Jiangsu Huatai, 
Hehe Investment, 
Shenzhen Longding, 
Advanced 
Manufacturing 
Industry 
Investment Fund, 
Huashan Investment, 
Shanghai Yongjun, 
Ningbo Yukang, 
Tibet Jiaze, 
Hezhong Investment, 
Shanghai Jinye, 
Shanghai 
Hongcheng, 
Beijing Zhongtai, 
Nanjing Daofeng

1. If, upon completion of issuance, the Committer holds the equities of Saurer Intelligent Machinery for  
less than 12 months (subject to those as at the date upon completion of the industrial and commercial 
registration), the Committer shall not transfer the shares as issued by the Listed Company and subscribed 
by the Committer in such shares within 36 months after completion of issuance. If, upon completion of 
issuance, the Committer holds the shares of Saurer Intelligent Machinery for 12 months or more (according 
to the date of completion of the industrial and commercial registration), the Committer shall not transfer 
the shares as issued by the Listed Company and subscribed by the Committer in such shares within  
24 months after completion of issuance. 2. Within 6 months after completion of the restructuring, if the 
closing price of the shares of the Listed Company is lower than the issuing price for 20 consecutive 
business days, or if at the end of 6 months after completion of the restructuring the closing price is lower 
than the issuing price, the lock-up period of the shares of the Listed Company obtained by the Committer 
due to issuance shall be automatically extended for 6 months. 3. For the shares of the Listed Company 
obtained by the Committer from issuance, shares derived from distribution by the Listed Company of 
dividends and capital reserve converted to equities etc. shall also comply with the above commitments.
4. If the applicable laws and regulations provide otherwise for the restriction period for the shares of the 
Listed Company obtained by the Committer due to issuance, or the CSRC has other requirements, the 
Committer shall comply with such regulations or requirements. 5. If the Committer is in breach of the  
said commitments, it shall bear the corresponding legal liabilities, and indemnify the Listed Company or 
investors for any and all losses caused thereby according to law.

Within 24 or 36 months after 
completion of issuance Yes Yes
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Commit-
ment 
background

Commitment 
type Committer Commitments Commitment date and period Fulfilment period

Was the commitment  
fulfilled in a timely manner?

If not fulfilled in a timely  
manner, state the specific 
reasons for non-fulfilment

If not fulfilled in a timely 
manner, state the  
next applicable plan
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Other
Jinsheng Group, 
Pan Xueping

After completion of the transaction, Jinsheng Group, as the controlling shareholder of the Listed Company, 
and Pan Xueping, as the actual controller, are committed to ensuring the following: I. Guarantee that the 
staff of the Listed Company are independent. 1. The Senior Officers of the Listed Company (CEO, COO, CFO, 
Board Secretary, etc.) shall work in the Listed Company, and receive remuneration from the Listed 
Company, and shall not act in any position other than Director or Supervisor in any enterprises other than 
the Listed Company and its subsidiaries as controlled by the Committer (“Committer’s Controlled Other 
Enterprises”). 2. The financial staff of the Listed Company shall not hold a concurrent office in or receive 
salaries from the Committer/Committer’s Controlled Other Enterprises. 3. The personnel relationship and 
labour relationship of the Listed Company shall be independent of the Committer/Committer’s Controlled 
Other Enterprises. 4. The Directors, Supervisors and Senior Officers of the Listed Company are elected, 
replaced, dismissed, employed or removed according to the applicable laws and regulations and the 
Company’s Articles of Association. The Committer will not interfere in personnel appointments or dismissal 
of the above persons by exceeding the powers of the Board of Directors and the AGM of the Listed 
Company. II. Guarantee that the assets of the Listed Company are independent. 1. The Listed Company 
has independent and complete assets, and such assets are completely under the control of the Listed 
Company, and are independently owned and operated by the Listed Company. 2. The Committer/
Committer’s Controlled Other Enterprises will not illegally occupy the funds and assets of the Listed 
Company in any form. 3. No guarantees shall be provided to the Committer or the Committer’s Controlled 
Other Enterprises for their violation by using the assets of the Listed Company. III. Guarantee that the 
organisations of the Listed Company are independent. 1. The Listed Company establishes and improves 
corporate governance structures in accordance with the law, and establishes an independent and 
complete organisational structure that is completely separate from the organisations of the Committer/
Committer’s Controlled Other Enterprises 2. The Listed Company and the Committer/Committer’s 
Controlled Other Enterprises are separate in terms of office organisation and production and place of 
operation, and do not mix in any circumstances. IV. Guarantee that the business of the Listed Company is 
independent. 1. The Listed Company has the assets, staff and qualifications to independently conduct its 
own business activities, and has the ability to operate independently in the market. 2. Except when 
relevant rights are exercised in accordance with applicable laws and regulations and the Listed Company’s 
Articles of Association, it will not interfere in the operations of the Listed Company by exceeding the powers 
of the Board of Directors and the AGM and the management of the Listed Company. 3. The Committer will 
regulate and try its best to reduce related-party transactions with the Listed Company. For the 
related-party transactions that cannot be avoided or that are necessary, it will establish transaction 
conditions according to fair and reasonable market principles. For the related-party transactions, the 
Listed Company will strictly carry out decision-making procedures and fulfil information disclosure 
obligations in a timely manner, according to the applicable laws and regulations and the Articles of 
Association of the Listed Company, and the management rules for related-party transactions. V. Guarantee 
the financial independence of the Listed Company. 1. The Listed Company shall establish an independent 
finance and accounting department, and establish independent financial accounting systems and financial 
management systems. 2. The Listed Company shall open a separate bank account, and will not share any 
bank account with the Committer or the Committer’s Controlled Other Enterprises. 3. The Listed Company 
will make its financial decisions independently. The Committer will not interfere in the use of the funds of the 
Listed Company by exceeding the powers of the Board of Directors and the AGM and the operational 
management of the Listed Company. 4. The Listed Company shall pay taxes legally and independently.  
If the Committer is in breach of said commitments, it shall bear the corresponding legal liabilities, and 
indemnify the Listed Company or investors for any and all losses caused thereby according to the law. Long term No Yes

Settlement of 
related-party 
transactions

Jinsheng Group, 
Pan Xueping

1. The Committer will try its best to reduce related-party transactions between the Committer and the 
Committer’s Controlled Other Enterprises and the Listed Company. For any related-party transactions that 
cannot be avoided or that are necessary, it will establish transaction conditions according to fair and 
reasonable market principles. For related-party transactions, the Listed Company will strictly perform its 
decision-making procedures and fulfil its information disclosure obligations in a timely manner, according 
to the applicable laws and regulations and the Articles of Association of the Listed Company, and the 
management rules for related-party transactions. 2. The Committer and the Committer’s Controlled Other 
Enterprises will not illegally occupy the funds and assets of the Listed Company in any form, and no 
guarantees shall be provided to the Committer and the Committer’s Controlled Other Enterprises for their 
violation by using the assets of the Listed Company. 3. The Committer will exercise its rights and perform 
its obligations according to the applicable laws and regulations and the Articles of Association of the 
Listed Company, and will not use the control and influence to impair the legal rights and interests of the 
Listed Company and other shareholders by means of the related-party transactions. If the Committer is in 
breach of the said commitments, it shall bear the corresponding legal liabilities, and indemnify the Listed 
Company or investors for any and all losses caused thereby according to law. Long term No Yes

Other
Jinsheng Group, 
Pan Xueping

After completion of the restructuring, the Committer will strictly comply with the provisions of the “Notice 
on Numerous Issues about Regularising the Funds between the Listed Company and Related Parties and 
External Guarantee of the Listed Company” and the “Notice on Regularising the External Guarantee of 
Listed Companies”, and will not occupy the funds of the Listed Company and its controlled subsidiaries 
nor regularise the external guarantee of the Listed Company and its controlled subsidiaries. If the 
Committer is in breach of the said commitments, it shall bear the corresponding legal liabilities and 
indemnify the Listed Company or investors for any and all losses caused thereby according to law. Long term No Yes
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Commit-
ment 
background

Commitment 
type Committer Commitments Commitment date and period Fulfilment period

Was the commitment  
fulfilled in a timely manner?

If not fulfilled in a timely  
manner, state the specific 
reasons for non-fulfilment

If not fulfilled in a timely 
manner, state the  
next applicable plan
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Other
Jinsheng Group, 
Pan Xueping

After completion of the transaction, Jinsheng Group, as the controlling shareholder of the Listed Company, 
and Pan Xueping, as the actual controller, are committed to ensuring the following: I. Guarantee that the 
staff of the Listed Company are independent. 1. The Senior Officers of the Listed Company (CEO, COO, CFO, 
Board Secretary, etc.) shall work in the Listed Company, and receive remuneration from the Listed 
Company, and shall not act in any position other than Director or Supervisor in any enterprises other than 
the Listed Company and its subsidiaries as controlled by the Committer (“Committer’s Controlled Other 
Enterprises”). 2. The financial staff of the Listed Company shall not hold a concurrent office in or receive 
salaries from the Committer/Committer’s Controlled Other Enterprises. 3. The personnel relationship and 
labour relationship of the Listed Company shall be independent of the Committer/Committer’s Controlled 
Other Enterprises. 4. The Directors, Supervisors and Senior Officers of the Listed Company are elected, 
replaced, dismissed, employed or removed according to the applicable laws and regulations and the 
Company’s Articles of Association. The Committer will not interfere in personnel appointments or dismissal 
of the above persons by exceeding the powers of the Board of Directors and the AGM of the Listed 
Company. II. Guarantee that the assets of the Listed Company are independent. 1. The Listed Company 
has independent and complete assets, and such assets are completely under the control of the Listed 
Company, and are independently owned and operated by the Listed Company. 2. The Committer/
Committer’s Controlled Other Enterprises will not illegally occupy the funds and assets of the Listed 
Company in any form. 3. No guarantees shall be provided to the Committer or the Committer’s Controlled 
Other Enterprises for their violation by using the assets of the Listed Company. III. Guarantee that the 
organisations of the Listed Company are independent. 1. The Listed Company establishes and improves 
corporate governance structures in accordance with the law, and establishes an independent and 
complete organisational structure that is completely separate from the organisations of the Committer/
Committer’s Controlled Other Enterprises 2. The Listed Company and the Committer/Committer’s 
Controlled Other Enterprises are separate in terms of office organisation and production and place of 
operation, and do not mix in any circumstances. IV. Guarantee that the business of the Listed Company is 
independent. 1. The Listed Company has the assets, staff and qualifications to independently conduct its 
own business activities, and has the ability to operate independently in the market. 2. Except when 
relevant rights are exercised in accordance with applicable laws and regulations and the Listed Company’s 
Articles of Association, it will not interfere in the operations of the Listed Company by exceeding the powers 
of the Board of Directors and the AGM and the management of the Listed Company. 3. The Committer will 
regulate and try its best to reduce related-party transactions with the Listed Company. For the 
related-party transactions that cannot be avoided or that are necessary, it will establish transaction 
conditions according to fair and reasonable market principles. For the related-party transactions, the 
Listed Company will strictly carry out decision-making procedures and fulfil information disclosure 
obligations in a timely manner, according to the applicable laws and regulations and the Articles of 
Association of the Listed Company, and the management rules for related-party transactions. V. Guarantee 
the financial independence of the Listed Company. 1. The Listed Company shall establish an independent 
finance and accounting department, and establish independent financial accounting systems and financial 
management systems. 2. The Listed Company shall open a separate bank account, and will not share any 
bank account with the Committer or the Committer’s Controlled Other Enterprises. 3. The Listed Company 
will make its financial decisions independently. The Committer will not interfere in the use of the funds of the 
Listed Company by exceeding the powers of the Board of Directors and the AGM and the operational 
management of the Listed Company. 4. The Listed Company shall pay taxes legally and independently.  
If the Committer is in breach of said commitments, it shall bear the corresponding legal liabilities, and 
indemnify the Listed Company or investors for any and all losses caused thereby according to the law. Long term No Yes

Settlement of 
related-party 
transactions

Jinsheng Group, 
Pan Xueping

1. The Committer will try its best to reduce related-party transactions between the Committer and the 
Committer’s Controlled Other Enterprises and the Listed Company. For any related-party transactions that 
cannot be avoided or that are necessary, it will establish transaction conditions according to fair and 
reasonable market principles. For related-party transactions, the Listed Company will strictly perform its 
decision-making procedures and fulfil its information disclosure obligations in a timely manner, according 
to the applicable laws and regulations and the Articles of Association of the Listed Company, and the 
management rules for related-party transactions. 2. The Committer and the Committer’s Controlled Other 
Enterprises will not illegally occupy the funds and assets of the Listed Company in any form, and no 
guarantees shall be provided to the Committer and the Committer’s Controlled Other Enterprises for their 
violation by using the assets of the Listed Company. 3. The Committer will exercise its rights and perform 
its obligations according to the applicable laws and regulations and the Articles of Association of the 
Listed Company, and will not use the control and influence to impair the legal rights and interests of the 
Listed Company and other shareholders by means of the related-party transactions. If the Committer is in 
breach of the said commitments, it shall bear the corresponding legal liabilities, and indemnify the Listed 
Company or investors for any and all losses caused thereby according to law. Long term No Yes

Other
Jinsheng Group, 
Pan Xueping

After completion of the restructuring, the Committer will strictly comply with the provisions of the “Notice 
on Numerous Issues about Regularising the Funds between the Listed Company and Related Parties and 
External Guarantee of the Listed Company” and the “Notice on Regularising the External Guarantee of 
Listed Companies”, and will not occupy the funds of the Listed Company and its controlled subsidiaries 
nor regularise the external guarantee of the Listed Company and its controlled subsidiaries. If the 
Committer is in breach of the said commitments, it shall bear the corresponding legal liabilities and 
indemnify the Listed Company or investors for any and all losses caused thereby according to law. Long term No Yes
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Commit-
ment 
background

Commitment 
type Committer Commitments Commitment date and period Fulfilment period

Was the commitment  
fulfilled in a timely manner?

If not fulfilled in a timely  
manner, state the specific 
reasons for non-fulfilment

If not fulfilled in a timely 
manner, state the  
next applicable plan

C
om

m
itm

en
t 

re
la

tin
g

 t
o 

th
e 

re
st

ru
ct

ur
in

g
 o

f s
ig

ni
fic

a
nt

 a
ss

et
s Other

Jinsheng Group, 
Pan Xueping

1. After completion of the transactions, the Committer will not interfere in the operational and 
management activities of the Company, nor seize the interests of the Company, by exceeding its powers. 
2. The Committer is aware of the legal consequences that may arise from said commitments, and the 
Company will bear the joint and several liabilities for violation of said commitments. Long term No Yes

Other

Hezhong Investment 
and its partners, 
Hehe Investment 
and its partners, 
Jinbuer and its part- 
ners, Ningbo Yukang 
and its partners, 
Shenzhen Longding 
and its partners

1. The Committer, as the partner of Hezhong Investment/Hehe Investment/Jinbuer/Ningbo Yukang/
Shenzhen Longding (including the limited partner and general partner), is committed to ensuring that 
within the lock-up period of the shares of Hezhong Investment/Hehe Investment/Jinbuer/Ningbo Yukang/
Shenzhen Longding, it will not transfer any assets of the partners held by the Committer. 2. Hezhong 
Investment/Hehe Investment/Jinbuer/Ningbo Yukang/Shenzhen Longding and their general partners are 
further committed to ensuring that within the lock-up period of the shares of the partners, it will not 
handle the formalities for transfer of properties for the partners. 3. If the Committer is in breach of the 
said commitments, it shall bear the corresponding legal liabilities, and indemnify the Listed Company or 
investors for any and all losses caused thereby as according to the law.

Within 36 months after 
completion of issuance Yes Yes

Guarantee 
and 
compensation 
of value of 
assets 
purchased

Jinsheng Group, 
Hezhong 
Investment, Hehe 
Investment and 
Jinbuer

The Committer is committed to ensuring that, in the year when the restructuring is completed and for two 
entire accounting years thereafter, i.e. 2017, 2018 and 2019, the net profits attributable to the owners of 
the parent company as realised by Saurer Intelligent Machinery (according to the consolidated statements, 
net of the non-recurring profits and losses, similarly hereinafter) shall not be less than RMB 583 million,  
RMB 766 million and RMB 1 003 million, respectively, and the total shall not be less than RMB 2 352 million. 2017, 2018, 2019 Yes Yes

Guarantee and 
compensation 
of value of 
assets 
purchased Pan Xueping

Pan Xueping, as the controlling shareholder of Jinsheng Group, is unconditionally and irrevocably 
committed to bearing the unlimited joint and several guarantee liabilities to Jinsheng Group for the 
results compensation obligations under the results compensation agreement. 2017, 2018, 2019 Yes Yes
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Settlement of 
industrial 
competition

Jinsheng Group, 
Pan Xueping

1. As at the date of issuance of this commitment letter, the Committer has not invested in any company, 
enterprise or other operating entities that are identical or similar to Saurer Intelligent Machinery; and the 
Committer and the Committer’s Controlled Other Enterprises will not operate for themselves or on behalf of 
others any business that is identical or similar to that of Saurer Intelligent Machinery, and there is no 
industrial competition against Saurer Intelligent Machinery. 2. After completion of the restructuring, during 
the period when the Committer acts as the controlling shareholder/actual controller of the Listed 
Company, it will not engage in any business that is competitive with that of the Listed Company currently 
or in the future in any form. 3. After completion of the restructuring, during the period when the Committer 
acts as the controlling shareholder/actual controller of the Listed Company, if the Committer’s Controlled 
Other Enterprises plan to engage in any business that is competitive with that of the Listed Company, the 
Committer will exercise its veto power in order to ensure that they are not engaged in any direct or indirect 
competition against the Listed Company. If there is any commercial opportunity that is related to the 
scope of business of the Listed Company, the Committer will first assign or introduce it to the Listed 
Company. 4. After completion of the restructuring, during the period when the Committer acts as the 
controlling shareholder/actual controller of the Listed Company, if the Listed Company changes its scope 
of business, thereby causing any competition against the Committer and the Committer’s Controlled Other 
Enterprises, the Committer will (and will ensure that the Committer’s Controlled Other Enterprises will) take 
the following measures to eliminate the competition: stop operating the business that is competitive with 
that of the Listed Company; transfer the competitive business to the Listed Company; or transfer the 
competitive business to any unrelated third parties. 5. The Committer will not provide any confidential 
information relating to the business of the Listed Company to any third parties, or assist any third parties in 
engaging in any business competing with that of the Listed Company, by using its control or influences over 
the Listed Company. 6. If the Committer is in breach of the said commitments, it shall bear the correspond-
ing legal liabilities and indemnify the Listed Company or investors for any and all losses caused thereby as 
according to the law. Long term No Yes

Restricted  
sale of shares

Jinsheng Group, 
Hehe Investment, 
Hezhong 
Investment

On 3 September 2019 and 5 September 2019, Saurer issued the “Announcement on the Repurchase of the 
Company's Shares through Call Auction" (Announcement 2019-046) and the “Additional Announcement on 
Share Repurchase Plan through Call Auction" (Announcement 2019-048). Jinsheng Group, Hehe Investment 
and Hezhong Investment commit to not reduce their shareholdings during the share repurchase period.

During the share  
repurchase period Yes Yes

Restricted  
sale of shares

Clement Woon, 
Sheng Yiping

Clement Woon and Sheng Yiping commit to not reduce their shareholdings during the share 
repurchase period.

During the share  
repurchase period Yes Yes
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Commit-
ment 
background

Commitment 
type Committer Commitments Commitment date and period Fulfilment period

Was the commitment  
fulfilled in a timely manner?

If not fulfilled in a timely  
manner, state the specific 
reasons for non-fulfilment

If not fulfilled in a timely 
manner, state the  
next applicable plan
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Jinsheng Group, 
Pan Xueping

1. After completion of the transactions, the Committer will not interfere in the operational and 
management activities of the Company, nor seize the interests of the Company, by exceeding its powers. 
2. The Committer is aware of the legal consequences that may arise from said commitments, and the 
Company will bear the joint and several liabilities for violation of said commitments. Long term No Yes

Other

Hezhong Investment 
and its partners, 
Hehe Investment 
and its partners, 
Jinbuer and its part- 
ners, Ningbo Yukang 
and its partners, 
Shenzhen Longding 
and its partners

1. The Committer, as the partner of Hezhong Investment/Hehe Investment/Jinbuer/Ningbo Yukang/
Shenzhen Longding (including the limited partner and general partner), is committed to ensuring that 
within the lock-up period of the shares of Hezhong Investment/Hehe Investment/Jinbuer/Ningbo Yukang/
Shenzhen Longding, it will not transfer any assets of the partners held by the Committer. 2. Hezhong 
Investment/Hehe Investment/Jinbuer/Ningbo Yukang/Shenzhen Longding and their general partners are 
further committed to ensuring that within the lock-up period of the shares of the partners, it will not 
handle the formalities for transfer of properties for the partners. 3. If the Committer is in breach of the 
said commitments, it shall bear the corresponding legal liabilities, and indemnify the Listed Company or 
investors for any and all losses caused thereby as according to the law.

Within 36 months after 
completion of issuance Yes Yes

Guarantee 
and 
compensation 
of value of 
assets 
purchased

Jinsheng Group, 
Hezhong 
Investment, Hehe 
Investment and 
Jinbuer

The Committer is committed to ensuring that, in the year when the restructuring is completed and for two 
entire accounting years thereafter, i.e. 2017, 2018 and 2019, the net profits attributable to the owners of 
the parent company as realised by Saurer Intelligent Machinery (according to the consolidated statements, 
net of the non-recurring profits and losses, similarly hereinafter) shall not be less than RMB 583 million,  
RMB 766 million and RMB 1 003 million, respectively, and the total shall not be less than RMB 2 352 million. 2017, 2018, 2019 Yes Yes

Guarantee and 
compensation 
of value of 
assets 
purchased Pan Xueping

Pan Xueping, as the controlling shareholder of Jinsheng Group, is unconditionally and irrevocably 
committed to bearing the unlimited joint and several guarantee liabilities to Jinsheng Group for the 
results compensation obligations under the results compensation agreement. 2017, 2018, 2019 Yes Yes
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Settlement of 
industrial 
competition

Jinsheng Group, 
Pan Xueping

1. As at the date of issuance of this commitment letter, the Committer has not invested in any company, 
enterprise or other operating entities that are identical or similar to Saurer Intelligent Machinery; and the 
Committer and the Committer’s Controlled Other Enterprises will not operate for themselves or on behalf of 
others any business that is identical or similar to that of Saurer Intelligent Machinery, and there is no 
industrial competition against Saurer Intelligent Machinery. 2. After completion of the restructuring, during 
the period when the Committer acts as the controlling shareholder/actual controller of the Listed 
Company, it will not engage in any business that is competitive with that of the Listed Company currently 
or in the future in any form. 3. After completion of the restructuring, during the period when the Committer 
acts as the controlling shareholder/actual controller of the Listed Company, if the Committer’s Controlled 
Other Enterprises plan to engage in any business that is competitive with that of the Listed Company, the 
Committer will exercise its veto power in order to ensure that they are not engaged in any direct or indirect 
competition against the Listed Company. If there is any commercial opportunity that is related to the 
scope of business of the Listed Company, the Committer will first assign or introduce it to the Listed 
Company. 4. After completion of the restructuring, during the period when the Committer acts as the 
controlling shareholder/actual controller of the Listed Company, if the Listed Company changes its scope 
of business, thereby causing any competition against the Committer and the Committer’s Controlled Other 
Enterprises, the Committer will (and will ensure that the Committer’s Controlled Other Enterprises will) take 
the following measures to eliminate the competition: stop operating the business that is competitive with 
that of the Listed Company; transfer the competitive business to the Listed Company; or transfer the 
competitive business to any unrelated third parties. 5. The Committer will not provide any confidential 
information relating to the business of the Listed Company to any third parties, or assist any third parties in 
engaging in any business competing with that of the Listed Company, by using its control or influences over 
the Listed Company. 6. If the Committer is in breach of the said commitments, it shall bear the correspond-
ing legal liabilities and indemnify the Listed Company or investors for any and all losses caused thereby as 
according to the law. Long term No Yes

Restricted  
sale of shares

Jinsheng Group, 
Hehe Investment, 
Hezhong 
Investment

On 3 September 2019 and 5 September 2019, Saurer issued the “Announcement on the Repurchase of the 
Company's Shares through Call Auction" (Announcement 2019-046) and the “Additional Announcement on 
Share Repurchase Plan through Call Auction" (Announcement 2019-048). Jinsheng Group, Hehe Investment 
and Hezhong Investment commit to not reduce their shareholdings during the share repurchase period.

During the share  
repurchase period Yes Yes

Restricted  
sale of shares

Clement Woon, 
Sheng Yiping

Clement Woon and Sheng Yiping commit to not reduce their shareholdings during the share 
repurchase period.

During the share  
repurchase period Yes Yes
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(2) Earnings forecast
The Company and Jinsheng Group, Jinbuer, Hezhong 
Investment and Hehe Investment signed the Results Com-
mitment and Compensation Agreement, a Supplemen-
tary Agreement to the Results Commitment and Compen-
sation Agreement and a Supplementary Agreement II to 
the Results Commitment and Compensation Agreement. 
Jinsheng Group, Jinbuer, Hezhong Investment and Hehe 
Investment are committed to ensuring that the net profits 
attributable to the owners of the parent company in 2017, 
2018 and 2019 as realised by Saurer Intelligent Machinery 
(according to the consolidated statements, net of the 
non-recurring profits and losses, similarly hereinafter) 
shall not be less than RMB 583 million, RMB 766 million 
and RMB 1 003 million, respectively, and the total shall 
not be less than RMB 2 352 million.

The Special Audit Report on the Differences between 
Actual Net Profit and Committed Net Profit of Saurer 
Intelligent Machinery (PwC Special Audit No. 1651 [2020]) 
shows that the net profit attributable to the owners of 
the parent company less non-recurring gains and losses 
was RMB 2 540 million, which exceeds the committed net 
profit of RMB 2 352 million, resulting in a completion rate 
of 107.8 %.

(3) Completion of performance guarantee  
and its impact on impairment of goodwill
During the reporting period, the Company exceeded its 
performance commitments, with a completion rate of 
107.8 %. The Company uses the model of the present value 
of expected future cash flows to provide an impairment 
test to goodwill every year, and no sign of impairment was 
found in 2019. 

(4) Explanation of the changes in the Company's 
accounting policies, the reasons behind the changes 
and their impact 
In 2017, China’s Ministry of Finance revised and issued 
Accounting Standards No. 22 (Recognition and Measure-
ment of Financial Instruments), No. 23 (Transfer of Finan-
cial Assets), No. 24 (Arbitrage Accounting) and No. 37 
(Financial Instruments). The Ministry also required that 
companies listed in Mainland China implement the rele-
vant accounting standards for new financial instruments 
from 1 January 2019. On 15 June 2018, the Chinese Ministry 
of Finance issued a Notice on the Revision of the Format 
for the Publication of General Business Financial State-
ments for the Year 2018 (No. 15 of 2018), revising the for-
mat of financial statements. In accordance with the 
above-mentioned changes, Saurer will make correspond-
ing changes to its accounting policy reported in the finan-
cial statements. The above-mentioned changes in the 
form of financial statements and the changes in the 
accounting policy of new financial instruments will be 
implemented in accordance with the start date pre-
scribed by the Chinese Ministry of Finance. The account-
ing policy of the New Financial Instruments Standard was 
announced on 1 January 2019. For more details, please see 
Saurer's Announcement on Accounting Policy Changes 
(2019-021) issued on 26 April 2019. The implementation of 
the revised accounting policy will continue to objectively 
and fairly reflect the Company's financial position and 
operating results, without requiring the retroactive adjust-
ment of previous years’ reporting. 

(5) Saurer’s comment on the Qualified Opinion issued 
by PwC
For details, please refer to the Board of Directors' Opinions 
on the Qualified Opinion for the Audit Report 2019 of Saurer 
Intelligent Technology Co. Ltd issued on 30 June 2020.
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3 Employment and dismissal of  
accounting firm

Current employment

Name of domestic accounting firm
PwC Mainland China  

(special general partnership)

Remuneration of domestic accounting firm 512

Auditing years of domestic accounting firm 3 years

Name Remuneration

Internal control auditing  
& accounting firm

PricewaterhouseCoopers  
Zhong Tian CPAs Firm  
(special ordinary partnership) 220

Unit: 10 thousand RMB

4 Litigation and arbitration disclosed in 
ad hoc announcements without resolution 
during the reporting period 

Shandong Ruyi Technology Group Co. Ltd, Xinjiang Kash-
gar Qilu Textile and Garment Co. Ltd, Xinjiang Ruyi Textile 
and Garment Co. Ltd and Shule Ruyi Technology Textile 
Co. Ltd (collectively referred to as Shandong Ruyi) and the 
Company’s subsidiary Saurer Shanghai and Saurer Intelli-
gent Machinery have a sale and purchase contract dis-
pute. Shandong Ruyi filed a lawsuit with the Intermediate 
People's Court of Jining City, Shandong Province and froze 
some of the financial funds of Saurer Intelligent Machinery 
totalling RMB 44 287 940.55 as well as 27 994 299 shares of 
Saurer Intelligent held by Jinsheng Industrial. During the 
reporting period, Shandong Ruyi withdrew its lawsuit.

For details, please refer to the four announcements by 
Saurer on: Subsidiary Litigation and Frozen Bank Accounts 
(2019-014), Subsidiary Litigation Progress (2019-032), 
Subsidiary Litigation Progress (2019-055) and Litigation 
Results (2019-057).

5 Statement on the integrity of  
the Company and its controlling  
shareholders and actual controller  
during the reporting period 
During the reporting period, the Company and its con-
trolling shareholders and actual controller acted in good 
faith and have no large unpaid debts that are due and 
outstanding, as judged by the court.
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6 Significant related-party transactions

(1) Issues not disclosed in ad hoc announcements

Related parties Affiliation Ty
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Xinjiang Litai Silk Road 
Investment Co. Ltd

Shareholder’s 
subsidiary

Sale of  
goods

Sale of machinery  
and equipment

Mark-up  
of costs – 736 414 8.59

According to  
the agreement – –

Kuitun Litai Silk Road 
Investment Co. Ltd

Shareholder’s 
subsidiary

Sale of  
goods

Sale of machinery  
and equipment

Mark-up  
of costs – 174 683 2.04

According to  
the agreement – –

LT Textile International 
Co. Ltd

Shareholder’s 
subsidiary

Sale of  
goods

Sale of machinery  
and equipment

Mark-up  
of costs – 108 309 1.26

According to  
the agreement – –

Alear Litai Silk Road 
Textile Co. Ltd

Shareholder’s 
subsidiary

Sale of  
goods

Sale of machinery  
and equipment

Mark-up  
of costs – 332 585 3.88

According to  
the agreement – –

Maigaiti Litai Textile 
Co. Ltd

Shareholder’s 
subsidiary

Sale of  
goods

Sale of machinery  
and equipment

Mark-up  
of costs – 626 791 7.31

According to  
the agreement – –

– – 1 978 782 23.08 – – –

Unit: thousand RMB
Notes on related-party transactions: the Company makes disclosures in accordance  
with the provisions of the Trading Rules of the Shanghai Stock Exchange for stock listings.
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7 Significant contracts and their implementation

(1) Guarantees
(a) Information on external guarantees (excluding guarantees to subsidiaries)
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None

Total amount of guarantee incurred in the reporting period (excluding guarantees to subsidiaries) 0

Total balance of guarantee at the end of the reporting period (A) (excluding guarantees to subsidiaries) 0

(b) Guarantees provided to subsidiaries from the Company and its subsidiaries

Total amount of guarantees provided to subsidiaries in the reporting period 660 722 493

Total balance of guarantees provided to subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period (B) 2 805 125 651

(c) Total amount of guarantees provided (including guarantees provided for subsidiaries)

Total amount of guarantees provided (A + B) 2 805 125 651

Percentage of total amount of guarantee against net assets of the Company (%) 56.39

Including:

Amount of guarantee provided for shareholders, actual controllers and related parties (C) 0

Direct or indirect debt guarantees provided for guaranteed parties whose asset/liability ratio exceeds 70 % (D) 704 348 000

Amount of total guarantee exceeding 50 % of net assets (E) 0

Total amount of guarantee of C + D + E 704 348 000

Instructions on possible joint and several clearance liabilities for undue guarantees None

 
Instructions on guarantees

For details, please refer to ad hoc announcements 
2019-003, 2019-007, 2019-019, 2019-033 and 2019-051

 
Unit: RMB 
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(2) Cash asset management entrusted to others
(a) Entrusted wealth management
(i) Overview of entrusted wealth management

Type Source of funds Amount entrusted Outstanding balance Unrecovered amount overdue

Wealth management bank products Own funds 110 000 0 0

Unit: 10 thousand RMB

(ii) Individual entrusted wealth management
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Agri
cultural  
Bank of 
China

Principal 
guaranteed 
floating 
earning 110 000

29. 12.  
2018

02. 01. 
2019

Own 
funds

Ben Li Feng Bu Bu  
Gao Open RMB  
wealth manage 
ment product

Calcu
lated 
per day 2.0   % – 25.3

Recovery  
of principal 
and interest Yes No –

Unit: 10 thousand RMB 
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8 Active corporate social responsibility

(1) Corporate social responsibility
During the reporting period, the Company was actively 
engaged in multiple corporate social responsibility activ-
ities in many regions and countries. 

(a) Focus on protection of the rights and interests of 
employees and building a corporate culture
Saurer is a people-oriented company and acts to pro-
tect the rights and interests of its employees by build-
ing constructive labour relations. The Company organ-
ises a range of professional training and teambuilding 
activities, and has established an atmosphere sup-
porting the growth and development of talents. 
Around 60 employees of the Company working at the 
factory located in Übach-Palenberg in Germany are 
active in a programme that promotes equality in the 
workplace. The Company has also set up a leadership 
development programme to prepare and train quali-
fied managers for leadership roles.

(b) Focus on environmental protection 
The Company's R&D is guided by the E³ + I concept. This 
approach improves product performance indicators 
for energy saving, economic efficiency and ergonom-
ics, plus intelligence. This in turn lowers energy con-
sumption, reduces raw material costs and makes pro-
duction more efficient by lowering demand for labour. 
The Company also advocates the paperless office and 
renders active assistance to local governments in Tur-
key in recycling and reusing of resources. 

(c) Developing social sponsoring activities and practicing 
corporate social responsibility
The Company’s social sponsoring activities in 2019 
included a RMB 5 million donation to Charity Associa-
tion of Jintan District, Changzhou City, Jiangsu Province 
for epidemic prevention and public health control in the 
city and at district level. In addition, the Saurer Xinjiang 
factory participated in a local government scheme to 
increase employment among ethnic minorities, hiring 
95 ethnic minority employees in its new plant.

(2) Environmental information
(a) Companies not on the list of major pollutant-discharg-

ing entities
The Company and its major subsidiaries are not listed 
as major pollutant-discharging entities by China’s 
environmental protection department. The Company 
is engaged mainly in R&D and the production and sale 
of intelligent textile equipment and key components 
and is not among industries that are responsible for 
heavy pollution. The major pollutants discharged by 
the Company include wastewater, waste gas, some 
waste residue and a certain amount of noise gener-
ated by the production processes. The Company 
strictly adheres to laws and regulations related to 
environmental protection, and several of its locations 
are certified according to the ISO 50001 energy man-
agement standard. The Company's product develop-
ment is guided by the E³ + I concept, which aims to 
reduce total energy consumption by providing cus-
tomers with products with lower energy consumption, 
lower resource costs and higher production efficiency.
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6. Changes in 
common shares  
and shareholders
1 Changes in common share capital

(1) Table of changes in common share capital

Before change Change (+ –) After change

Quantity

Per
centage  

(%)

Newly  
issued  
shares

Stock  
bonus

Reserve 
fund 

transferred 
to shares Other Subtotal Quantity

Per
centage  

(%)

Restricted shares 1 219 627 217 64.35 –448 541 319 –448 541 319 771 085 898 40.68

 ʸ State-owned shares

 ʸ State-owned legal 
person shareholding 99 675 850 5.26 –83 063 209 –83 063 209 16 612 641 0.87

 ʸ Other domestic 
shareholdings 1 119 951 367 59.09 –365 478 110 –365 478 110 754 473 257 39.81

 ʸ Held by domestic 
non-state-owned  
legal person 1 045 194 479 55.14 –290 721 222 –290 721 222 754 473 257 39.81

 ʸ Held by domestic 
natural person 74 756 888 3.95 –74 756 888 –74 756 888 0 0

 ʸ Foreign shareholding

 ʸ Held by foreign  
legal person

 ʸ Held by foreign  
natural person

Unrestricted shares 675 785 778 35.65 448 541 319 448 541 319 1 124 327 097 59.32

 ʸ RMB common stock 675 785 778 35.65 448 541 319 448 541 319 1 124 327 097 59.32

 ʸ Foreign capital 
stocks listed in China

 ʸ Foreign capital 
stocks listed  
outside China

 ʸ Other

Total number of 
common shares 1 895 412 995 100.00 0 0 1 895 412 995 100.00

Unit: share
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(a) Explanation of changes in common share capital 
 On 31 July 2017 Saurer received the approval from 

CSRC regarding major asset restructuring of Xinjiang 
Urban Construction (Group) Co. Ltd and Jiangsu Jinyu 
Industrial Co. Ltd’s assets purchase through the issu-
ance of shares (License No. 1397, 2017). On 4 Septem-
ber 2017 the registration of new shares for asset pur-
chase was completed with 1 219 627 217 newly issued 
shares. On 5 September 2019 the 448 541 319 restricted 
shares involved in the asset replacement were listed 
for circulation. For more details, please refer to 
announcement 2019-044.

(b) Changes in restricted share capital

Shareholder name

Restricted 
shares at 

beginning  
of 2019 

The number  
of shares that  

are released  
from trading 

restriction in 2019

New 
restricted 

shares  
in 2019

Restricted  
shares at 
year-end

Reason for 
trading 

restriction

Release of 
trading 

restriction

Jiangsu Jinsheng Industry Co. Ltd 721 247 974 0 0 721 247 974
Asset purchase 

via share issuance 07. 09. 20

China Development Bank Capital Co. Ltd 83 063 209 83 063 209 0 0
Asset purchase 

via share issuance 05. 09. 19

China Development Bank Capital Co. Ltd 16 612 641 0 0 16 612 641
Asset purchase 

via share issuance 07. 09. 20

Zhao Hongxiu 74 756 888 74 756 888 0 0
Asset purchase 

via share issuance 05. 09. 19

Changzhou Jinbuer Investment Partnership 
(limited partnership) 66 450 567 66 450 567 0 0

Asset purchase 
via share issuance 05. 09. 19

Jiangsu Huatai Strategic Emerging Industry 
Investment Fund (limited partnership) 49 688 858 49 688 858 0 0

Asset purchase 
via share issuance 05. 09. 19

Changzhou Hehe Investment Partnership 
(limited partnership) 38 513 087 38 513 087 0 0

Asset purchase 
via share issuance 05. 09. 19

Shenzhen Longding Shuming Equity Investment 
Partnership (limited partnership) 34 886 547 34 886 547 0 0

Asset purchase 
via share issuance 05. 09. 19

China Advanced Manufacturing Industry 
Investment Fund (limited partnership) 33 225 283 0 0 33 225 283

Asset purchase 
via share issuance 07. 09. 20

Huashan Investment Co. Ltd 16 612 641 16 612 641 0 0
Asset purchase 

via share issuance 05. 09. 19

Shanghai Yongjun Equity Investment 
Partnership (limited partnership) 16 612 641 16 612 641 0 0

Asset purchase 
via share issuance 05. 09. 19

Ningbo Yukang Equity Investment Centre 
(limited partnership) 16 612 641 16 612 641 0 0

Asset purchase 
via share issuance 05. 09. 19

Tibet Jiaze Venture Investment 16 612 641 16 612 641 0 0
Asset purchase 

via share issuance 05. 09. 19

Changzhou Hezhong Investment Partnership 
(limited partnership) 11 324 837 11 324 837 0 0

Asset purchase 
via share issuance 05. 09. 19

Shanghai Jinye Equity Investment Partnership 
(limited partnership) 8 306 320 8 306 320 0 0

Asset purchase 
via share issuance 05. 09. 19

Shanghai Hongcheng Equity Investment 
Partnership (limited liability) 8 306 320 8 306 320 0 0

Asset purchase 
via share issuance 05. 09. 19

Beijing Zhongtai Financial Investment Co. Ltd 6 645 056 6 645 056 0 0
Asset purchase 

via share issuance 05. 09. 19

Nanjing Daofeng Investment Management 
Centre (general partnership) 149 066 149 066 0 0

Asset purchase 
via share issuance 05. 09. 19

1 219 627 217 448 541 319 0 771 085 898

Unit: share
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2 Shareholders and actual controllers

(1) Total shareholders

Total number of common shareholders  
at the end of the reporting period (persons) 67 826

Total number of common shareholders  
at the end of the last trading month before the  
disclosure date of the Annual Report (persons) 65 478

Total number of preferred shareholders with restored  
voting rights at the end of the reporting period (persons) 0

Total number of preferred shareholders with restored  
voting rights at the end of the last trading month before  
the disclosure date of the Annual Report (persons) 0
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(2) Top 10 shareholders and top 10 tradable shareholders 
(or holders of shares not subject to conditional sales) 
by the end of the reporting period

(a) Top 10 shareholders

Pledged or frozen

Name of shareholder

Increase or 
decrease during 

the period

Shares at the 
 end of the  

reporting period
Ratio  

(%)

Shares subject  
to conditional 

sales
Share 
status Quantity

Nature of  
shareholder

Jiangsu Jinsheng Industry Co. Ltd 0 889 759 677 46.94 721 247 974
Pledged

Frozen
 728 130 878
  50 486 166

Domestic non–  
state–owned 
legal person

China Development Bank Capital Co. Ltd –18 950 000 80 725 850 4.26 16 612 641 None 0
State–owned 
legal person

Jiangsu Huatai Strategic Emerging 
Industry Investment Fund (limited 
partnership) 0 49 688 858 2.62 0 None 0 Other

Changzhou Hehe Investment Partnership 
(limited partnership) 0 38 513 087 2.03 0 Pledged  38 510 000 Other

CITIC Construction Investment Securities 
Co. Ltd (special securities account to 
exercise over-allotment option)    37 737 200 37 737 200 1.99 0 None 0 Other

China Advanced Manufacturing Industry 
Investment Fund (limited partnership) 0 33 225 283 1.75 33 225 283 None 0 Other

Urumqi State-owned Assets Operation 
(Group) Co. Ltd 0 30 072 467 1.59 0 None 0

State–owned 
legal person

Changzhou Jinbuer Investment 
Partnership (limited partnership) –37 900 000 28 550 567 1.51 0 None 0 Other

Shenzhen Dewei Capital Investment 
Management Co. Ltd – Dewei Capital 
Sheng'an Private Equity Investment  
Fund No 1 24 500 000 24 500 000 1.29 0 None 0 Other

Wang Jinfeng 20 700 000 20 700 000 1.09 0 None 0
Domestic  
natural person

Unit: share

(b) Top 10 holders of shares not subject to conditional sales

Number of shares 
not subject to 

conditional sales

Type and number of shares

Name of shareholder Type Quantity

Jiangsu Jinsheng Industry Co. Ltd 168 511 703 RMB common shares 168 511 703

China Development Bank Capital Co. Ltd 64 113 209 RMB common shares 64 113 209

Jiangsu Huatai Strategic Emerging Industry Investment Fund (limited partnership) 49 688 858 RMB common shares 49 688 858

Changzhou Hehe Investment Partnership (limited partnership) 38 513 087 RMB common shares 38 513 087

CITIC Construction Investment Securities Co. Ltd  
(special securities account to exercise over-allotment option) 37 737 200 RMB common shares 37 737 200

Urumqi State-owned Assets Operation (Group) Co. Ltd 30 072 467 RMB common shares 30 072 467

Changzhou Jinbuer Investment Partnership (limited partnership) 28 550 567 RMB common shares 28 550 567

Shenzhen Dewei Capital Investment Management Co. Ltd –  
Dewei Capital Sheng'an Private Equity Investment Fund No 1 24 500 000 RMB common shares 24 500 000

Wang Jinfeng 20 700 000 RMB common shares 20 700 000

Zhao Hongxiu 18 002 788 RMB common shares 18 002 788

Description of the above-mentioned shareholders'  
connected relationship or concerted action

Among the top ten shareholders with restrictions on sales, it is unknown whether  
there is an associated relationship among the shareholders, and it is also unknown  

whether they are parties acting in concert.
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(3) Top 10 holders of shares subject to conditional sales, 
and the conditions for sale

Condition for listing and trading of 
shares subject to conditional sales

No. Name of holder of shares subject to conditional sales
Number of  

shares held Tradable time
Newly added 

tradable shares
Conditions  
of sale

1 Jiangsu Jinsheng Industry Co. Ltd 721 247 974 07. 09. 2020
Asset purchase 
via share issuance

2 China Development Bank Capital Co. Ltd 16 612 641 07. 09. 2020
Asset purchase 
via share issuance

3
China Advanced Manufacturing Industry Investment Fund (limited 
partnership) 33 225 283 07. 09. 2020

Asset purchase 
via share issuance

Unit: share

3 Controlling shareholder and actual 
controller

(1) Controlling shareholder > 30 %
(a) Legal person

Name Jiangsu Jinsheng Industry Co. Ltd

The person in charge or legal representative Pan Xueping

Date of incorporation 25 December 2000

Principal businesses and operations

Manufacture of agricultural machinery, auto parts, electronic 
products (except satellite ground reception facilities), construction 
machinery and garments; sales of self-produced products; import, 
export and domestic wholesale of high-end CNC machine tools and 
key components; domestic procurement and wholesale of cotton, 
cotton yarn and textiles. (For projects that are subject to approval 
according to law, operating activities can only be carried out after 
the approval of the relevant department has been obtained.)

Shareholdings of other listed companies at home and abroad in the period None

Other explanations None
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(b) Equity and controlling relationship between the Com-
pany and its controlling shareholder

(2) Actual controller
(a) Natural person

Name Pan Xueping

Nationality China

Is right of abode in other  
countries or regions obtained? No

Occupation and job title
Chairman of the Board of Jiangsu 
Jinsheng Industry Co. Ltd

Control of domestic or foreign-listed 
companies in the past decade None

Other explanations None

(b) Equity and controlling relationship between the Com-
pany and its actual controller

46.94 %

Jiangsu Jinsheng  
Industry Co. Ltd

Saurer Intelligent  
Technology Co. Ltd

46.94 %

69 %

70 %

15.525%

Jiangsu Jinsheng  
Industry Co. Ltd

Pan Xueping

Saurer Intelligent  
Technology Co. Ltd

Jiangsu Jinsheng  
Holding Co. Ltd
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1 Shareholding changes and remuneration

(1) Shareholding changes and remuneration of 
Directors, Supervisors and Senior Executives in service 
or leaving the Company during the reporting period

Name Position (note) Gender Age
Start of  
Tenure

End of  
Tenure

Shares  
held at 

beginning  
of the year

Shares  
held at  
end of  

the year

Share  
change  

in the  
year

Reason  
for  

change

Remuneration  
from related  

parties 

Pan Xueping Chairman Male 56 11. 09. 17 10. 09. 20 0 0 0 – Yes

Stefan Kross
Vice Chairman

Male 64
20. 04. 18 10. 09. 20

0 0 0 –
No

Director 11. 09. 17 10. 09. 20 No

Carsten 
Voigtländer

Vice Chairman
Male 57

25. 04. 19 10. 09. 20
0 0 0 –

No

Director 16. 01. 19 10. 09. 20 No

Clement Woon
Director

Male 60
11. 09. 17 10. 09. 20

0 25 000 25 000 –
No

CEO 11. 09. 17 31. 03. 20 No

Ding Yuan Director Male 49 21. 05. 18 10. 09. 20 0 0 0 – No

Arthur Yeung Director Male 50 21. 05. 18 10. 09. 20 0 0 0 – No

Jesse Guan
Director

Male 49
21. 05. 18 10. 09. 20

0 0 0 –
No

Chief Operating Officer 11. 09. 17 – No

Guido Spix Independent Director Male 56 21. 05. 18 10. 09. 20 0 0 0 – No

Dominique Turpin Independent Director Male 62 21. 05. 18 10. 09. 20 0 0 0 – No

Chen Jieping Independent Director Male 66 11. 09. 17 10. 09. 20 0 0 0 – No

Xie Manlin Independent Director Male 56 11. 09. 17 10. 09. 20 0 0 0 – No

Zhang Yueping 
Chairman of the Board  
of Supervisors

Male 49 11. 09. 17 10. 09. 20 0 0 0 – Yes

Jin Hao Supervisor Male 44 11. 09. 17 10. 09. 20 0 0 0 – Yes

Liang Taifu Supervisor Male 38 21. 05. 18 10. 09. 20 0 0 0 – Yes

Sheng Yiping Supervisor Male 43 21. 05. 18 10. 09. 20 163 400 163 400 0 – No

Pei Guoqing Supervisor Male 52 11. 09. 17 10. 09. 20 0 0 0 – No

Zeng Zhengping Secretary to Board of Directors Male 57 11. 09. 17 – 0 0 0 – No

Lu Yimin Chief Financial Officer Female 46 29. 11. 17 – 0 0 0 – No

Cheng Rong Chief Human Resources Officer Female 51 29. 04. 19 – 0 0 0 – No

Peter Moser
Former Chief Human  
Resources Officer

Male 58 11. 09. 17 29. 04. 19 0 0 0 – No

Unit: share

7. Directors,  
Supervisors, Senior 
Executives  
and Employees
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Name Main work experience

Pan Xueping

Chairman of the Board of Directors, and Chairman and CEO of Jiangsu Jinsheng Industry Co. Ltd. Mr Pan also serves as Vice President 
of the China Textile Machinery Association, China Textile Engineering Society, China Textile Enterprise Association and the Changzhou 
General Chamber of Commerce. Before founding Jiangsu Jinsheng Industry Co. Ltd, Mr Pan worked as General Manager of Steel 
Manufacturing Co. Ltd (affiliated with Pacific Group’s Shanghai Textile Machinery Plant), Director and Secretary of the Party Committee 
of Jiangsu Jintan Machinery Factory and Jintan Huajin Machinery Factory, and CEO of the pre-spinning division of the Saurer Group. 

Stefan Kross
Vice Chairman. Mr Kross was previously COO of Volkmann GmbH & Co. KG, member of the Board of W. Schlafhorst AG & Co., CTO of 
Saurer Textile Solutions for Saurer GmbH & Co. KG, CEO of Oerlikon Barmag, CEO of Oerlikon Manmade Fibres.

Carsten 
Voigtländer 

Vice Chairman. Mr Voigtländer was previously CEO of Vaillant Group (Germany), CEO of Oerlikon Textile, CTO of Neumag GmbH, and 
has a PhD from the Technical University of Braunschweig, Germany.

Clement 
Woon

Director and CEO. Mr Woon previously worked at Oerlikon (Switzerland), SATS Ltd (Singapore) and Hexagon Metrology AB (Sweden). 
He formerly served as CEO of the Oerlikon textile machinery business, President and CEO of SATS Ltd and President of the geodetic 
surveying business of Leica Geosystems AG.

Ding Yuan

Director. Mr Ding is also Vice President and Dean, Cathay Capital Chair Professor of Accounting at China Europe International Business 
School (CEIBS). He is an Independent Non-executive Director and Chairman of the Audit Committee of Red Star Macalline Group Co. 
Ltd; Independent Non-executive Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee, member of the Nomination Committee and the Strategy 
Committee of Landsea Real Estate Group; Independent Non-executive Director, Chairman of the Remuneration Committee, and 
member of the Nomination Committee and Audit Committee of Man Wah Holdings Ltd; and Director of Jaccar Holdings. Mr Ding was 
previously a tenured faculty member of HEC School of Management, Paris (France); Independent Director and Chairman of the Audit 
Committee of Anhui Gujing Distillery; Independent Director and Chairman of the Audit Committee of TCL Group; and Director and 
Chairman of the Audit Committee of Mag Industries Corp. 

Arthur Yeung

Director. Senior management consultant at Tencent Group; Dean of Qingteng University for executive education and President of Y-Triangle 
Organisation Learning Oasis. Mr Yeung is an Assistant Professor of management at China Europe International Business School (CEIBS)  
and an Independent non-executive Director of SITC International Holdings Ltd and Country Garden Holdings Ltd. He previously served as 
Chief HRO of Acer Group, and as a senior consultant for companies including Alibaba, Mary Kay, ING Insurance, and TCL-Thomson.

Jesse Guan

Director. COO of Saurer. Mr Guan has worked in international companies including Ingersoll Rand, TI Automotive and P&G. He served 
as Managing Director of Ingersoll-Rand Fuxing Holdings Ltd, Director of Asia Pacific operations for Ingersoll Rand Industrial 
Technologies and Ingersoll Rand Security Technologies, and Vice President of TI Automotive’s China business.

Guido Spix

Independent Director. Mr Spix is Managing Director and Group CTO/COO of Multivac SE & Co. KG. He previously held positions 
including design engineer, mechanical design engineer, and Vice President of R&D in Trützschler GmbH & Co. KG, Volkmann GmbH & 
Co. KG, and Oerlikon Textile GmbH.

Dominique 
Turpin

Independent Director. Professor at Lausanne International Management Development Institute (IMD), part-time member of the 
Advisory Committee of Waseda Business School (Japan); International Academy of Sport Science and Technology, ECAL and EHL  
(all Lausanne, Switzerland); and editorial consultant for Singapore Management Review.

Chen Jieping

Independent Director. Mr Chen is Professor of accounting at China Europe International Business School (CEIBS), was Deputy Dean of 
CEIBS from 2009 to 2016, and served as Dean of the EMBA programme. Before joining CEIBS, he was a tenured faculty member and 
head of the Accounting Department at the City University of Hong Kong. Mr Chen is an Independent Non-executive Director of 
Shenzhen Worldunion Properties Consultancy Inc, Jinmao (China) Hotel Investment Management Ltd; HJ Capital (International) 
Holdings Co. Ltd; and Shanghai La Chapelle Apparel Co. Ltd. 

Xie Manlin

Independent Director. Mr Xie is Director of the Jiangsu Xie Manlin Law Firm and serves as legal adviser to the Jiangsu Provincial 
People’s Government and Nanjing Municipal People’s Government. He is supervisor of the Nanjing Bar Association and an Independent 
Director of Jiangsu NandaSoft Technology Co. Ltd and Nanjing Putian Telecommunications Co. Ltd. Mr Xie was previously a lawyer at 
Nanjing Secondary Law Firm and Nanjing Jinling Law Firm, and an Independent Director of the Bank of Nanjing Co. Ltd.

Zhang 
Yueping

Chairman of the Supervisory Board. Mr Zhang is also the Co-CEO and President of Jiangsu Jinsheng Industry Co. Ltd. Mr Zhang 
previously worked as Deputy General Manager and Executive Deputy General Manager of Jiangsu Jinsheng Industry Co. Ltd, Executive 
Deputy General Manager of Saurer (Jintan), and Technical Director and Executive Deputy Director of Jintan Textile Machinery Factory. 
Mr Zhang has extensive experience in both R&D and management. Before joining Jinsheng Industrial, he worked for the Jintan Diesel 
Engine plant under Changchai Group’s Changzhou Diesel Engine Group and was in charge of the design of processes and special 
process equipment, factory technical upgrading and technical management.

Jin Hao
Supervisor. Vice President and Chief Legal Officer of Jiangsu Jinsheng Industry Co. Ltd. Mr Jin has worked as a lawyer in a number of 
Chinese and international law firms.

Liang Taifu
Supervisor. Vice President of Jiangsu Jinsheng Industry Co. Ltd in charge of securities affairs. Mr Liang was previously Deputy General 
Manager, Director, and Sponsor Representative of the investment banking department of China Merchants Securities. 

Sheng Yiping

Employee Supervisor of the Company and Director of the Saurer pre-spinning product line. Mr Sheng has spent his career working in 
Saurer (Changzhou) Textile Machinery Co. Ltd, starting as an engineer in the assembly workshop and product design; project 
manager; Secretary of the General Manager; Executive Deputy General Manager; and now General Manager.

Pei Guoqing
Supervisor. Mr Pei is Deputy General Manager of Saurer (Changzhou) Textile Machinery Co. Ltd. He previously worked at Jiangsu Jintan 
Textile Machinery plant and Jinsheng Industrial.

Zeng 
Zhengping Secretary to the Board of Directors. Mr Zeng was previously CFO of ZF (China) Investment Co. Ltd.

Lu Yimin

CFO of Saurer. Ms Lu previously worked at Jiangsu Jinsheng Industry Co. Ltd, where she served as Vice President of the Company and 
CFO of the Overseas Segment. She also worked for PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) China and PwC US holding the titles of M&A 
Consulting Director, Senior Manager and Manager. 

Cheng Rong

Chief Human Resources Officer. Ms Cheng joined Jiangsu Jinsheng Industry Co. Ltd as a Vice President. She was previously Asia Pacific 
Human Resources Director of the Safety and Security sector at Ingersoll Rand and served as a member of Ingersoll Rand’s global 
compensation and benefit committee. 
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2 Employment of Directors, Supervisors  
and Senior Executives in service  
or leaving the Company during the  
reporting period

(1) Posts in the shareholding company

Name Name of shareholding company Position held Start of tenure End of tenure

Pan Xueping Jiangsu Jinsheng Industry Co. Ltd Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 12. 2000 –

Zhang Yueping Jiangsu Jinsheng Industry Co. Ltd Director and Deputy General Manager 12. 2000 –

Jin Hao Jiangsu Jinsheng Industry Co. Ltd Supervisor, Vice President, Chief Legal Officer 03. 2013 –

Liang Taifu Jiangsu Jinsheng Industry Co. Ltd Vice President 10. 2015 –

Pei Guoqing Jiangsu Jinsheng Industry Co. Ltd Supervisor 12. 2000 –

Cheng Rong Jiangsu Jinsheng Industry Co. Ltd Vice President 04. 2012 28. 04. 2019 

(2) Posts in other entities

Name Name of other entities Position held Start of tenure End of tenure

Pan Xueping Jiangsu Jinsheng Holding Co. Ltd Chairman 11. 2017 –

Pan Xueping Maigaiti Litai Silk Road Textile Co. Ltd Executive Director and General Manager 08. 2018 –

Pan Xueping Jiangsu Changjin Investment Co. Ltd Executive Director 10. 2009 –

Pan Xueping Jiangsu Jinsheng Asset Management Co. Ltd Executive Director 10. 2015 –

Pan Xueping Kuitun Litai Silk Road Investment Co. Ltd Chairman 05. 2015 –

Pan Xueping Shanghai Shenglun Enterprise Management Co. Ltd Executive Director 02. 2018 –

Pan Xueping Taicang Litai Textile Factory Co. Ltd Chairman 06. 2008 –

Pan Xueping Alaer Litai Silk Road Investment Co. Ltd Chairman 05. 2018 –

Pan Xueping Xinjiang Litai Silk Road Investment Co. Ltd Chairman 04. 2015 –

Pan Xueping Litai Xingshi (Taicang) Holding Co. Ltd Chairman 03. 2015 –

Pan Xueping Litai Silk Road Holding Co. Ltd Chairman 03. 2015 –

Pan Xueping KOEPFER (Changzhou) Transmission Technology Co. Ltd Chairman 11. 2013 –

Pan Xueping Changzhou Litai Textile Co. Ltd Executive Director 08. 2019 –

Pan Xueping EMAG (China) Machinery Co. Ltd Executive Director 11. 2010 –

Pan Xueping Xinjiang Jinsheng Enterprise Management Co. Ltd Executive Director 04. 2017 –

Pan Xueping Heberlein Ceramic Materials Co. Ltd Executive Director 01. 2015 –

Pan Xueping Jiangsu Jintan Zhonghe Investment Co. Ltd Deputy Chairman 01. 2015 –

Zhang Yueping Jiangsu Jinsheng Holding Co. Ltd Director 11. 2017 –

Zhang Yueping Taicang Litai Textile Technology Co. Ltd Executive Director 05. 2014 –

Zhang Yueping Jiangsu Weier Biotechnology Co. Ltd Chairman 09. 2010 –

Zhang Yueping Jiangsu Jinsheng International Trading Co. Ltd Executive Director 06. 2017 –

Zhang Yueping Maigaiti Litai Silk Road Textile Co. Ltd Supervisor 08. 2018 –

Zhang Yueping Kuitun Litai Silk Road Investment Co. Ltd Director 05. 2015 –

Zhang Yueping Taicang Litai Textile Factory Co. Ltd Deputy Chairman 06. 2008 –

Zhang Yueping Jiangsu Jintan Zhonghe Investment Co. Ltd Chairman of the Board of Supervisors 01. 2015 –

Zhang Yueping Alaer Litai Silk Road Investment Co. Ltd Director 05. 2018 –

Zhang Yueping Xinjiang Litai Silk Road Investment Co. Ltd Director 04. 2015 –

Zhang Yueping Litai Xingshi (Taicang) Holding Co. Ltd Director 03. 2015 –

Zhang Yueping Litai Silk Road Holding Co. Ltd Director 03. 2015 –

Zhang Yueping KOEPFER (Changzhou) Transmission Technology Co. Ltd Director 11. 2013 –

Zhang Yueping Changzhou Litai Textile Co. Ltd General Manager 08. 2019 –

Zhang Yueping EMAG (China) Machinery Co. Ltd Director 11. 2010 –

Zhang Yueping Xinjiang Jinsheng Enterprise Management Co. Ltd General Manager 04. 2017 –

Jin Hao Jiangsu Changjin Investment Co. Ltd Supervisor 01. 2009 –
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Name Name of other entities Position held Start of tenure End of tenure

Jin Hao Jiangsu Jinsheng Asset Management Co. Ltd Supervisor 10. 2015 –

Jin Hao Kuitun Litai Silk Road Investment Co. Ltd Supervisor 05. 2015 –

Jin Hao Alaer Litai Silk Road Investment Co. Ltd Supervisor 05. 2018 –

Jin Hao Xinjiang Litai Silk Road Investment Co. Ltd Supervisor 04. 2015 –

Jin Hao Litai Xingshi (Taicang) Holding Co. Ltd Supervisor 03. 2015 –

Jin Hao Litai Silk Road Holding Co. Ltd Supervisor 03. 2015 –

Jin Hao Changzhou Litai Textile Co. Ltd Supervisor 08. 2019 –

Jin Hao Xinjiang Jinsheng Enterprise Management Co. Ltd Supervisor 04. 2017 –

Jin Hao Jiangsu Jinsheng International Trading Co. Ltd Supervisor 06. 2017 –

Jin Hao Heberlein Ceramic Materials Co. Ltd Supervisor 01. 2015 –

Ding Yuan Man Wah Holdings Limited Independent Non-executive Director – –

Ding Yuan Jaccar Holdings Director – –

Ding Yuan Landsea Group Independent Non-executive Director 07. 2013 –

Ding Yuan China Europe International Business School (CEIBS) Vice President and Dean 09. 2006 –

Ding Yuan Adisseo Co. Ltd Independent Non-executive Director 10. 2018 –

Arthur Yeung Country Garden Holdings Limited Independent Non-executive Director 04. 2014 –

Arthur Yeung SITC International Holdings Co. Ltd Independent Non-executive Director 09. 2010 –

Arthur Yeung Tencent Group Senior Management Consultant – –

Arthur Yeung China Europe International Business School (CEIBS) Visiting Professor – –

Guido Spix Multivac Inc. President, CTO, COO – –

Dominique Turpin Waseda Business School Member of the Advisory Committee – –

Dominique Turpin IMD International Institute for Management Development Member of the Advisory Committee – –

Dominique Turpin ECAL University of Art and Design Member of the Advisory Committee – –

Dominique Turpin Singapore Management Review Editorial Consultant – –

Dominique Turpin DAA Capital Partners Chairman 01. 2019 –

Chen Jieping Shanghai La Chapelle Apparel Co. Ltd Independent Non-executive Director 05. 2017 05. 2020

Chen Jieping Shenzhen Worldunion Properties Consultancy Incorporated Independent Non-executive Director 09. 2016 09. 2019

Chen Jieping HJ Capital (International) Holdings Company Limited Independent Non-executive Director 07. 2014 07. 2020

Chen Jieping Jinmao (China) Hotel Investments and Management Co. Ltd Independent Non-executive Director 03. 2014 03. 2020

Xie Manlin Jiangsu Xie Manlin Law Firm Director 12. 1994 –

Xie Manlin Nanjing Putian Telecommunications Co. Ltd Independent Non-executive Director 08. 2017 08. 2020

Xie Manlin Jiangsu NandaSoft Technology Co. Ltd Independent Non-executive Director 06. 2011 12. 2020

Xie Manlin Xinyuan Fund Management Co. Ltd Director 11. 2019 –

3 Remuneration of Directors, Supervisors 
and Senior Executives

Decision-making procedure

The annual payable remuneration of Directors, Supervisors and Senior 
Executives is proposed by the Remuneration and Nomination Committee and 
submitted to the Board of Directors for approval. The remuneration of Directors, 
Supervisors and Senior Executives shall also be examined and approved by the 
AGM if it is within the AGM’s approval scope.

Basis

Members of the 9th Board of Directors receive a Director’s allowance from the 
Company. However, if a Non-independent Director holds a position in the 
Company, he will receive remuneration according to his post and will not be 
granted an additional allowance. Members of the 9th Board of Supervisors 
receive a Supervisor’s allowance from the Company. However, if a Supervisor 
holds a position in the Company, he will receive remuneration according to his 
post and will not be granted an additional allowance. Senior Executives of the 
Company receive remuneration according to the related personnel regulations 
for their posts, and the remuneration is composed of the base salary plus 
performance bonus.

Total remuneration actually received by the Directors, 
Supervisors and Senior Executives by the end of reporting period RMB 43 299 000 (before tax)
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4 Change in Directors, Superiors and 
Senior Executives

Name Position Change Reason for change

Cheng Rong 
Chief Human 
Resource Officer Employment New appointment 

Peter Moser
Chief Human 
Resource Officer Demission Resignation

Carsten 
Voigtländer

Vice Chairman, 
Director Election Election

5 Profile of employees of the parent 
company and main subsidiaries

(1) Employees

Number of employees in service in parent company 19

Number of employees in service in main subsidiaries 4 940

Total number of employees in service 4 959

Number of retired employees to be covered by 
parent company and main subsidiaries 2

(a) Professional composition

Category of professional composition Number of professionals

Production personnel 2 241

Procurement personnel 155

Warehousing and logistics personnel 423

Quality personnel 224

Customer service personnel 611

Sales personnel 386

R&D personnel 501

Management and administrative personnel 375

Apprentice 43

4 959

(b) Educational background

Highest qualification received Number of people

Master’s degree or above 440

Bachelor’s degree 994

Qualifications below university level 3 525

4 959

(2) Compensation policy
Saurer provides employees with compensation and 
social benefits competitive with the market. The Com-
pany awards annual performance bonuses based both 
on individual performance and that of the Company. For 
employees with outstanding performance, the Company 
offers promotion as well as salary adjustments. The Com-
pany also provides long-term incentives for employees. In 
Europe, for example, in addition to contributions made to 
statutory pension schemes, the Company funds addi-
tional pension plans based on local labour market regu-
lations. It also strives to motivate and retain employees 
in a number of different ways, including career develop-
ment strategies and profit sharing.

(3) Training scheme
(a)  Saurer has a training system to help employees 

acquire new knowledge and skills and grow their 
careers. In addition to regular multichannel employee 
communication, the Company has also established 
training and succession plans based on the identifica-
tion of key talents and has put career development 
processes in place.

(b) The Company’s employee training system includes 
onboard training and job skill training. Newly recruited 
employees grow and develop as they are given 
instructions and training by experienced staff, such as 
on-the-job training, technical skills training, and 
appraisals and evaluation. The Company also makes 
arrangements for employees to participate in a wide 
range of industrial management training opportuni-
ties, and technical exchange meetings are held regu-
larly to encourage employees to expand their con-
tacts in the industry while enhancing their business 
skills. These events raise employees’ awareness of the 
needs of both the industry and the Company. 

(4) Labour outsourcing

Total working hours of outsourced labour force 1 190 640

Total remuneration paid for outsourced labour force RMB 108 000 000
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8. Corporate 
governance report

1 Corporate governance

(1) Corporate governance
During the reporting period, the Company continuously 
improved its corporate governance structure and stand-
ardised its operations in strict accordance with the 
requirements of the Company Law, the Securities Law, 
Governance Guidelines for Listed Companies, the Shang-
hai Stock Exchange Listing Rules and the relevant regula-
tions of the China Securities Regulatory Commission and 
the Shanghai Stock Exchange, taking into account the 
actual situation of the Company. The AGM, the Board of 
Directors, the Board of Supervisors, the special commit-
tees of the Board of Directors and the management of 
the Company have been performing their respective 
duties in accordance with the law to effectively safe-
guard the interests of investors and the Company. The 
Company's corporate governance complies with the 
requirements of the Governance Guidelines for Listed 
Companies and other relevant provisions.

(a) Shareholders and Shareholders’ General Meetings
During the reporting period, the Company convened 
and held shareholders’ meetings in strict accordance 
with the relevant laws and regulations, the Articles of 
Association and the Rules of Procedure of the Share-
holders' General Meeting. Matters given careful con-
sideration included voting procedures, the equal 
treatment of all investors, and effective protection of 
the legitimate rights and interests of small and medi-
um-sized shareholders, as well as ensuring that every 
shareholder had the right to know and participate in 
company matters and exercise their voting rights in 
accordance with the law.

(b) Controlling shareholder and the Listed Company
During the reporting period, the controlling share-
holder of the Company conscientiously performed its 
fiduciary duty, acted legally and in compliance, exer-
cised its right as a shareholder at shareholders’ meet-
ings and did not directly or indirectly interfere with 
Company business activities and decision-making 
beyond the Shareholders' General Meeting and the 
Board of Directors.

(c) Directors and the Board of Directors
During the reporting period the number of members 
and composition of the Board of Directors complied 
with all the relevant laws and regulations as well as 
the requirements of the Articles of Association. The 
Board of Directors carried out its work in strict accord-
ance with all the relevant laws and regulations, the 
Articles of Association, the Rules of Procedure of the 
Board, the Work System for Independent Directors 
and the Implementation Details for the Special Com-
mittees of the Board of Directors. All Directors per-
formed their duties in good faith and diligence and 
received related training. Independent Directors per-
formed their duties independently to safeguard the 
overall interests of the Company and shareholders, 
and issued independent opinions on important and 
significant issues. The Strategy, Audit and Remunera-
tion and Nomination Committees under the Board of 
Directors fulfilled their remits, providing adequate 
protection for the decision-making of the Board and 
thus reducing risks.
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(d) Supervisors and the Board of Supervisors
During the reporting period, the number of members 
and composition of the Board of Supervisors complied 
with all the relevant laws and regulations, and the 
requirements of the Articles of Association. The Board 
of Supervisors carried out work in strict accordance 
with the relevant laws and regulations, the Articles of 
Association and the Rules of Procedure for the Board 
of Supervisors. They effectively supervised the Compa-
ny’s financial operations and ensured the lawful com-
pliance of Directors and Senior Executives in the per-
formance of their duties and acted to safeguard the 
overall interests of the Company and its shareholders.

(e) Information disclosure management and investor 
relations management
During the reporting period, the Company disclosed 
all information that might have had a significant 
impact on the production, operation and share price 
of the Company in a true, accurate, complete, timely 
and fair manner. This was done in strict accordance 
with the relevant laws and regulations, such as the 
Company Law and Securities Law, the Administrative 
Measures for the Disclosure of Information by Listed 
Companies and the Rules Governing the Listing of 
Stocks on Shanghai Stock Exchange. Disclosures 
included the provisions regarding company regula-
tions, such as the Articles of Association, the Informa-
tion Disclosure Management System, the Information 
Disclosure Delay and Exemption Business Manage-
ment System and Investor Relations Management. 
These disclosures were made to ensure full company 
transparency and also to warrant that all sharehold-
ers of the Company have equal access to company 
information. The Company attaches great impor-
tance to the management of investor relations and 
has strengthened its communication with investors 
through various channels such as the investor hotline, 
email, the Shanghai Stock Exchange’s e-interaction 
platform and investor meetings or road shows. The 
Company values the opinions and suggestions of 
investors and safeguards the legitimate rights and 
interests of all investors.

(2) Insider information registration management
During the reporting period, the Company was in strict 
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations gov-
erning insider information and the Insider Registration 
Management System, as well as the registration and 
recording of relevant personnel involved with insider 
information about periodic company reports, major 
asset restructuring and other relevant issues. During the 
reporting period, there was no occurrence of the use of 
insider information to buy or sell company shares before 
disclosure of material and sensitive information that 
might have affected the Company share price. No inves-
tigations were made of the Company by the regulatory 
authorities, and there were no requests made for any rec-
tification during this period.

2 Extraordinary Shareholders’ General 
Meetings and Annual Shareholders’ 
General Meeting

Session Date Reference website
Disclosure  

date

First EGM  
in 2019 16. 01. 19

Website of Shanghai Stock 
Exchange (www.sse.com.cn), 
ad hoc 2019-001 17. 01. 19

Second EGM  
in 2019 12. 04. 19

Website of Shanghai Stock 
Exchange (www.sse.com.cn), 
ad hoc 2019-013 13. 04. 19

AGM for 2018 28. 05. 19

Website of Shanghai Stock 
Exchange (www.sse.com.cn), 
ad hoc 2019-029 29. 05. 19

Third EGM  
in 2019 18. 09. 19

Website of Shanghai Stock 
Exchange (www.sse.com.cn), 
ad hoc 2019-052 19. 09. 19

Note: the Company held one AGM and three EGMs during the reporting 
period. All proposals submitted by the Company’s Board of Directors to 
the shareholders were approved at the AGM and EGMs.
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3 Board matters

(1) Directors’ attendance at board meetings and 
shareholders’ meetings

Attendance at board meetings

Attendance at 
shareholders’ 

meetings

Director name
Independent 
Director

Required number  
of board meetings  

for the year
Attendance  

in person
Attendance by 

corre spondence
Represented 

by proxy Absences

Two 
successive 
absences Attendances

Pan Xueping No 7 7 5 0 0 No 3

Stefan Kross No 7 7 5 0 0 No 0

Carsten Voigtländer No 7 7 5 0 0 No 0

Clement Woon No 7 7 5 0 0 No 0

Ding Yuan No 7 7 5 0 0 No 0

Arthur Yeung No 7 7 5 0 0 No 0

Ye Guan No 7 7 5 0 0 No 1

Guido Spix Yes 7 7 5 0 0 No 0

Dominique Turpin Yes 7 7 5 0 0 No 0

Chen Jieping Yes 7 7 5 0 0 No 1

Xie Manlin Yes 7 7 5 0 0 No 1

Number of board meetings held in 2019 7

Including: number of on-site meetings 2

Number of meetings by correspondence 5

Number of on-site meetings combined  
with other methods of correspondence 0

4 Establishment and implementation  
of the appraisal and incentive  
mechanisms for Senior Executives

During the reporting period, the Company determined the 
remuneration for Senior Executives according to the exist-
ing plan, which was examined and approved by the Board 
of Directors. Senior Executives received their remunera-
tion according to the relevant requirements for the posi-
tions held, and the remuneration was composed of base 
salary plus performance bonus. The Company appraised 
the performance of Senior Executives based on comple-
tion of the Company’s annual operating plan and the 
completion of personal work goals. All assessments were 
made objectively and correctly, and company perfor-
mance appraisal plans were co-implemented with the 
rules and regulations on incentives and penalties.
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5 Disclosure of internal control  
self-assessment report

In accordance with “The Basic Standard for Enterprise 
Internal Control" and other related internal control regu-
lations, the Board of Directors assessed the effectiveness 
of the Company’s internal controls in 2019. For details, 
please refer to the “Saurer Intelligent Technology 2019 
Internal Control Evaluation Report” disclosed by the 
Company through the Shanghai Stock Exchange, the 
Securities Times, Securities Daily and Shanghai Securities 
News on 11 April 2020.

6 Audit report for the Company’s  
internal control

The Company engaged PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) 
to conduct an audit on the effectiveness of the Company's 
internal control on financial reporting and issued the 
Saurer Intelligent 2019 Internal Control Audit Report. The 
details can be found in the Company's Internal Control 
Audit Report 2019 of Saurer Intelligent (PwC Zhong Tian, 
Special Audit No. 1649 [2020]), disclosed on 30 June 2020 
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, Securities Times, Secu-
rities Daily and Shanghai Securities News.
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9. Financial  
statements and 
auditor's report 
for the year ended 31 December 2019

Important notes

English translation of the financial statements
The English translation is for reference only. Should 
there be any inconsistency between the Chinese and 
English versions, the Chinese version shall prevail. The 
English names of certain Chinese companies repre-
sent the English translation. They are used for identi-
fication purposes only as no English names have 
been registered.

Financial figures/amounts
All amounts in the report are in thousand RMB unless 
otherwise stated.
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To the Shareholders of Saurer Intelligent Technology Co. Ltd

Qualified opinion

What we have audited
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of 
Saurer Intelligent Technology Co. Ltd (hereinafter “Saurer 
Intelligent”), which comprise:

 ʸ the consolidated and company balance sheets  
as at 31 December 2019; 

 ʸ the consolidated and company income statements  
for the year then ended;

 ʸ the consolidated and company cash flow statements  
for the year then ended;

 ʸ the consolidated and company statements of changes  
in shareholders’ equity for the year then ended; and

 ʸ notes to the financial statements.

Our qualified opinion
In our opinion, except for the effects of the matters described 
in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report, the 
accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, the consolidated and company’s financial 
position of Saurer Intelligent Group as at 31 December 2019, 
and their financial performance and cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with the requirements of the Chi-
nese Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises (“CASs”). 

Basis for qualified opinion 
In 2019, Saurer Intelligent Technology Co. Ltd and its subsidi-
aries (hereinafter “Saurer Intelligent Group”) had fund trans-
actions amounting to RMB 2 592 million with Saurer Intelli-
gent Group’s related party Xinjiang Litai Silk Road Investment 
Co. Ltd and its related parties (hereinafter “Litai Company”). 
As described in the following note (1) and note (2), Saurer 
Intelligent Group refunded and re-received payments for 
machines sales amounting to RMB 2 212 million to and from 
Litai Company. As described in the following note (3), Saurer 
Intelligent Group received payments amounting to RMB 380 
million from Litai Company and then refunded to Litai Com-
pany. Details of these fund transactions are as follows:

(1) Litai Company planned to make partial payment of 
machines with earmarked project financing from share-
holders and earmarked project financing from banks. Due 
to the uncertainty associated with obtaining the ear-
marked project financing, Litai Company made payments 
to Saurer Intelligent Group with its own funds in advance, 
and requested Saurer Intelligent Group to refund the 
advance payments when the earmarked project financ-
ing was confirmed, and then Litai Company made pay-
ments with the earmarked project financing to Saurer 
Intelligent Group. In 2019, Saurer Intelligent Group agreed 
to refund RMB 936.7 million to Xinjiang Litai Silk Road 
Investment Co. Ltd and RMB 34 million to Kuitun Litai Silk 
Road Investment Co. Ltd. Within 1-1.5 months after the 
refund, Saurer Intelligent Group received the earmarked 
project financing amounting to RMB 460.2 million from 
Xinjiang Litai Silk Road Investment Co. Ltd and earmarked 
project financing amounting to RMB 510.5 million from 
Kuitun Litai Silk Road Investment Co. Ltd. In 2018, the cash 
inflow and outflow of such transactions amounted to RMB 
483.6 million respectively.

(2) Litai Company purchased machines from the overseas 
(non-Chinese) subsidiaries of Saurer Intelligent Group, 
which were required to be paid in foreign currencies. Due 
to the uncertainty associated with obtaining foreign cur-
rency payment quota, Litai Company made payment to 
Chinese subsidiaries of Saurer Intelligent Group with its 
own funds in advance, and requested Saurer Intelligent 
Group to refund the advance payments after completing 
the foreign exchange application procedures, and then 
paid the exchanged foreign currencies to Saurer Intelligent 
Group’s subsidiaries outside China. In 2019, Saurer Intelli-
gent Group agreed to refund RMB 1 239.8 million to Xinjiang 
Litai Silk Road Investment Co. Ltd, and RMB 1.5 million to 
Kuitun Litai Silk Road Investment Co. Ltd. Within 1-6 
months after the refund, Saurer Intelligent Group received 
RMB 942.5 million from Xinjiang Litai Silk Road Investment 
Co. Ltd, RMB 226.6 million from Kuitun Litai Silk Road 
Investment Co. Ltd and RMB 72.2 million from Maigaiti Litai 
Silk Road Textile Co. Ltd. In 2018, the cash inflow and out-
flow of such transactions amounted to RMB 1 254.5 million 
respectively.

Auditor's report 



Financial statements and auditor's report 71

(3) In 2019, as explained by management, Litai Company 
agreed to make payments to Saurer (Shanghai) Textile 
Machinery Technology Co. Ltd, and Saurer (Shanghai) 
Textile Machinery Technology Co. Ltd then made goods 
payments in foreign currencies to the non-Chinese subsid-
iaries of Saurer Intelligent Group in order to support those 
subsidiaries’ temporary needs for funds to repay loans 
and working capital. The domestic subsidiaries of Saurer 
Intelligent Group repaid the equivalent RMB sum to Litai 
Company later. In 2019, Saurer Intelligent Group received 
such payments from Xinjiang Litai Silk Road Investment 
Co. Ltd and Kuitun Litai Silk Road Investment Co. Ltd 
amounting to RMB 300 million and RMB 80 million respec-
tively. Within 7 days after the receipt, Saurer Intelligent 
Group’s domestic subsidiaries repaid RMB 380 million to 
Xinjiang Litai Silk Road Investment Co. Ltd. There was no 
such transaction in 2018.

Management disclosed the net value of above mentioned cash 
inflow and outflow in “Cash received from sales of goods or 
rendering of services” in the consolidated cash flow statement.

From 1 January 2020 to the signing date of our auditor’s 
report, Saurer Intelligent Group refunded RMB 2 618.9 million 
to Litai Company due to reasons described in note (1) and 
note (2), and as of the signing date of our auditor’s report, 
relevant repayments amounting to RMB 2 618.9 million from 
Litai Company have been received.

Considering Saurer Intelligent Group’s accounts receivables 
resulted from the sales to Litai Company have no fixed credit 
term in practice, payments from Litai Company were in bulk 
and not able to be matched with each specific sales order, 
the refund and repayment transactions are without written 
arrangements between Saurer Intelligent Group and Litai 
Company, and documents of relevant payments and receipts 
failed to provide evidences and demonstrate the linkage 
between those financing transactions described in note (1), 
(2) and (3), thus we did not obtain sufficient and appropriate 
audit evidence to support whether the financing transactions 
amounting to RMB 2 592 million between Saurer Intelligent 
Group and Litai Company were related to operating activi-
ties, and we were also unable to perform other necessary 
alternative procedures. Therefore, we are not able to deter-
mine whether the financing transactions above were operat-
ing cash flow, and we are unable to confirm whether it is 
necessary to make adjustments to items in the consolidated 
cash flow statements, including “Cash received relating to 
other operating activities”, “Cash paid relating to other oper-
ating activities”, “Cash received relating to other investing 
activities”, “Cash paid relating to other investing activities”, 
“Cash received from other financing activities” and “Cash 
paid relating to other financing activities”.

In addition, Saurer Intelligent Group did not disclose the 
transaction type and transaction details such as transaction 
amount and further information on the above financing 
transactions which does not comply with the requirements of 
CAS No. 31 — cash flow statements, CAS No. 36 — related 
party disclosures and Compilation Rules for Information Dis-
closure by Companies Offering Securities to the Public No. 15 
- General Rules on Financial Reporting issued by China Secu-
rities Regulatory Commission (CSRC), and it would lead to a 
significant influence on users’ understanding of the financial 
statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with China Standards 
on Auditing (“CSAs”). Our responsibilities under those stand-
ards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suf-
ficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified 
opinion.
 
We are independent of Saurer Intelligent in accordance with 
the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants of the Chi-
nese Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“CICPA Code”), 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the CICPA Code.
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Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the finan-
cial statements of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial state-
ments as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
Except for the content included in the basis for qualified opin-
ion, key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised 
as follows:

 ʸ impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with 
indefinite useful lives;

 ʸ related party sales;
 ʸ significant sales to new third-party customers. 

 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

(A) Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives 

Refer to note 2 (45) (b) (ii), note 4 (27) and note 4 (28) to the consolidated 
financial statements

The goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives (trademarks) 
of Saurer Intelligent Machinery Co. Ltd were recognised for the acquisition 
of natural fibre spinning business and component business from OC 
Oerlikon in 2013. As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amounts of 
goodwill and trademarks amounted to RMB 625 million and RMB 892 
million, respectively. Their carrying amounts represented 4.7 % and 6.8 % of 
total assets, and 9.9 % and 14.1 % of net assets of Saurer Intelligent Group, 
respectively.

In carrying out the impairment assessment of goodwill and trademarks, 
Saurer Intelligent Group uses the discounted cash flow method (“DCF”)  
to determine the recoverable amounts of goodwill and trademarks. 
Management assessed whether the recoverable amounts of the  
cash generating unit (“CGU”) is lower than its carrying amount. Key 
assumptions adopted and judgments exercised in the preparation of  
the DCF mainly included sales growth rates, brand commission rate,  
gross margin rates and discount rates.

We placed our audit emphasis on this matter because of the significance 
of the carrying amounts of goodwill and trademarks and the significant 
judgments and assumptions involved in determining the recoverable 
amounts of the CGUs.

In testing the impairment of goodwill and trademarks, we  
performed the procedures as set out below:

 ʸ understood, evaluated and tested internal process and key  
controls implemented by the management of Saurer Intelligent 
Group for the impairment testing of goodwill and trademarks;

 ʸ evaluated the reasonableness of financial budget prepared by 
management by comparing the actual financial performance of the 
current year with the budget used in last year's impairment test;

 ʸ evaluated whether the methodology adopted by management to 
determine CGU is appropriate;

 ʸ obtained the DCF model from the management, understood and 
evaluated whether the methodology adopted by management is 
appropriate;

 ʸ obtained key assumptions adopted and judgments exercised in 
preparation of the DCF model, including sales growth rate, brand 
commission rate, gross margin and discount rates. In respect of the 
financial budget used in the model, we compared it with the actual 
financial performance of the current year, as well as benchmarking 
it against industry practice and data; in respect of the sales growth 
rate, we compared them to the historical sales growth rate and 
industry data. In respect of the predicted gross margin, we 
compared it with past gross margin rates and took the market 
trends into account. In respect of the brand commission rate and 
the discount rates, we estimated the range independently and 
compared with the discounting rate applied in the DCF model. In 
addition, we performed a sensitivity analysis to evaluate the 
reasonableness of the key assumptions and parameters adopted by 
the management; and 

 ʸ tested the mathematical accuracy of underlying DCF calculations.

Based on the audit procedures performed above, we found the key 
assumptions adopted and estimates made by the management  
in determining the recoverable amounts of goodwill and trademarks 
to be supportable based on the evidence we gathered.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

(B) Related party transactions

Refer to note 2 (40) and note 8 (5) (a) to the consolidated financial 
statements

In 2019, the total sales of Saurer Intelligent Group to its related parties, 
Litai Xingshi (Taicang) Holding Co. Ltd and its subsidiaries (collectively 
known as “Litai Xingshi”) amounted to RMB 1.98 billion, accounting for 
23.1 % of Saurer Intelligent Group’s total sales of the year. Litai Xingshi 
purchased machines from Saurer Intelligent Group for its own production 
and operations.

We placed our audit emphasis on this matter because of the significance 
of the related party sales amount to Litai Xingshi, and comparing  
to third-party sales, related party transactions (including transaction 
pricing) are an audit focus area.

In auditing Saurer Intelligent Group's sales to Litai Xingshi, we 
performed the procedures as set out below:

 ʸ understood, evaluated and tested the processes of related party 
transactions and key management internal controls;

 ʸ reviewed the sales contracts and interviewed the management 
to understand and evaluate the pricing policy of related party 
transactions and its reasonableness and consistency. We also 
compared the sales to related party with the sales to third parties;

 ʸ performed an on-site visit to Litai Xingshi, inspected the machines 
purchased from Saurer Intelligent Group in 2019 on a sample 
basis, understood the construction plan and progress of Litai 
Xingshi’s plants, and compared its demand of machines and the 
installation progress of those machines purchased from Saurer 
Intelligent Group;

 ʸ conducted tests on the sales from Saurer Intelligent Group to  
Litai Xingshi on a sample basis, by tracing to the risk and rewards 
clauses in the relevant sales contracts and corresponding 
supporting documents such as customs declaration documents, 
invoices, and receipt of goods; 

 ʸ tested the revenue recognised before and post year-end to 
ensure that the relevant sales were recorded in the correct 
financial period; and

 ʸ sent confirmations to Litai Xingshi to confirm the amount of sales 
transactions in 2019 and balances as at 31 December 2019 
between Saurer Intelligent Group and Litai Xingshi.

Based on the audit procedures performed above, we found  
Saurer Intelligent Group’s revenue recognition for sales to Litai Xingshi 
is in compliance with its revenue recognition accounting policies.

(C) Significant sales to new third-party customers 

Refer to note 2 (40), note 2 (45), note 4 (14) and note 7 to the consolidated 
financial statements

In 2019, the total sales of Saurer Intelligent Group to a new third-party 
customer amounted to RMB 962.4 million, accounting for 11.2 % of  
Saurer Intelligent Group’s total sales of the year. The customer purchased 
machines from Saurer Intelligent Group for its own production and 
operations. As the construction of this customer’s new factory was not 
completed, Saurer Intelligent Group’s related party kept custody of these 
machines on behalf of this customer. As of 31 December 2019, Saurer 
Intelligent Group had not received any payment from this new customer. 
Up to the signing date of this audit report, Saurer Intelligent Group has 
received RMB 105 million from this customer.

In 2019, the total sales of Saurer Intelligent Group to three new third-party 
customers (collectively referred to as “the Three Customers”) amounted to 
RMB 451.5 million, accounting for 5.3 % of Saurer Intelligent Group’s total 
sales of the year. As of 31 December 2019, Saurer Intelligent Group 
received RMB 26.7 million from the Three Customers. Up to the signing 
date of this audit report, Saurer Intelligent Group has received RMB 104.7 
million from the Three Customers.

The third-party customers mentioned above are all new customers and 
there were no transactions in previous years. The sales mode was not 
widely used in Saurer Intelligent Group in previous years. Due to the signif-
icance of the sales amount and the significant judgments involved in 
revenue recognition, we placed audit emphasis on this matter.

In auditing Saurer Intelligent Group's significant sales to the new 
third-party customers, we performed the procedures as set out below:

 ʸ understood, evaluated and tested Saurer Intelligent Group’s 
relevant internal control processes for customers acceptance  
and significant judgments;

 ʸ reviewed the sales framework agreements, sales contracts and 
interviewed management to understand and evaluate the 
business rationale and reasonableness; 

 ʸ understood the source of funds for payment from customers,  
the schedule and status of financing arrangements, reviewed 
payments from customers up to the signing date of the audit 
report, traced the payer information to the contract party 
information of sales contracts, confirmed the source of fund for 
the payment and whether the purpose is to settle machine 
procurements by interviewing customers and performing 
confirmation procedures;

 ʸ for the sales of machines that Saurer Intelligent Group’s related 
party kept custody of on behalf of a certain customer, interviewed 
this customer to understand and evaluate the business rationale 
and reasonableness, reviewed the custody agreement, 
performed a site visit of the warehouse, counted the machines 
sold to the customer;

 ʸ conducted tests on these sales by examining the risk and reward 
clauses in the sales contracts and corresponding supporting 
documents such as customs declaration documents, goods 
delivery notes, receipt of goods, invoices and sending 
confirmations to carriers; and

 ʸ sent confirmations to the customers to confirm the amount of 
sales transactions in 2019 and balances as at 31 December 2019.

Based on the above audit procedures performed, Saurer Intelligent 
Group’s significant judgment involved in the revenue recognition of 
significant sales to new third-party customers is supportable based 
on the evidence we gathered.
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Other information 
The management of Saurer Intelligent Group is responsible 
for the other information. The other information comprises  
all of the information included in the 2019 annual report of 
Saurer Intelligent Group other than the financial statements 
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the 
other information and we do not express any form of assur-
ance or conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we con-
clude that there is a material misstatement of this other infor-
mation, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing 
to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the management and  
the Audit Committee for the financial statements
The management of Saurer Intelligent Group is responsible 
for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with the CAS, and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of the financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing these financial statements, the management is 
responsible for assessing Saurer Intelligent Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, mat-
ters related to a going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the management either intends to 
liquidate Saurer Intelligent or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing Saurer 
Intelligent Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether these financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasona-
ble assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guar-
antee that an audit conducted in accordance with CSAs will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Mis-
statements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could rea-
sonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with CSA we exercise pro-
fessional judgment and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

 ʸ identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control; 

 ʸ obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to 
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in these circumstances;

 ʸ evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the management;

 ʸ conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of 
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on Saurer Intelligent Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in these financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause Saurer Intelligent Group to cease to continue 
as a going concern;

 ʸ evaluate the overall presentation (including the 
disclosures), structure and content of the financial 
statements, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation; and
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 ʸ obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding 
the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within Saurer Intelligent Group to express an 
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies 
in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we 
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and communicate to them all relationships and 
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated to the Audit Committee, we 
determine those matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the financial statements of the year 2019 and are there-
fore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public dis-
closure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circum-
stances, we determine that a matter should not be communi-
cated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public inter-
est benefits of such communication.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian LLP
Shanghai, the People’s Republic of China

Signing CPA 
Sun Ying 
Engagement Partner

Signing CPA 
Zhang Weibin

[29 June 2020] 
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Consolidated and Company balance sheets
as at 31 December 2019

Assets

Current assets Note

31 December
2019

Consolidated

31 December
2018

Consolidated

31 December
2019

Company

31 December
2018

Company

Cash at bank and on hand 4 (1), 14 (1) 2 402 917 3 720 401 456 902 63

Financial assets held for trading 4 (3) 6 310 – – –

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 4 (2) – 4 966 – –

Notes receivables – 113 322 – –

Accounts receivables 4 (5) 4 163 086 3 234 982 – –

Factoring of accounts receivables 4 (6) 7 025 – – –

Advances to suppliers 4 (8) 117 643 132 958 – –

Other receivables 4 (7), 14 (2) 29 621 255 962 871 871

Inventories 4 (9) 1 696 138 1 762 645 – –

Other current assets 4 (11) 207 711 1 301 055 57 – 

Total current assets 8 630 451 10 526 291 457 830 934

Non-current assets

Long-term receivables 4 (10) 463 231 42 951 – –

Long-term equity investments 14 (3) – – 10 452 842 10 452 842

Fixed assets 4 (12) 1 308 481  903 000 –  – 

Construction in progress 4 (13) 381 898 465 036 – – 

Intangible assets 4 (14) 1 270 810  1 290 712 –  – 

Development costs 4 (14) 181 951  90 417 – –

Goodwill 4 (15) 624 922  615 137 – –

Long-term prepaid expenses 4 (16) 2 913  4 121 – –

Deferred tax assets 4 (17) 110 530  50 457 – –

Other non-current assets 4 (19) 228 784  427 584 – –

Total non-current assets 4 573 520 3 889 415 10 452 842  10 452 842

Total assets 13 203 971 14 415 706 10 910 672  10 453 776

Financial statements
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Liabilities and owners’ equity

Current liabilities Note

31 December
2019

Consolidated

31 December
2018

Consolidated

31 December
2019

Company

31 December
2018

Company

Short-term borrowings 4 (20) 2 241 300  1 499 334 741 734 100 000

Financial liabilities held for trading 4 (3) 10 478 – – –

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 4 (2) –  5 416 – –

Notes payables 4 (21) 57 000 100 000 – –

Accounts payables 4 (22) 1 586 229 1 447 131 – –

Advances from customers 4 (23) , 7 (5) (c) 260 616  586 799 – –

Employee benefits payable 4 (24) 264 419 274 665 585 569

Taxes payable 4 (25) 225 445  291 390 1 618  4 085

Other payables 4 (26) 465 382 377 032 1 202 001 885 023

Current portion of non-current liabilities 4 (27) 760 284  733 820 – –

Total current liabilities 5 871 153 5 315 587 1 945 938 989 677

Non-current liabilities

Long-term borrowings 4 (28) 450 000  2 552 138 – –

Provisions 4 (29) 16 040  10 338 – –

Long-term employee benefits payable 4 (30) 404 415  336 724 – –

Deferred tax liabilities 4 (17) 125 804  183 558 – –

Deferred revenue 4 (31) 4 760 29 586 4 560 4 560

Total non-current liabilities 1 001 019 3 112 344 4 560 4 560

Total liabilities 6 872 172 8 427 931 1 950 498 994 237

Owners' equity

Paid-in capital 4 (32) 1 895 413  1 895 413 1 895 413 1 895 413

Capital surplus 4 (34) 1 579 834 1 579 834 6 857 481 6 857 481

Less: treasury shares 4 (32) –108 931 – –108 931 –

Other comprehensive income 4 (33) 3 831  –48 440 1 534 1 534

Special reserve – – 1 447 1 447

Surplus reserve 4 (34) 48 742  48 742 205 662  205 662

Retained earnings 4 (36) 1 523 915  1 177 607 107 568 498 002

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 4 942 804 4 653 156 8 960 174 9 459 539 

Non-controlling interests 1 388 995 1 334 619 – –

Total owners' equity 6 331 799  5 987 775 8 960 174 9 459 539

Total liabilities and owners' equity 13 203 971 14 415 706 10 910 672  10 453 776 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
Legal representative: Pan Xueping. Principal in charge of accounting: Lu Yimin. Head of accounting department: Lu Yimin
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Consolidated and Company income statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

Note

31 December
2019

Consolidated

31 December
2018

Consolidated

31 December
2019

Company

31 December
2018

Company

1. Revenue 4 (34), 14 (4) 8 575 309 9 220 759 140 045 –

Less: cost of sales 4 (37), 4 (43), 14 (4) –6 024 662 –6 571 207 –140 045 –

 ʸ Taxes and surcharges 4 (38) –29 471 –19 911 –123 –667

 ʸ Selling and distribution expenses 4 (39), 4 (43) –498 664 –568 699 –23 698 –539

 ʸ General and administrative expenses 4 (40), 4 (43) –379 477 –382 922 –101 983 –91 122

 ʸ Research and development expenses 4 (41), 4 (43) –460 291  –475 204 – –

 ʸ Financial income – net 4 (42) –168 920 –139 160 –20 316 –22 018

 ʸ Including: Interest expense –93 172 –108 600 –15 828 –21 165

 ʸ Interest income 9 097 8 819 77 12

Add: other income 4 (46) 13 435 1 017 – –

 ʸ Investment income 4 (47) 11 578 88 249 – –

 ʸ Including: shares of losses in associates and joint ventures – –350 – –

 ʸ Profit arising from changes in fair value – 390 – –

 ʸ Credit impairment loss 4 (45) –21 168 – – –

 ʸ Asset impairment losses 4 (18), 4 (44) –19 966 –53 193 – –

 ʸ Income from asset disposal 4 (48) 138 148 – –

2. Operating profit 997 841 1 100 267 –146 120 –114 346

Add: non-operating income 4 (49) 28 826 46 560 – –

Less: non-operating expenses 4 (50) –115 756 –895 –8 –

3. Profit/(losses) before tax 910 911 1 145 932 –146 128 –114 346

Less: income tax expenses 4 (51) –120 748 –288 882 – –

4. Net profit/(losses) 790 163 857 050 –146 128 –114 346

Classification by business continuity

 ʸ Net income from continuing operations 790 163 857 050 –146 128 –114 346

 ʸ Net income from discontinuing operations – – – –

Classification by attribution of the ownership

 ʸ Attributable to equity holders of the Company 608 934 810 294 – –

 ʸ Non-controlling interests 181 229 46 756 – –

5. Other comprehensive income, net of tax 4 (33) 64 814 74 948 – –

Other comprehensive income attributable to equity holders of the Company, net of tax

Other comprehensive income items which will not be reclassified to profit or loss

 ʸ Changes in measurement of defined benefit plans assets/liabilities –60 670 7 402 – –

Other comprehensive income items which will be reclassified to profit or loss

 ʸ Effective part of cash flow hedges –46 –820 – –

 ʸ Foreign currency translation difference 112 987 68 366 – –

Other comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests, net of tax 12 543 – – –

6. Total comprehensive income 854 977 931 998 –146 128 –114 346

Attributable to equity holders of the Company 661 205 885 242 – –

Attributable to non-controlling interests 193 772 46 756 – –

7. Earnings per share 4 (35)

Basic earnings per share in yuan 0.3218 0.4275 – –

Diluted earnings per share in yuan 0.3218 0.4275 – –

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
Legal representative: Pan Xueping. Principal in charge of accounting: Lu Yimin. Head of accounting department: Lu Yimin
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Consolidated and Company cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December 2019

1. Cash flows from operating activities  Note

31 December
2019

Consolidated

31 December
2018

Consolidated

31 December
2019

Company

31 December
2018

Company

Cash received from sales of goods or rendering of services 6 895 669 7 733 608 – –

Cash received relating to other operating activities 4 (52) (a) 30 188 18 380 609 077 12

Subtotal of cash inflows 6 925 857  7 751 988 609 077 12

Cash paid for goods and services –4 286 409 –5 972 799 –164 635 –

Cash paid to and on behalf of employees –1 713 637 –1 749 624 –3 383 –2 246

Payments of taxes and surcharges –530 174 –385 963 –1 962 –33 404

Cash paid relating to other operating activities 4 (52) (b) –648 370 –686 365 –695 206 –24 138

Subtotal of cash outflows –7 178 590 –8 794 751 –865 186 –59 788

Net cash flows used in operating activities 4 (53) (a) –252 733 –1 042 763 –256 109  –59 776

2. Cash flows from investing activities 

Cash received from restricted cash and deposit 848 559  415 715 – –

Investment profit received 653 – – –

Cash received from disposal of fixed assets,  
intangible assets and other long-term assets 9 875 2 140 – –

Interest received 28 621 134 327 – –

Cash received from repayment by third parties 645 320  125 808 – –

Cash received relating to other investing activities 4 (52) (c) 1 103 662 9 000 000 – –

Subtotal of cash inflows 2 636 690  9 677 990 – –

Cash paid to acquire fixed assets, intangible assets and other long-term assets –399 880 –683 593 – –

Cash paid for loans to third parties –442 820 –202 500 – –

Cash paid for restricted cash and deposit –407 673  –885 459 – –

Cash paid relating to other investing activities 4 (52) (d) –  –5 601 724 –10 010 –

Subtotal of cash outflows –1 250 373 –7 373 276 –10 010 –

Net cash flows from/used in investing activities 1 386 317 2 304 714 –10 010 –

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
Legal representative: Pan Xueping. Principal in charge of accounting: Lu Yimin. Head of accounting department: Lu Yimin
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Consolidated and Company cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December 2019

3. Cash flows from financing activities  Note

31 December
2019

Consolidated

31 December
2018

Consolidated

31 December
2019

Company

31 December
2018

Company

Cash received from capital contributions – 3 000 000 – –

Including: cash received from capital contributions  
by non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries – 3 000 000 – –

Cash received from bank borrowings 2 240 921 1 731 437 791 620 100 000

Cash received from related party borrowings – 3 000 609 850 85 820

Cash received from other financing activities 64 000 – – –

Subtotal of cash inflows 2 304 921 4 734 437 1 401 470 185 820

Cash repayments of bank borrowings –3 631 913 –672 698 –150 000 –

Cash paid for repayment of related party borrowings – –14 917 –151 547 –106 000

Dividend distributed to non-controlling interests of subsidiaries –470 292 –270 882 –278 044 –20 714

Including: dividends distributed to non-controlling interests of subsidiaries –135 000 –145 086 – –

Cash paid to acquire non-controlling  
interests of subsidiaries in subsidiaries liquidation – –4 200 000 – –

Cash paid for other financing activities 4 (52) (e) –197 548 –60 000 –108 931 –

Subtotal of cash outflows –4 299 753 –5 218 497 –688 522 –126 714

Net cash flows used in/from financing activities –1 994 832 –484 060 712 948 59 106

4. Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents –350 –668 – –839

5. Net decrease/increase in cash and cash equivalents 4 (53) (d) –861 598 777 223 446 829 –1 509

Add: cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 2 834 939 2 057 716 63 1 572

6. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 4 (53) (c) 1 973 341 2 834 939 446 892 63

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
Legal representative: Pan Xueping. Principal in charge of accounting: Lu Yimin. Head of accounting department: Lu Yimin
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Consolidated statement of changes in owners' equity
for the year ended 31 December 2019 

Equity attributable to the parent company

Note
Paid-in 
capital 

Capital 
surplus 

Other comprehensive  
income 

Surplus 
reserve 

Undistributed 
profits 

Non-controlling 
interests 

Total owners' 
equity 

Balance at 1 January 2018 1 895 413 – –123 388 48 742 386 267 4 298 330 6 505 364

Movements for the year  
ended 31 December 2018

Comprehensive income  

Net profit  –  – – – 810 294 46 756 857 050

Other comprehensive income 4 (33) – – 74 948 –  –  – 74 948

Total comprehensive income  –  –  74 948  –  810 294  46 756  931 998

Capital contribution and 
withdrawal by owners    

 ʸ Capital invested by owners 4 (34) – 1 579 834  –  – – 1 334 619 2 914 453 

 ʸ Capital repaid to non-con-
trolling interests of subsidiaries 
in subdiaries liquidation

5 (1) 
(b) – – – – – –4 200 000 –4 200 000

Profit distribution

 ʸ Dividend payment 4 (36) – – – – –18 954 –145 086 –164 040

Balance at 31 December 2018 1 895 413 1 579 834 –48 440 48 742 1 177 607 1 334 619 5 987 775

Equity attributable to the parent company
Non–controlling 

interests
Total owners' 

equity

Note
Paid–in 
capital 

Capital 
surplus 

Less:
treasury 

shares

Other  
comprehensive 

income 
Surplus 
reserve 

Undistributed 
profits 

Paid-in  
capital

Capital 
surplus

Balance at 31 December 2018 1 895 413 1 579 834 – –48 440 48 742 1 177 607 1 334 619 5 987 775

Changes in accounting policies 2 (28) – – – – – –18 320 –4 396 –22 716

Balance at 1 January 2019 1 895 413 1 579 834 – –48 440 48 742 1 159 287 1 330 223 5 965 059

Movements for the year  
ended 31 December 2019

Comprehensive income

Net profit – – – – – 608 934 181 229 790 163

Other comprehensive income 4 (33) – – – 52 271 – – 12 543 64 814

Total comprehensive income – – – 52 271 – 608 934 193 772 854 977

Repurchase of treasury shares 4 (32) – – –108 931 – – – – –108 931

Profit distribution

 ʸ Dividend payment 4 (36) – – – – – –244 306 –135 000 –379 306

Balance at 31 December 2019 1 895 413 1 579 834 –108 931 3 831 48 742 1 523 915 1 388 995 6 331 799

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
Legal representative: Pan Xueping. Principal in charge of accounting: Lu Yimin. Head of accounting department: Lu Yimin
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Company statement of changes in owners' equity
for the year ended 31 December 2019

Note
Paid-in 
capital 

Capital 
surplus 

Less:
treasury 

shares 

Other  
comprehensive 

income 
Special
reserve

Surplus 
reserve 

Undistributed 
profits 

Total owners' 
equity 

Balance at 1 January 2018 1 895 413 6 857 481 – 1 534 1 447  205 662 631 302 9 592 839

Movements for the year  
ended 31 December 2018

Total comprehensive income

Net loss – – – – – – –114 346 –114 346

Other comprehensive income – – – – – – – –

Total comprehensive income – – – – – – –114 346 –114 346

Capital contribution and 
withdrawal by owners

 ʸ Capital contribution by owners – – – – – – – –

Profit distribution

 ʸ Dividend payment 4 (36) – – – – – – –18 954 –18 954

Balance at 31 December 2018 1 895 413 6 857 481 – 1 534 1 447 205 662  498 002  9 459 539 

Balance at 1 January 2019 1 895 413 6 857 481 – 1 534 1 447  205 662  498 002  9 459 539 

Movements for the year  
ended 31 December 2019

Total comprehensive income

Net loss – – – – – – –146 128 –146 128

Other comprehensive income – – – – – – – –

Total comprehensive income – – – – – – –146 128 –146 128

Repurchase of treasury shares 4 (32) – – –108 931 – – – – –108 931

Profit distribution

 ʸ Dividend payment 4 (36) – – – – – – –244 306 –244 306

Balance at 31 December 2019 1 895 413 6 857 481 –108 931 1 534 1 447 205 662 107 568 8 960 174

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
Legal representative: Pan Xueping. Principal in charge of accounting: Lu Yimin. Head of accounting department: Lu Yimin
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1 General information

Saurer Intelligent Technology Co. Ltd (formerly known as “Xin-
jiang Urban Construction (Group) Company Limited”, hereinaf-
ter “the Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated 
on 22nd floor, 1st Chengjian Building Urumqi City, Xinjiang 
Uygur Autonomous Region of the People’s Republic of China.

With the approval from The Committee of Economic System 
Reform of the Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region regarding 
Article 1992 No. 58 “The Approval for ‘The Request to Set Up 
City Construction and Development Company Limited in 
Urumqi City’”, the Company was set up by 6 companies or 
organisations including Urumqi Water Supply Company, 
Urumqi Municipal Construction Company, Urumqi Municipal 
Construction Department, The Office of Water Conservation 
in Urumqi, Urumqi Municipal Construction and Maintenance 
Department, and Urumqi Suburbs Road Maintenance Depart-
ment, with target placement to its other legal persons and 
internal employees. The Company submitted its registration 
with Urumqi Administration for Industry and Commerce on 25 
Feburary 1993, and obtained the License of the business cor-
poration No. 6500001000005. The registered capital was 
RMB 7 500 000. After 5 rights issues and 2 capital injections 
and ownership enlargement, the capital was increased to 
RMB 100 541 029 on 29 August 2000. 

In 2003, with the approval from China Securities Regulatory 
Commission (CSRC) regarding the “Announcement for Public 
Offering of Xinjiang Urban Construction Company Limited” 
(CSRC issued [2003] 75), the Company issued 60 000 000 
A-shares with a face value of RMB 1.00/share by fixed pricing 
to the public in secondary market. The registered total capi-
tal increased to RMB 160 541 029. 

In 2006, after the resolutions of the second Extraordinary 
General Meeting (EGM) the Company decided to privately 
issue shares to specific investors. The plan was approved by 
CSRC in July 2007 in “The Announcement Regarding The 
Approval For Private Issuing of Shares by Xinjiang Urban Con-
struction (Group) Company Limited” (CSRC issued [2007] 
177). With the private issuing of 43 000 000 common shares, 
the total share capital increased to RMB 203 541 029.

With the resolutions of the 2007 Annual General Meeting 
(AGM), the Company issued 2 bonus shares for every 10 
shares; and used the capital reserve to transfer 6 shares for 
every 10 shares. Upon accomplishing of the issuing, total 
share capital has increased to RMB 366 373 852.

In 2008, after the resolutions of the third EGM, the Company 
decided to privately issue shares to specific investors. The 
plan was approved by CSRC in “The Approval for Private 
Issuing of Shares by Xinjiang Urban Construction (Group) 
Company Limited” (CSRC issued [2008] 1450). With the pri-
vate issuing of 84 150 000 common shares, total share capital 
increased to RMB 450 523 852. 

With the resolutions of the 2008 AGM, the Company transferred 
every 10 shares of the capital surplus into 5 shares of paid-in 
capital. Total share capital increased to RMB 675 785 778.

With the resolution of the 17th EGM on 28 December 2016 and 
the first EGM on 23 January 2017, the approval given for the 
“Proposal on the Company's major asset replacement and 
issuance of shares to purchase assets and the associated 
trading scheme”, “Draft report on the Company’s major asset 
replacement and issuance of shares to purchase assets and 
the associated trading scheme” and the “Approval of Jiangsu 
Jinsheng Industry Co. Ltd being exempted from the offer of 
increase in shareholdings”, the Company has a series of major 
asset restructurings, with plans as follows:

(1) Major asset replacement
In August 2017, the Company used all the assets and liabilities 
as at 31 August 2016 (base date of assets evaluation) excluding 
cash of RMB 185 000 000 (hereinafter “exchange-out assets”) 
in exchange for 95 % of shareholdings held by the 17 sharehold-
ers of Saurer Intelligent Machinery Co. Ltd (hereinafter “Saurer 
Intelligent Machinery”) excluding Shanghai Yongyun Hua-
chuang Equity Investment Partnership (hereinafter “Shang-
hai Yongyun”). In this transaction, the assets disposed were 
valued at RMB 2 212 400 000, and the assets acquired were 
valued at RMB 9 737 500 000. The above-mentioned cash of 
RMB 185 000 000 was distributed as cash dividend to all for-
mer shareholders before the Company issued shares and 
purchased assets.

Notes to the  
financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2019
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(2) Undertaking of the asset disposal and transfer of shares
Jiangsu Jinsheng Industry Co. Ltd (hereinafter Jinsheng Indus-
trial) exchanged parts of shares of Saurer Intelligent Machinery 
for the exchange-out assets of the Company. The exchange-
out assets were undertaken by the Company’s original holding 
shareholder Urumqi State-owned Asset Management Com-
pany (hereinafter “Guo-zi Company”) or the designated third 
party (hereinafter “Assets Receiver”). As the consideration of 
the exchange-out assets, Guo-zi Company transferred its 
22.11 % stake in the Company to Jinsheng Industrial (149 400 432 
common shares).

(3) Issue shares and purchase assets
In August 2017, regarding the difference amounting to RMB 
7 525 100 000 arising from major assets exchange mentioned 
above, Xinjiang Urban Construction issued to 17 shareholders 
of Saurer Intelligent Machinery excluding Shanghai Yongyun, 
1 219 627 217 common shares at a face value of RMB 1.00 and 
at an issue price of RMB 6.17. The difference between face 
value and issue price amounting to RMB 6 305 472 712 was 
recognised as capital reserve. Therefore, the total number of 
shares increased to RMB 1 895 412 995. 

In August 2017, the settlement of exchange-out assets was 
completed. Meanwhile, the exchange of assets in the major 
asset replacement was also completed. Therefore, 25 August 
2017 was the settlement day of the major asset replacement.

With the resolutions of the fifth meeting of the eigth term of 
the Board on 25 August 2017 and fifth EGM on 11 September 
2017, Xinjiang Urban Construction was renamed Saurer Intel-
ligent Technology Co. Ltd.

The additional registered capital and paid-in capital arising 
from deals mentioned above was verified by Pricewater-
house Coopers Zhong Tian LLP with Pricewaterhouse Coop-
ers Zhong Tian LLP Yan Zi (2017) No. 801 capital verification 
report issued.

The business scope of the Company and its subsidiaries after 
major asset restructuring covers: production, research and 
development, and selling of the complete set of intelligent 
textile equipment; production, research and development, 
and selling of robots, robot systems, robot application tech-
nology, and software production; design, production, 
research, development and sales of automated intelligence 
equipment; production, research and development, and sell-
ing of intelligent packaging machinery; design, production 
and selling of intelligent electromechanical and information 
products; providing the related technical consultancy service 
and technology service; import and export of agent products 
and technology.

On 29 November 2017, the Company held the third board 
meeting and passed the resolution regarding "Acquisition of 
5 % shares of Saurer Intelligent Machinery by cash". The Com-
pany spent RMB 715 342 466 to acquire 5 % shares of Saurer 
Intelligent Machinery held by Shanghai Yongyun. Saurer Intel-
ligent Machinery becomes the wholly-owned subsidiary of 
the Company after the acquisition.

Upon completion of deals above, Jinsheng Industrial and 
other shareholders were holding 45.93 % and 54.07 % of the 
Company’s equity respectively. 

From 7 December 2017 to 6 December 2018, Jinsheng Industrial 
increased its stake in the Company by 19 111 271 shares. After 
that, Jinsheng Industrial and other shareholders were holding 
46.94 % and 53.06 % of the Company’s equity respectively. 

On 1 September 2019 and 18 September 2019, the resolution of 
share repurchase through centralised bidding was passed by 
the Company’s ninth board meeting and the third interim gen-
eral meeting of shareholders. The Company was allowed to 
repurchase by means of centralised bidding shares with its 
own capital or self-raised funds of no less than RMB 600 000 000 
and no more than RMB 1 200 000 000. The shares to be pur-
chased were intended to be used for equity incentive and 
employee stock ownership plan, and the repurchase period is 
within 12 months from the date when the share repurchase 
plan is approved by the general meeting of shareholders. Up 
to 31 December 2019, the Company repurchased 14 614 325 
shares of the Company through centralised bidding, and the 
total amount paid was RMB 108 931 000. After the repurchase, 
Jinsheng Industrial and other shareholders were holding 
46.94 % and 53.06 % of the Company’s equity respectively. 

Please refer to note 5 (1) for relevant information on the Com-
pany’s subsidiaries.

On 31 December 2019, Jinsheng Industrial was the largest 
shareholder of the Company.

The financial statements were authorised for publication by 
the Company’s Board of Directors on 29 June 2020.
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2  Summary of significant accounting  
policies and accounting estimates

The specific accounting policies and accounting estimates 
are determined based on the production and management 
features of the Group, and mainly reflected in impairment of 
financial assets (note 2 (9) (a) (ii)), inventory valuation method 
(note 2 (11)), depreciation of fixed assets and amortisation of 
intangible assets (note 2 (13), (16)), criteria for capitalisation of 
development expenditure (note 2 (17)), impairment of good-
will and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives (note 2 
(18)), the time for revenue recognition (note 2 (22)), etc. 

Key judgments applied by the Group in determining signifi-
cant accounting policies are stated in note 2 (27).

(1) Basis of preparation
The financial statements were prepared in accordance with 
the Accounting Standard for Business Enterprises - Basic 
Standard, and the specific accounting standards and other 
relevant regulations (hereafter collectively referred to as 
“CAS”) issued by the Ministry of Finance on 15 February 2006 
and in subsequent periods as well as the disclosure require-
ments in the Preparation Convention of Information Disclo-
sure by Companies Offering Securities to the Public No. 15 - 
General Rules on Financial Reporting issued by China 
Securities Regulatory Commission.

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern 
basis.

(2) Statement of compliance with the Accounting Standards 
for Business Enterprises
The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 
31 December 2019 are in compliance with the Accounting 
Standards for Business Enterprises, and truly and completely 
present the financial position of the consolidated and the 
Company as at 31 December 2019 and their financial perfor-
mance, cash flows and other information for the year ended 
31 December 2019.

(3) Accounting year
The Company’s accounting year starts on 1 January and ends 
on 31 December.

(4) Functional currency
The recording currency of the Company and its domestic 
subsidiaries is Renminbi (RMB). The Company’s subordinate 
foreign subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates can deter-
mine their functional currencies according to the primary 
economic environments of locations. Foreign currencies are 
translated into RMB when preparing financial statements. 
The financial statements are presented in RMB.

In preparing the financial statements, the Group regards RMB 
as its presentation currency in accordance with the transla-
tion method detailed in note 2 (8) (b).

(5) Business combinations
(a) Business combinations involving enterprises under com-

mon control
The consideration paid and net assets obtained by the 
absorbing party in a business combination are measured 
at the carrying amount. If the party being absorbed is 
acquired from a third party in prior years by the ultimate 
controlling party, it is based on the book value of the 
assets and liabilities (including any goodwill generated 
from the business combination) in the consolidated finan-
cial statement of the ultimate controlling party. The differ-
ence between the carrying amount of the net assets 
obtained from the combination and the carrying amount 
of the consideration paid for the combination is treated 
as an adjustment to capital surplus (share premium). If 
the capital surplus (share premium) is not sufficient to 
absorb the difference, the remaining balance is adjusted 
against retained earnings. Costs directly attributable to 
the combination are included in profit or loss in the period 
in which they are incurred. Transaction costs associated 
with the issue of equity or debt securities for the business 
combination are included in the initially recognised 
amounts of the equity or debt securities.

(b) Business combinations involving enterprises not under 
common control
The cost of combination and identifiable net assets obtained 
by the acquirer in a business combination are measured at 
fair value at the acquisition date. The acquirer shall recog-
nise the positive difference between the combination cost 
and the fair value of the identifiable net assets it obtains 
from the acquiree as goodwill and recognise the negative 
difference in profit or loss for the current period. Costs 
directly attributable to the combination are included in 
profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. Trans-
action costs associated with the issue of equity or debt 
securities for the business combination are included in the 
initially recognised amounts of the equity or debt securities.

(6) Preparation of the consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial 
statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries.
 
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the 
Group obtains control and are de-consolidated from the 
date that such control ceases. For a subsidiary that is 
acquired in a business combination involving enterprises 
under common control, it is included in the consolidated 
financial statements from the date when it, together with the 
Company, comes under common control of the ultimate con-
trolling party. The portion of the net profits realised before 
the combination date is presented separately in the consoli-
dated income statement.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the dif-
ference between the long-term equity investment from the 
acquisition of non-controlling interests from a subsidiary and 
the net asset share of the subsidiary continuously calculated 
from the date of acquisition (or the consolidation date) based 
on the new shareholding is treated as an adjustment to own-
ers’ equity (capital surplus). If the capital surplus is not suffi-
cient to absorb the difference, the remaining balance is 
adjusted against retained earnings.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, where 
the accounting policies and the accounting periods of the 
Company and subsidiaries are inconsistent, the financial 
statements of the subsidiaries are adjusted in accordance 
with the accounting policies and the accounting period of 
the Company. For subsidiaries acquired from business combi-
nations involving enterprises not under common control, the 
individual financial statements of the subsidiaries are 
adjusted based on the fair value of the identifiable net assets 
at the acquisition date.

All significant intra-group balances, transactions and unreal-
ised profits are eliminated in the consolidated financial state-
ments. The portion of subsidiaries’ equity and the portion of a 
subsidiaries’ net profits and losses and comprehensive 
incomes for the period not attributable to the Company are 
recognised as minority interests and presented separately in 
the consolidated financial statements under equity, net prof-
its and total comprehensive income respectively. Intra-group 
unrealised gains and losses due to the sales from the Com-
pany to its subsidiaries are fully offset net profit attributable 
to shareholders of the parent company. Unrealised profits 
and losses resulting from the sale of assets by a subsidiary to 
the Company are eliminated and allocated between net 
profit attributable to owners of the parent and minority inter-
ests in accordance with the allocation proportion of the 
Company in the subsidiary. Unrealised profits and losses 
resulting from the sale of assets by one subsidiary to another 
are eliminated and allocated between net profit attributable 
to owners of the parent and minority interests in accordance 
with the allocation proportion of the parent in the subsidiary.

Under the circumstances that the Group and its subsidiaries 
have different accounting policy on a single identical trans-
action, the subsidiaries will conform to the Group's account-
ing policies under consolidation basis.

(7) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits 
that can be readily drawn on demand, and short-term and 
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignif-
icant risk of changes in value.

(8) Foreign currency translation
(a) Foreign currency transaction

Foreign currency transactions are translated into RMB 
using the approximate exchange rates of the spot exchange 
rate prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

At the balance sheet date, monetary items denominated 
in foreign currencies are translated into RMB using the 
spot exchange rates on the balance sheet date; exchange 
differences arising from these translations are recognised 
in profit or loss for the current period directly, except for 
the exchange differences arising from specific foreign cur-
rency borrowings obtained for the acquisition or construc-
tion of an asset qualifying for capitalisation. Non-mone-
tary items denominated in foreign currencies that are 
measured at historical costs are translated at the balance 
sheet date using the spot exchange rates at the date of 
the transactions. The effect of exchange rate changes on 
cash is presented separately in the cash flow statement.

(b) Translation of foreign currency financial statements
The asset and liability items in the balance sheets for oper-
ations outside China are translated at the spot exchange 
rates on the balance sheet date. Among the shareholders’ 
equity items, the items other than “undistributed profits” 
are translated at the spot exchange rates of the transac-
tion dates. The income and expense items in the income 
statements of operations outside China are translated at 
the spot exchange rates or the approximate exchange 
rates of the spot exchange rate at the transaction dates. 
The differences arising from the above translation are pre-
sented separately in the shareholders’ equity. The cash 
flows of operations outside China are translated at the 
spot exchange rates on the dates of the cash flows. The 
effect of exchange rate changes on cash is presented sep-
arately in the cash flow statement.

(9) Financial instruments
Financial instruments are contracts that form financial assets 
in one party and financial liabilities or equity instruments in 
the other party. When the Group becomes a party to a finan-
cial instrument contract, the related financial assets or finan-
cial liabilities are recognised.

(a) Financial assets
(i)  Classification and measurement

The Group divides financial assets into: (1) financial assets 
at amortisation cost; (2) financial assets at fair value 
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); (3) financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL).
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Financial assets are measured at fair value at initial recog-
nition. For the financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss, the relevant transaction costs are recognised in the 
current profit or loss; for other types of financial assets, the 
relevant transaction costs are recognised in the initial rec-
ognisation amount. For the accounts receivables or notes 
receivables arising from the sales of products or the provi-
sion of services without significant financing components, 
the Group uses the consideration amount expected to be 
entitled to receive as the initial recognisation amount. 

Debt instruments
The debt instruments held by the Group are the instru-
ments which meet the definition of financial liabilities 
from the perspective of the issuer and are measured in the 
following three methods:

 ʸ Financial assets at amortisation cost  
Amortised cost: assets that are held for collection of 
contractual cash flows where those cash flows 
represent solely payments of principal and interest 
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income 
from these financial assets is included in profit or loss 
using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or 
loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in 
profit or loss and presented in other gains/(losses), 
together with foreign exchange gains and losses. 
Impairment losses are presented as a separate line 
item in the statement of profit or loss. Those financial 
assets include cash and cash equivalents, notes 
receivable, accounts receivable, other receivables, 
debt investments and long-term receivables. 
Acquisition debt investment due within one year is 
classified as other current assets.

 ʸ Financial assets at fair value through other  
comprehensive income (FVOCI) 
FVOCI: assets that are held for collection of contractual 
cash flows and for selling financial assets, where the 
assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of 
principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. 
Movements in the carrying amount are taken through 
OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or 
losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange gains 
and losses which are recognised in profit or loss. When 
the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative 
gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified 
from equity to profit or loss and recognised in other 
gains/(losses). Interest income from these financial 
assets is included in profit or loss using the effective 
interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and 
losses are presented in other gains/(losses) and 
impairment expenses are presented as separate line 
item in the statement of profit or loss. Such financial 
assets including receivables financing and other debt 
investment. Other acquisition debt investment due 
within one year is classified as other current assets.

 ʸ Financial assets at fair value through profit  
or loss (FVPL) 
FVPL: assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised 
cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a 
debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL 
is recognised in profit or loss and presented net within 
other gains/(losses) in the period in which it arises.

Equity instruments
 The Group subsequently measures all equity investments 
at fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected 
to present fair value gains and losses on equity invest-
ments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification of 
fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the 
derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such 
investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss as 
other income when the Group’s right to receive payments 
is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are 
recognised in other gains/(losses) in the statement of 
profit or loss as applicable. Impairment losses (and rever-
sal of impairment losses) on equity investments measured 
at FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes 
in fair value.

 
(ii)  Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the 
expected credit losses associated with its debt instru-
ments carried at amortised cost, FVOCI, FVPL and finan-
cial guarantee contracts. The impairment methodology 
applied depends on whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk.

The Group considers the reasonable and reliable informa-
tion about past events, current situation and future eco-
nomic situation, and takes the risk of default as the weight 
to calculate the weighted average amount of the difference 
between the present value of cash flow receivable under 
the contract and the present value of cash flow expected to 
be received, and recognises the expected credit loss.

On each balance sheet date, the Group measures the 
expected credit losses of financial instruments at different 
stages. If the credit risk of a financial instrument has not 
increased significantly since the initial recognition, it is in 
the first stage. The Group measures the loss provision 
based on the expected credit loss in the next 12 months; 
the credit risk of the financial instrument has increased 
significantly since the initial recognition but no credit 
reduction has occurred. In the second stage, the Group 
measures the loss provision based on the expected credit 
loss for the entire lifetime of the instrument; if the financial 
instrument has been credit-impaired since the initial rec-
ognition, it is in the third stage. The expected credit loss 
measures the loss provision.
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For financial instruments with low credit risk as at the bal-
ance sheet date, the Group assesses impairment provi-
sions based on expected credit losses throughout its 
existence, assuming that the credit risk has no significant 
change since the initial recognisation.

The Group recognises interest income on financial instru-
ments in the first and second phases (lower credit risk) 
based on their book balances and actual interest rates 
before deductions for impairment losses. For financial 
instruments in the third phase (higher credit risk), interest 
income is recognised based on their book balance less 
their amortised cost after the provision for impairment 
has been made and the actual interest rate.

Regarding note receivables, account receivables, and 
receivables financing arising from daily business activities 
such as sales of goods and provision of labour services, the 
Group assesses loss provisions based on expected credit 
losses throughout its existence, regardless of whether 
there is a significant financing component.

When the expected credit loss information of financial 
assets cannot be assessed at a reasonable cost individu-
ally, the Group divides the receivables into several cate-
gories based on the credit risk characteristics and calcu-
lates the expected credit loss respectively. The Group 
classifies the assets above into the following categories:

Accounts receivables:
Category 1 aging group
Category 2 specific risk group

Other receivables:
Category 3 loans to related parties
Category 4 other receivables other than above 
 categories

Accounts receivables financing:
Bank acceptance banks with low credit risk

For receivables divided into different categories, notes 
receivables and accounts receivables financing raised 
from daily business activities, such as selling goods and 
providing labour services, the Group uses historical credit 
loss experience and combines economic expectations; 
meanwhile, the Group uses its compilation of the compar-
ison table of the overdue days of accounts receivables and 
the expected credit loss rate for the entire duration to cal-
culate the expected credit loss. In addition, the Group 
bases on historical credit loss experience, combines fore-
casts of future economic, and uses the next 12 months of 
(or the entire duration) default risk exposures to calculate 
the expected credit loss of note receivables, account 
receivables financing and other receivables.

The Group calculates the loss allowances accrued or 
reversed by debt instruments for the current period. For 
debt instruments classifed to FVOCI, the Group recog-
nises impairment losses(/gaines) in the current P&L and 
adjusts other comprehensive income.

(iii) Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset is derecognised when any of the follow-
ing criteria is met: (1) the contractual rights to receive the 
cash flows from the financial asset expire; (2) the financial 
asset has been transferred and the Group transfers sub-
stantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
financial asset to the transferee; or (3) the financial asset 
has been transferred and the Group has not retained con-
trol of the financial asset, although the Group neither 
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership of the financial asset.

On derecognition of another equity instrument, the differ-
ence between the carrying amount and the sum of the 
consideration received and the cumulative changes in fair 
value that had been recognised directly in equity is rec-
ognised in profit or loss.
 

(b) Financial liabilities
At initial recognition, financial liabilities are classified into 
financial liabilities at amortised cost and financial liabili-
ties at fair value through profit and loss. 

The Group's financial liabilities are mainly financial liabili-
ties at amortised cost, including notes payables, accounts 
payables, other payables and borrowings, etc. These kinds 
of financial liabilities are initially recognised at the amount 
of fair value net transaction costs, and the subsequent 
measurement is conducted by using the effective interest 
rate method. Those with a maturity of less than one year 
(including one year) are disclosed as current liabilities; 
those with a maturity of more than one year but due within 
one year (including one year) from the balance sheet date 
are disclosed as non-current liabilities due within one year; 
the rest are disclosed as non-current liabilities.

A financial liability (or a part of a financial liability) is 
derecognised when all or part of the obligation is extin-
guished. The difference between the carrying amount of a 
financial liability (or part of a financial liability) extin-
guished and the consideration paid, shall be recognised in 
profit or loss.
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(c) Determination of fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of a financial instrument that is traded in an 
active market is determined at the quoted price in the 
active market. The fair value of a financial instrument that 
is not traded in an active market is determined by using a 
valuation method. The Group adopts the most appropri-
ate valuation method for the instuments that have enough 
data and other supporting information available and 
selects assets or liabilities with consistent characteristics 
to compare transactions. Observable inputs are pre-
ferred. In the case that relevant observable inputs cannot 
be obtained or are not feasible to procure in the situation, 
unobservable inputs are applied.

(10) Hedging instruments
Hedging instruments are the financial instruments desig-
nated by the Group for hedging, whose changes in fair value 
or cash flow are expected to offset the changes in the fair 
value or cash flow of the hedged item. The Group's hedging 
is classified as fair value hedging and cash flow hedging. 
When hedging instruments meet the following criteria, the 
Group applies hedge accounting:
 
(i)  the hedging relationship is only composed of qualified 

hedging instruments and hedged items; 

(ii) at the beginning of hedging, the Group formally desig-
nates the hedging instruments and hedged items, and 
prepares written documents on the hedging relationship 
and the risk management strategy and risk management 
objectives of the Group engaged in hedging. The docu-
ment at least specifies the hedging instrument, the hedged 
item, the nature of the hedged risk and the hedging effec-
tiveness evaluation method (including the cause analysis 
of the ineffective part of the hedging and the determina-
tion method of the hedging ratio); 

(iii) the hedging relationship meets the hedging effectiveness 
requirements.

The Group defines a hedging relationship met the hedging 
effectiveness requirements if it meets the following condi-
tions at the same time: 

(i)  there is an economic relationship between the hedged 
item and the hedging instrument, which causes the value 
of the hedging instrument and the hedged item to change 
in the opposite direction due to the same hedged risk; 

(ii) the credit risk does not play a dominant role in the value 
change caused by the economic relationship between the 
hedged item and the hedging instrument; 

(iii) the effect of credit risk is not dominant in the value change 
caused by the economic relationship between the hedged 
item and the hedging instrument; and the hedging ratio 
of the hedging relationship is equal to the ratio between 
the number of hedged items actually hedged and the 
actual number of hedging instruments, but it does not 
reflect the imbalance of the relative weights of the hedged 
items and hedging instruments.

When the fair value hedging meets the above conditions, the 
profits or losses generated by the hedging instrument shall be 
recognised as current profits and losses. When the hedging 
instrument is to hedge the non-tradable equity instrument 
investment (or its component) at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, the profit or loss generated by the 
hedging instrument shall be recognised as other comprehen-
sive income.

When the cash flow hedging meets the above conditions, the 
part of the profit or loss generated by the hedging instrument 
that belongs to the effective hedging shall be recognised in 
other comprehensive income as cash flow hedging reserve, 
and the invalid part of the hedging shall be recognised as 
current profits and losses.

When the hedged item is an expected transaction and the 
expected transaction causes the Group to recognise a non-fi-
nancial asset or non-financial liability, or the expected trans-
action of a non-financial asset or non-financial liability forms 
a firm commitment applicable to fair value hedge account-
ing, the Group transfers the amount out of cash flow hedging 
reserve originally recognised in other comprehensive income 
and includes it in the asset or liability as initial recognition.

For cash flow hedging that does not belong to the above sit-
uation, the Group will transfer the amount out of cash flow 
hedging reserve originally recognised in other comprehensive 
income during the same period when the expected cash flow 
to be hedged affects the profit and loss of the current period.

If the amount of cash flow hedging reserve recognised in other 
comprehensive income is a loss, and all or part of the loss is 
expected to be irrecoverable in the future accounting period, 
when it is estimated that the loss can not be made up, the 
part that can not be made up is transferred out of other com-
prehensive income and included in the current profit and loss.
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(11) Inventories
(a) Classification
 Inventories include raw materials, work in process, fin-

ished goods and spare parts, and are measured at the 
lower of cost and net realisable value.

 
(b) Costing of inventories
 Cost is determined using the weighted average method. 

The cost of finished goods and work in process comprise 
raw materials, direct labour and systematically allo-
cated production overhead based on the normal produc-
tion capacity.

 
(c) Basis for determining net realisable values of inventories 

and method for making provision for decline in the value 
of inventories

 Provision for decline in the value of inventories is deter-
mined at the excess amount of the carrying amounts of 
the inventories over their net realisable value. Net realisa-
ble value is determined based on the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated 
costs to completion and estimated costs necessary to 
make the sale and related taxes.

(d) The Group adopts the perpetual inventory system.
 
(e) Amortisation method of low value consumables
 Turnover materials include low value consumables. Low 

value consumables are expensed when issued.
 
(12) Long-term equity investments
Long-term equity investments comprise the Company’s long-
term equity investments in its subsidiaries, and the Group’s long- 
term equity investments in its joint ventures and associates.
 
Subsidiaries are the investees over which the Company is 
able to exercise control. A joint venture is a joint arrangement 
which is structured through a separate vehicle over which the 
Group has joint control together with other parties and only 
has rights to the net assets of the arrangement based on 
legal forms, contractual terms and other facts and circum-
stances. An associate is the investee over which the Group 
has significant influence by participating in the financial and 
operating policy decisions.

Investments in subsidiaries are presented in the Company’s 
financial statements using the cost method, and are adjusted 
to the equity method when preparing the consolidated finan-
cial statements; investments in joint ventures and associates 
are accounted for using the equity method.

(a) Determination of investment cost
For long-term equity investments acquired through a busi-
ness combination: for long-term equity investments 
acquired through a business combination involving enter-
prises under common control, the investment cost shall be 
the absorbing party’s share of the carrying amount of 
owners’ equity of the party being absorbed at the combi-
nation date; for long-term equity investment acquired 
through a business combination involving enterprises not 
under common control, the investment cost shall be the 
combination cost.

For long-term equity investments acquired not through a 
business combination: for long-term equity investment 
acquired by payment in cash, the initial investment cost 
shall be the purchase price actually paid; for long-term 
equity investments acquired by issuing equity securities, 
the initial investment cost shall be the fair value of the 
equity securities issued.

 
(b) Subsequent measurement and recognition of related profit 

and loss
Long-term equity investments accounted for using the cost 
method are measured at the initial investment costs, and 
cash dividends or profit distribution declared by the inves-
tees are recognised as investment income in profit or loss.

For long-term equity investments accounted for using the 
equity method, where the initial investment cost exceeds 
the Group’s share of the fair value of the investee’s identi-
fiable net assets at the time of acquisition, the investment 
is initially measured at cost. Where the initial investment 
cost is less than the Group’s share of the fair value of the 
investee’s identifiable net assets at the time of acquisi-
tion, the difference is included in profit or loss for the cur-
rent period and the cost of the long-term equity invest-
ment is adjusted upwards accordingly.

For long-term equity investments accounted for using the 
equity method, the Group recognises the investment 
income according to its share of net profit or loss of the 
investee. The Group discontinues recognising its share of 
net losses of an investee after the carrying amount of the 
long-term equity investment together with any long-term 
interests that, in substance, form part of the investor’s net 
investment in the investee are reduced to zero. However, 
if the Group has obligations for additional losses and the 
criteria with respect to recognition of provisions under the 
accounting standards on contingencies are satisfied, the 
Group continues recognising the investment losses and 
the provisions. For changes in owners’ equity of the inves-
tee other than those arising from its net profit or loss, the 
Group records its proportionate share directly into capi-
tal surplus, provided that the Group’s proportion of share-
holding in the investee remains unchanged. The carrying 
amount of the investment is reduced by the Group’s share 
of the profit distribution or cash dividends declared by an 
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investee. The unrealised profits or losses arising from the 
intra-group transactions amongst the Group and its 
investees are eliminated in proportion to the Group’s 
equity interest in the investees, and then based on which 
the investment gains or losses are recognised. For losses 
on intra-group transactions amongst the Group and its 
investees attributable to asset impairment, any unreal-
ised loss is not eliminated.

(c) Basis for determining existence of control, joint control or 
significant influence over investees
Control is the power over the investee so that the Com-
pany is entitled to variable return through participating in 
related activities of the investee and is able to exercise 
power over the investee to affect the amount of return.

Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control 
over an arrangement, and the decision of activities relat-
ing to such arrangement requires the unanimous consent 
of the Group and other parties sharing control.

Significant influence is the power to participate in the 
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, 
but is not control or joint control over those policies.
 

(d) Impairment of long-term equity investments
The carrying amounts of long-term equity investments in 
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are reduced to 
the recoverable amounts when the recoverable amounts 
are below their carrying amounts (note 2 (18)).

(13) Fixed assets
(a) Recognition and initial measurement of fixed assets

Fixed assets comprise buildings, machinery and equipment, 
other equipment and land ownership.

Fixed assets are recognised when it is probable that the 
related economic benefits will flow to the Group and the 
costs can be reliably measured. Fixed assets purchased 
or constructed by the Group are initially measured at cost 
at the time of acquisition.

Subsequent expenditures incurred for a fixed asset are 
included in the cost of the fixed asset when it is probable 
that the associated economic benefits will flow to the 
Group and the related cost can be reliably measured. The 
carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All 
the other subsequent expenditures are recognised in profit 
or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

(b) Depreciation method of fixed assets
Fixed assets are depreciated using the straight-line 
method to allocate the cost of the assets to their esti-
mated residual values over their estimated useful lives. 
For the fixed assets that have been provided for impair-
ment loss, the related depreciation charge is prospec-
tively determined based upon the adjusted carrying 
amounts over their remaining useful lives.

The estimated useful lives, the estimated residual values 
expressed as a percentage of cost and the annual depre-
ciation rates of fixed assets are as follows:

Estimated  
useful lives

Estimated  
net residual 

values 

Annual  
depreciation  

rates

Buildings 20 – 60 years 0.0 – 5.0 % 1.58 – 5.0 %

Machinery equipment  
and other equipment 3 – 20 years 0.0 – 10.0 % 4.5 –33.33 %

Land ownership (outside China) Infinite – –

The estimated useful life and the estimated net residual 
value of a fixed asset and the depreciation method applied 
to the asset are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate at 
each year-end.

The Group's land ownership is located in Singapore, Ger-
many, India and the US held by non-Chinese subsidiaries. 
Such land ownership has an infinite useful life, thus no 
depreciation is recognised.

(c) The carrying amount of a fixed asset is reduced to the 
recoverable amount when the recoverable amount is below 
the carrying amount (note 2 (18)).
 

(d) Disposal of fixed assets
A fixed asset is derecognised on disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. 
The amount of proceeds from disposals on sale, transfer, 
retirement or damage of a fixed asset net of its carrying 
amount and related taxes and expenses is recognised in 
profit or loss for the current period.

(14) Construction in progress
Construction in progress is measured at actual cost. Actual 
cost comprises construction costs, installation costs, borrow-
ing costs that are eligible for capitalisation and other costs 
necessary to bring the fixed assets ready for their intended 
use. Construction in progress is transferred to fixed assets 
when the assets are ready for their intended use, and depre-
ciation begins from the following month. The carrying amount 
of construction in progress is reduced to the recoverable 
amount when the recoverable amount is below the carrying 
amount (note 2 (18)).
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(15) Borrowing costs
The borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition and construction of a fixed asset that needs a 
substantially long period of time for its intended use com-
mence to be capitalised and recorded as part of the cost of 
the asset when expenditures for the asset and borrowing 
costs have been incurred, and the activities relating to the 
acquisition and construction that are necessary to prepare 
the asset for its intended use have commenced. The capital-
isation of borrowing costs ceases when the asset under 
acquisition or construction becomes ready for its intended 
use and the borrowing costs incurred thereafter are recog-
nised in profit or loss for the current period. Capitalisation of 
borrowing costs is suspended during periods in which the 
acquisition or construction of a fixed asset is interrupted 
abnormally and the interruption lasts for more than three 
months, until the acquisition or construction is resumed.

For the specific borrowings obtained for the acquisition or 
construction of a fixed asset qualifying for capitalisation, the 
amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is deter-
mined by deducting any interest income earned from depos-
iting the unused specific borrowings in the banks or any 
investment income arising on the temporary investment of 
those borrowings during the capitalisation period.

For the general borrowings obtained for the acquisition or 
construction of a fixed asset qualifying for capitalisation, the 
amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is deter-
mined by applying the weighted average effective interest 
rate of general borrowings to the weighted average of the 
excess amount of cumulative expenditures on the asset over 
the amount of specific borrowings. The effective interest rate 
is the rate at which the estimated future cash flows during 
the period of expected duration of the borrowings or appli-
cable shorter period are discounted to the initial amount of 
the borrowings.

(16) Intangible assets
Intangible assets include land use rights, customer relation-
ships, patents, trademarks, computer software and develop-
ment cost, etc., which are measured at cost, except for intan-
gible assets obtained from business combinations involving 
enterprises not under common control, which are measured 
at fair value at the acquisition date.
 
(a) Land use rights

Land use rights located in PRC are amortised on the 
straight-line basis over their approved use period of 50 
years. If the acquisition costs of the land use rights and 
the buildings located thereon cannot be reasonably allo-
cated between the land use rights and the buildings, all of 
the acquisition costs are recognised as fixed assets.

 

(b) Customer relations
Customer relations are amortised on the straight-line basis 
over their benefit period of 5-10 years.

 
(c) Patents

Patents are amortised on a straight-line basis over the pat-
ent protection period of 5-10 years as stipulated by law.

(d) Trademarks
Trademarks include registered trademarks, etc. Trademarks 
have infinite useful lives, thus no amortisation recognised.
 

(e) Computer software
Computer software is amortised on the straight-line basis 
over its useful life of 2-5 years.
 

(f) Periodical review of useful life and amortisation method
For an intangible asset with a finite useful life, review of its 
useful life and amortisation method is performed at each 
year-end, with adjustment made as appropriate.
 

(g) Research and development
The expenditure on an internal research and develop-
ment project is classified into expenditure on the research 
phase and expenditure on the development phase based 
on its nature and whether there is material uncertainty 
that the research and development activities can form an 
intangible asset at end of the project.

Expenditure on the research phase is recognised in profit 
or loss in the period in which it is incurred. Expenditure on 
the development phase is capitalised only if all of the fol-
lowing conditions are satisfied:

 ʸ it is technically feasible to complete the intangible 
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

 ʸ management intends to complete the intangible 
asset, and use or sell it;

 ʸ it can be demonstrated how the intangible asset will 
generate economic benefits;

 ʸ there are adequate technical, financial and other 
resources to complete the development and the ability 
to use or sell the intangible asset; and 

 ʸ the expenditure attributable to the development stage 
of the intangible assets can be measured reliably.

 
Other development expenditures that do not meet the 
conditions above are recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which they are incurred. Development costs pre-
viously recognised as expenses are not recognised as an 
asset in a subsequent period. Capitalised expenditure on 
the development phase is presented as development costs 
in the balance sheet and transferred to intangible assets at 
the date that the asset is ready for its intended use - capi-
talisation for expenditures of development and research.
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(h) Impairment of intangible assets
The carrying amount of an intangible asset is reduced to 
the recoverable amount when the recoverable amount is 
below the carrying amount (note 2 (18)).

(17) Long-term prepaid expenses 
Long-term prepaid expenses include the expenditure for 
improvements to fixed assets held under operating leases, 
and other expenditures that have been incurred but should 
be recognised as expenses over more than one year in the 
current and subsequent periods. Long-term prepaid expenses 
are amortised on the straight-line basis over the expected 
beneficial period and are presented at actual expenditure 
net of accumulated amortisation.

(18) Impairment of long-term assets
Fixed assets (excluding land with indefinite useful life), con-
struction in progress, intangible assets with finite useful lives 
and long-term equity investments in subsidiaries, joint ven-
tures and associates are tested for impairment if there is any 
indication that the assets may be impaired at the balance 
sheet date; land and intangible assets with indefinite useful 
lives and intangible assets not ready for their intended use 
are tested at least annually for impairment, irrespective of 
whether there is any indication that they may be impaired. If 
the result of the impairment test indicates that the recovera-
ble amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, a 
provision for impairment and an impairment loss are recog-
nised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is 
the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and the 
present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived 
from the asset. Provision for asset impairment is determined 
and recognised on the individual asset basis. If it is not possi-
ble to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual 
asset, the recoverable amount of a group of assets to which 
the asset belongs is determined. A group of assets is the 
smallest group of assets that is able to generate independ-
ent cash inflows.

Goodwill that is separately presented in the financial state-
ments is tested at least annually for impairment, irrespective 
of whether there is any indication that it may be impaired. In 
conducting the test, the carrying value of goodwill is allo-
cated to the related asset groups or groups of asset groups 
which are expected to benefit from the synergies of the busi-
ness combination. If the result of the test indicates that the 
recoverable amount of an asset group or group of asset 
groups, including the allocated goodwill, is lower than its 
carrying amount, the corresponding impairment loss is rec-
ognised. The impairment loss is first deducted from the carry-
ing amount of goodwill that is allocated to the asset group 
or group of asset groups, and then deducted from the carry-
ing amounts of other assets within the asset groups or groups 
of asset groups in proportion to the carrying amounts of 
assets other than goodwill.

Other fixed assets (land ownership) and intangible assets 
with indefinite useful lives, and intangible assets not ready 
for their intended use are tested for impairment at least 
annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication that 
it may be impaired.

Once the above asset impairment loss is recognised, it will not 
be reversed for the value recovered in the subsequent periods.

(19) Employee benefits
Employee benefits include short-term employee benefits, 
post-employment benefits, termination benefits and other 
long-term employee benefits provided in various forms of con-
sideration in exchange for service rendered by employees or 
compensations for the termination of employment relationship.

(a) Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits include employee wages or 
salaries, bonuses, allowances and subsidies, staff welfare, 
premiums or contributions on medical insurance, work 
injury insurance and maternity insurance, housing funds, 
union running costs and employee education costs, short-
term paid absences. The employee benefit liabilities are 
recognised in the accounting period in which the service 
is rendered by the employees, with a corresponding 
charge to the profit or loss for the current period or the 
cost of relevant assets.

 
(b) Post-employment benefits

The Group provides various pension plans and other 
post-employment benefits in China, Germany, Switzer-
land and other places. The plans include defined benefit 
plans and defined contribution plans.

The Group classifies post-employment benefit plans as 
either defined contribution plans or defined benefit plans. 
A defined contribution plan is a pension plan that the 
Group has no further payment obligations once the fixed 
contributions have been paid to a separate fund. The 
amounts based on the defined contribution plan are rec-
ognised as liabilities in the accounting period in which the 
service has been rendered by the employees, with a corre-
sponding charge to the profit or loss for the current period 
or the cost of relevant assets. Defined benefit plans are 
post-employment benefit plans other than defined contri-
bution plans.
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The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of 
defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation less the fair value of plan 
assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annu-
ally by independent actuaries using the projected unit 
credit method at the similar interest rates of high-quality 
corporate bonds and state bonds with similar obligation 
terms and currency. Service costs (including current-ser-
vice costs, past-service costs and settlement gains or 
losses) related to the defined benefit plan and net interest 
are recorded in profit or loss for the current period or 
related asset costs. When employees' services in subse-
quent years may lead to a defined benefit level enjoyed 
significantly higher than the previous years, the Group 
recognises the cumulative defined benefit plan obliga-
tions on a straight-line basis over the period from the ser-
vices provided by employees causing the enterprise to 
firstly resume the defined benefit obligation to such ser-
vices no longer causing significant increase in the benefit 
obligation. In determining the vesting period, the signifi-
cant increase in the defined benefit obligation only due to 
the future salary increase is not taken into consideration. 
Changes in the remeasurement of net liability or net assets 
related to the defined benefit plan are charged to other 
comprehensive income.
 
Basic pensions
The Group contributes fixed expenses to the local labour 
and social security authority or an independent fund, and 
the social security authority or independent fund bears 
the responsibility to pay pensions and other retirement 
benefits to the retired employees. The amounts based on 
the defined contribution plan are recognised as liabilities 
in the accounting period in which the service has been 
rendered by the employees, with a corresponding charge 
to the profit or loss for the current period or the cost of 
relevant assets.

(c) Termination benefits
The Group provides compensation for terminating the 
employment relationship with employees before the end of 
the employment contracts or as an offer to encourage 
employees to accept voluntary redundancy before the end 
of the employment contracts. The Group recognises a lia-
bility arising from compensation for termination of the 
employment relationship with employees, with a corre-
sponding charge to profit or loss at the earlier of the follow-
ing dates: 1) when the Group cannot unilaterally withdraw 
the offer of termination benefits because of an employment 
termination plan or a curtailment proposal; 2) when the 
Group recognises costs or expenses related to the restruc-
turing that involves the payment of termination benefits.

 

(d) Employee leave entitlements
The Group recognises the employee benefits related to 
accumulated paid leave when the employee provides ser-
vice and thereby increases his/her rights to enjoy the paid 
leave, measured at the increased amount expected to be 
paid due to the accumulated rights to be exercised.

The Group recognises the employee benefits related to 
non-cumulative paid leave in the accounting period when 
the leave is actually taken.

(20) Dividend distribution and treasury shares
Cash dividend is recognised as a liability in the period in 
which it is approved by the shareholders.

The Company measures the amount of shares purchased, 
transferred or cancelled by the Company through the 
account of treasury shares. When the Company purchases 
the shares of the Company for the purpose of rewarding 
employees, treasury shares shall be debited according to the 
actual amount paid, and at the same time, it shall be regis-
tered for future reference. The ending debit balance of treas-
ury stock account reflects the amount of shares held by the 
Company that have not been transferred or cancelled.

(21) Provisions
Provisions for external guarantees, legal proceedings, product 
warranties and onerous contracts are recognised when the 
Group has a present obligation, and it is probable that an 
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation, and the amount of the obligation can be meas-
ured reliably.
 
A provision is initially measured at the best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the related present obligation. 
Factors surrounding a contingency, such as the risks, uncer-
tainties and the time value of money, are taken into account 
as a whole in reaching the best estimate of a provision. 
Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the 
best estimate is determined by discounting the related future 
cash outflows. The increase in the discounted amount of the 
provision arising from the passage of time is recognised as 
interest expense.

The carrying amount of provisions is reviewed at each balance 
sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Provisions expected to be paid within one year since the bal-
ance sheet date are classified as current liabilities.
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(22) Revenue recognition
The amount of revenue is determined in accordance with the fair 
value of the consideration received or receivable for the sales of 
goods and services in the ordinary course of the Group’s activi-
ties. Revenue is shown net of discounts, rebates and returns.

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic 
benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the 
Group, the related revenue can be reliably measured, and the 
specific revenue recognition criteria have been met for each 
type of the Group’s activities as described below:

(a) Sales of products
Pursuant to the timing for risk transfer or delivery terms as 
agreed in the sales contract/agreement, revenue from 
the sales of goods is recognised when significant risks and 
rewards of ownership of the goods are transferred to the 
buyer, the Group retains neither continuing managerial 
involvement to the degree usually associated with owner-
ship nor effective control over the goods sold, and it is 
probable that the economic benefit associated with the 
transaction will flow to the Group and the relevant reve-
nue and costs can be measured reliably.

 
(b) Instalment sales of goods with financing nature

The Group adopts the method of instalment collection for 
part of its sales. The payments of sales contracts or agree-
ments are collected on a deferral basis with the nature of 
financing, the Group determines the amount of sales rev-
enue according to the fair value of the receivable at con-
tract price or agreement price. The difference between 
the receivable at contract price or agreement price and 
its fair value will be amortised over the term of the con-
tract or agreement using the effective interest rate, and 
will be recognised as current profit and loss.

(c) Rendering of services
Services mainly include technical services and after-sales 
services. The related revenue is recognised when the ser-
vices have been rendered, costs of related revenue can 
be reliably measured and the economic benefits associ-
ated with services may flow into the Group.

(23) Government grants
Government grants refer to the monetary or non-monetary 
assets obtained by the Group from the government, including 
tax refunds, financial subsidies, etc.

Government grants are recognised when the grants can be 
received and the Group can comply with all attached condi-
tions. If a government grant is a monetary asset, it will be 
measured at the amount received or receivable. If a govern-
ment grant is a non-monetary asset, it will be measured at its 
fair value. If it is unable to obtain its fair value reliably, it will 
be measured at its nominal amount.

Government grants related to assets refer to government 
grants which are obtained by the Group for the purposes of 
purchase, construction or acquisition of the long-term assets. 
Government grants related to income refer to the govern-
ment grants other than those related to assets.

Government grants related to assets will be recorded to net 
off the book value of the assets, or recognised as deferred 
revenue and amortised in a reasonable and systematic 
method in the income statement within the useful life of the 
asset; government grants related to income will be recorded 
as deferred income and recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which the related expenses are recognised if the 
grants are intended to compensate for future expenses or 
losses, and otherwise recognised in profit or loss for the cur-
rent period if the grants are used to compensate for expenses 
or losses that have been incurred. Government grants related 
to income will be recorded as deferred income and be 
deducted as related costs in the period in which the related 
expenses are recognised if the grants are intended to com-
pensate for future expenses or losses, and otherwise deducted 
as related costs if the grants are used to compensate for 
expenses or losses that have been incurred.

The Group adopts the same reporting method for the same 
type of government grants.

Government grants related to operating activities are recorded 
as operating income, and government grants not related to 
operating activities are recorded as non-operating income.

The loans that the Group received with a concessional inter-
est rate are recorded at the amount actually received. The 
borrowing cost is calculated with the loan principal and the 
concessional interest rate. The financial discount received by 
the Group is recorded to reduce the borrowing cost.

(24) Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are calculated 
and recognised based on the differences arising between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 
(temporary differences). A deferred tax asset is recognised for 
the deductible losses that can be carried forward to subse-
quent years for deduction of the taxable profit in accordance 
with the tax laws. No deferred tax liability is recognised for a 
temporary difference arising from the initial recognition of 
goodwill. No deferred tax asset or deferred tax liability is rec-
ognised for the temporary differences resulting from the initial 
recognition of assets or liabilities due to a transaction other 
than a business combination, which affects neither accounting 
profit nor taxable profit (or deductible loss). At the balance 
sheet date, deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are 
measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the 
period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled.
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Deferred tax assets are only recognised for deductible tem-
porary differences, deductible losses and tax credits to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
in the future against which the deductible temporary differ-
ences, deductible losses and tax credits can be utilised.
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for temporary differ-
ences arising from investments in subsidiaries, associates 
and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control 
the timing of reversal of the temporary difference, and it is 
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. When it is probable that the temporary 
differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, associ-
ates and joint ventures will be reversed in the foreseeable 
future and that the taxable profit will be available in the 
future against which the temporary differences can be uti-
lised, the corresponding deferred tax assets are recognised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when:
 ʸ the deferred taxes are related to the same tax payer 

within the Group and the same taxation authority; and,
 ʸ the tax payer within the Group has a legally enforceable 

right to offset current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities.

(25) Leases
A lease that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of an asset is a finance lease. An oper-
ating lease is a lease other than a finance lease.
 
(a) Operating leases

Lease payments under an operating lease are recognised 
on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease, and 
are either capitalised as part of the cost of related assets, 
or charged as an expense for the current period.

Rental income from an operating lease is recognised on a 
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

 
(b) Finance leases

The leased asset is recognised at the lower of the fair value 
of the leased asset and the present value of the minimum 
lease payments. The difference between the recorded 
amount of the leased asset and the minimum lease pay-
ments is accounted for as unrecognised finance charge 
and is amortised using the effective interest method over 
the period of the lease. A long-term payable is recorded at 
the amount equal to the minimum lease payments less the 
unrecognised finance charge.

(26) Segment information
The Group identifies operating segments based on the inter-
nal organisation structure, management requirements and 
internal reporting system, and discloses segment information 
of reportable segments which is determined on the basis of 
operating segments.

An operating segment is a component of the Group that sat-
isfies all of the following conditions: (1) the component is able 
to earn revenue and incur expenses from its ordinary activi-
ties; (2) its operating results are regularly reviewed by the 
Group’s management to make decisions about resources to 
be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance, 
and (3) the information on its financial position, operating 
results and cash flows is available to the Group. If two or 
more operating segments have similar economic character-
istics and satisfy certain conditions, they are aggregated 
into one single operating segment.

(27) Critical accounting estimates and judgments
The Group continually evaluates the critical accounting esti-
mates and key judgments applied based on historical experi-
ence and other factors, including expectations of future 
events that are believed to be reasonable.

(a) Critical judgments
(i)  Critical judgment of significant increase in credit risk

The main criteria for the Group to judge the significant 
increase in credit risk is that one or more of the following 
indicators change significantly: the operating environment 
of the debtor, internal and external credit ratings, signifi-
cant changes in actual or expected operating results, the 
value of guarantees and the significant decrease in the 
credit rating of the guarantor.

The Group's main criteria for determining whether credit 
impairment has occurred are one or more of the following 
conditions: the debtor has significant financial difficulties, 
other debt restructuring or likely bankruptcy.

(ii)  Revenue recognition of significant new 
 third-party customers

As mentioned in note 2 (22), note 4 (10) and note 6, for 
sales transactions with significant new third-party cus-
tomers, the recognition conditions of sales are as follows: 
there are reasonable commercial reasons for sales trans-
actions with customers, relevant custody arrangement 
and instalment payment arrangement; according to the 
term of risk transfer or delivery in the sales contract 
agreement, the Group has transferred the main risks and 
rewards of the goods ownership to the customer, and the 
goods are no longer under management or control of the 
Group; the economic benefits of related transactions are 
likely to flow into the Group; and the relevant revenue and 
cost can be measured reliably.
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(b) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
 Management makes estimates and assumptions concern-

ing the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by 
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The 
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
outlined below.

(i)  Measurement of expected credit loss
The Group calculates expected credit loss through default 
risk exposure and expected credit loss, and determines 
the expected credit loss rate based on default probability 
and default loss rate. In determining the expected credit 
loss rate, the Group uses data such as historical credit 
loss experience and adjusts historical data based on cur-
rent conditions and forward-looking information. The for-
ward-looking information consists of the risk of economic 
downturn, expected growth of unemployment rate, exter-
nal market environment, technology environment and 
changes of clients’ credit status. The Group monitors and 
reviews assumptions related to the calculation of the 
expected credit loss rate on a regular basis. The estima-
tion technology and key assumptions were not signifi-
cantly changed in 2019.

(ii)  Estimated impairment of goodwill, property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets with infinite useful lives
The Group tests annually whether goodwill, property, 
plant and equipment and intangible assets with infinite 
useful lives have suffered any impairment. The recoverable 
amount of asset groups and combinations of asset groups 
is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be 
derived from them. The recoverable amount of fixed assets 
and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives is the 
higher value between an asset’s fair value less costs to sell 
and the present value of the future cash flows expected to 
be derived from the asset. The calculations of the recover-
able amounts require the use of estimates.

If management revises the gross margin, sales growth 
rate and brand commissions rate used in the calculation 
of the future cash flows of asset groups and groups of 
asset groups, the Group needs to adjust the impairment 
of goodwill, property, plant and equipment and intangi-
ble assets. If management revises the pre-tax discount 
rate applied to the discounted cash flows, and the 
revised pre-tax discount rate is higher than the one cur-
rently applied, the Group might need to increase the 
impairment against goodwill, property, plant and equip-
ment and intangible assets.

If the actual gross margin, sales growth rate, brand com-
mission rate and pre-tax discount rate are higher/lower 
than management’s estimates, an impairment loss of 
goodwill, property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets previously provided for is not allowed to be 
reversed by the Group.

(iii) Accounting estimates for provision for decline in the value 
of inventories

 The Group periodically evaluates the net realisable value 
of inventories and recognises decline in the value of inven-
tories at the excess of their costs over their net realisable 
value. When making estimates of the net realisable value, 
the Group takes into consideration the use of inventories 
on hand and other information available to form the 
underlying assumptions, including the inventories’ 
expected selling price. The net realisable value of invento-
ries may vary based on changes in the market price and 
actual use of the inventories, resulting in changes in the 
provision for decline in the value of inventories and 
thereby affecting the profit or loss.

(iv) Useful lives and residual values of intangible assets 
 (excluding trademarks)
 The Group's management estimates the expected useful 

lives of intangible assets with finite useful lives. The esti-
mates are based on the actual useful lives in the past and 
industry practices of intangible assets with similar nature 
and function. The economic environment, technical envi-
ronment and others may have a significant impact on the 
useful lives of intangible assets; and changes in the eco-
nomic environment, technical environment and other 
environment may also lead to significant changes in the 
expected realisation method of economic benefits related 
to intangible assets. Different estimates may affect the 
amortisation of intangible assets and profit or loss for the 
current period.

(v) Income tax and deferred income tax
 The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous coun-

tries/jurisdictions. There are some transactions and 
events for which the ultimate tax determination is uncer-
tain during the ordinary course of business. Significant 
judgment is required from the Group in determining the 
provision for income taxes in each of these countries/
jurisdictions. Where the final tax outcome of these mat-
ters is different from the amounts that were initially 
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and 
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such deter-
mination is made.
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 Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are meas-
ured at the applicable rate at the time of realisation of 
estimated deferred tax assets or settlement of deferred 
tax liabilities. Deferred tax assets are only recognised for 
deductible temporary differences, deductible losses and 
tax credits to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available in the future against which the 
deductible temporary differences, deductible losses and 
tax credits can be utilised.

 The Group’s management recognises deferred tax assets 
in accordance with the enacted or substantially enacted 
tax laws and the best estimates of the Group's realisable 
earnings in the expected future year in which the deferred 
tax assets will be realised. However, estimates of future 
earnings or future taxable income require a large number 
of judgments and estimates, together with tax planning 
strategies. Different judgments and estimates will affect 
the amount of deferred tax assets recognised. Manage-
ment will re-assess the estimate of earnings and other 
estimates at each balance sheet date.

(vi) Provisions
 It is probable that there will be an outflow of economic 

benefits due to product warranties and the amount is 
uncertain. The Group recognises provisions in accordance 
with the best estimate of the outflow to perform the 
related present obligation. The carrying amount of provi-
sions is reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted 
to reflect the current best estimate.

  
 The management of the Group estimates the product 

warranty cost based on the historical experience of simi-
lar projects or the expected costs. However, many judg-
ments and estimates are needed to estimate the actual 
warranty costs in the future, and different judgments and 
estimates will affect the amount of estimated liabilities. 
During the warranty process, the Group continuously 
reviews and revises the expected warranty costs and 
reevaluates them.

(28) Significant change in accounting policies
In 2017, the Ministry of Finance issued revised Accounting 
Standards for Business Enterprises No. 22: Recognition and 
Measurement of Financial Instruments, No. 23: Transfer of 
Financial Assets, No. 24: Hedging and No. 37: Presentation of 
Financial Instruments (hereinafter collectively referred to as 
"The New Financial Instrument Standards"), and issued in 
2019 the Notice on the Revision and Issuance of the Format of 
General Financial Statements of General Enterprises for 2019 
(Accounting [2019] No. 6) and the revised Accounting Stand-
ards for Business Enterprises No. 7: Non-Monetary Assets 
Exchange (hereinafter referred to as "Non-Monetary Assets 
Exchange Standards") and Accounting Standards for Business 
Enterprises No. 12: Debt Restructuring (hereinafter referred to 
as the "Debt Restructuring Standards"). The Group has 
adopted the above standards and notices to prepare the 
2019 financial statements.
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(a) Modification of general enterprise report format
(i) The impact on the consolidated balance sheet is as follows:

The nature of and reason for the changes in accounting policies Affected line items The amounts affected

31 December 2018 1 January 2018

Split of “notes receivables and accounts receivables” in  
“notes receivables” and “accounts receivables”

Notes receivables 3 234 982 2 042 921

Accounts receivables 113 322 127 383

Notes and accounts receivables –3 348 304 –2 170 304

Split of “notes and accounts payables” in “notes payables”  
and “accounts payables”

Notes payables 1 447 131 1 492 701

Accounts payables  100 000 –

Notes and accounts payables –1 547 131 –1 492 701

(ii) There is no impact on the Company balance sheet.

(b) Financial instruments
 According to the new financial instrument standard, the 

Group and the Company adjusted the cumulative impact of 
the initial implementation of the standard at the beginning of 
2019. The comparative financial statements have not been 
restated. As of 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019, neither 
the Group nor the Company designated financial assets that 
are measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL).

(i) As of 1 January 2019, a comparison table of the results of 
classification and measurement of financial assets in the 
Group's consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with the original financial instrument standards and the 
new financial instrument standards:

Original financial instrument standards New financial instrument standards

Item Measurement Book value Item Measurement Book value

Cash at bank and on hand Amortisation cost 3 720 401

Cash at bank and on hand Amortisation cost 3 720 401

Financial assets held for trading FVPL –

Financial assets at fair  
value through profit or loss FVPL 4 966 Financial assets held for trading FVPL 4 966

Financial liabilities at fair  
value through profit or loss FVPL 5 416 Financial liabilities held for trading FVPL 5 416

Notes receivables Amortisation cost 113 322

Notes receivables Amortisation cost –

Accounts receivables financing FVOCI 113 322

Accounts receivables Amortisation cost 3 234 982

Accounts receivables Amortisation cost 3 208 833

Accounts receivables financing FVOCI –

Other receivables Amortisation cost 255 962 Other receivables Amortisation cost 255 962

Other current assets FVPL 1 100 000 Financial assets held for trading FVPL 1 100 000

Long-term receivables Amortisation cost 42 951 Long-term receivables Amortisation cost 42 951

Cash at bank and on hand Amortisation cost 63

Cash at bank and on hand Amortisation cost 63

Financial assets held for trading FVPL –

Other receivables Amortisation cost 871 Other receivables Amortisation cost 871
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(ii) On 1 January 2019, the Group and the Company adjusted 
the book value of the original financial asset to the reconcil-
iation of the book value under the new financial instrument 
standard based on the measurement category under the 
new financial instrument standards:

Measurement categories under  
the new financial instrument standards Note

Financial assets at amortisation cost Table 1

Financial assets at FVPL Table 2

Financial liabilities at FVPL Table 3

Financial assets at FVOCI Table 4

Table 1: Financial assets at amortised cost under the new 
financial instrument standards

Note Book value

Consolidated Company

Accounts receivables (note 1)  
31 December 2018 3 647 217 871

Less: financial assets at FVOCI  
(new financial instrument standards) –113 322 –

Remeasurement:  
total expected credit losses –26 149 –

1 January 2019 3 507 746 871

Total amount of financial assets  
at amortisation cost (new financial 
instrument standards) 3 507 746 871

Note 1: as of 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019, the balance of receivables 
includes statements of notes receivables, accounts receivables, other 
receivables and long-term receivables.

Table 2: Financial assets at FVPL under the new financial 
instrument standards

Note Book value

Consolidated Company

Financial assets (incl. other non-current 
financial assets) 31 December 2018 – –

Add: financial assets at FVPL (original 
financial instrument standards)

4 (2),  
4 (3) 1 104 966 –

1 January 2019 1 104 966 –

Financial assets at FVPL (new financial 
instrument standards) 1 104 966 –

Table 3: Financial liabilities at FVPL under the new financial 
instrument standards

Note Book value

Consolidated Company

Financial liabilities (incl. other 
non-current financial liabilities) 31 
December 2018 – –

Add: financial liabilities at FVPL (original 
financial instrument standards) 4 (2) 5 416 –

1 January 2019 5 416 –

Financial liabilities at FVPL 
(new financial instrument standards) 5 416 –

Table 4: Financial assets at FVOCI under the new financial 
instrument standards

Note Book value

Consolidated Company

Accounts receivables financing  
31 December 2018 – –

Add: notes receivables (original 
financial instrument standards) 4 (8) 113 322 –

1 January 2019 113 322 –

Financial assets at FVOCI  
(new financial instrument standards) 113 322 –

(iii) As at 1 January 2019, the change of allowance for impair-
ment is as below:

Measurement 
categories

Allowance  
for impairment  
of receivables 

(original financial 
instrument  
standards) Remeasurement

Allowance  
for impairment  
of receivables 
(new financial 

instrument  
standards)

Financial assets 
at amortised cost

Allowance for 
impairment of 
receivables 14 087 26 149 40 236

Due to the implementation of the new financial instrument 
standards, as at 1 January 2019, the changes in accounting 
policy affected the following items in the Group’s consoli-
dated balance sheet: deferred income tax assets increased 
by RMB 3 433 000 and equity attributable to equity holders of 
the Company decreased by RMB 18 320 000; non-controlling 
interests decreased by RMB 4 396 000.
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3 Taxation

(1) The main categories and rates of taxes applicable  
to the Group for the years ended 31 December 2019 and  
31 December 2018 are set out below:  

Category Tax rate Corresponding countries/regions Tax base

Corporate income tax  (a)  Note 3 (1) (a)  Corresponding countries/regions where the Group is located  Taxable income 

Value-added tax (VAT)  (b)  1.5 - 35.0 %  Corresponding countries/regions where the Group is located  VAT payable 

Urban maintenance and construction tax  7.0 %  China  Turnover tax paid 

Educational surcharge  3.0 %  China  Turnover tax paid 

Local educational surcharges  2.0 %  China  Turnover tax paid 

(a) Corporate income tax
The corporate income tax rates applicable to the Group 
and its main subsidiaries are set out below:

Countries and regions 
Tax rate  
for 2019 

Tax rate  
for 2018 

The Company China 25.00 % 25.00 %

Saurer Intelligent Machinery Co. Ltd China 25.00 % 25.00 %

Saurer Hong Kong Machinery Co. Ltd Hong Kong 16.50 % 16.50 %

Saurer Asia Machinery Co. Ltd Hong Kong 16.50 % 16.50 %

Saurer (Jiangsu) Textile Machinery Co. Ltd China 15.00 % 15.00 %

Saurer (Changzhou) Textile Machinery Co. Ltd China 15.00 % 15.00 %

Saurer (Changzhou) Texparts Components Co. Ltd China 25.00 % 25.00 %

Saurer (Shanghai) Textile Machinery Technology Co. Ltd China 25.00 % 25.00 %

Saurer Finance Lease Co. Ltd China 25.00 % 25.00 %

Changzhou Jintan Saurer Investment Co. Ltd China 25.00 % 25.00 %

Saurer Xinjiang Intelligent Machinery Co. Ltd China 15.00 % 15.00 %

Saurer Intelligent Technology AG Switzerland 17.57 % 17.57 %

Saurer Industries AG (note 1) Switzerland N/A N/A

Saurer Têxtil Soluções Ltda. Brazil 34.00 % 34.00 %

SAURER AG Switzerland 17.53 % 17.40 %

Saurer Czech s.r.o. Czech 19.00 % 19.00 %

Saurer Technologies GmbH & Co. KG Germany 30.80 % 31.26 %

Saurer Spinning Solutions GmbH & Co. KG Germany 32.00 % 31.87 %

Saurer Fibrevision Ltd UK 19.00 % 20.00 %

Schlafhorst Machines LLP India 34.90 % 34.94 %

Saurer Textile Solutions Private Ltd India 33.38 % 34.94 %

Zinser Textile Machines LLP (note 2) India N/A N/A

Saurer México S.A. de C.V. Mexico 30.00 % 30.00 %

Saurer Components Pte. Ltd Singapore 17.00 % 17.00 %

Saurer Tekstil A.S. Turkey 22.00 % 22.00 %

Saurer Inc. US 24.36 % 21.00 %

Saurer Technologies Management GmbH Austria 30.80 % 31.27 %

Saurer Intelligent Machinery LLC (note 3) Uzbekistan 12.00 % N/A

Note 1: Saurer Industries AG was incorporated on 21 December 2017  
and dissolved on 22 November 2018.

Note 2: Zinser Textile Machines LLP was incorporated in November 2016  
and has not yet started the business.

Note 3: Saurer Intelligent Machinery LLC was incorporated on 16 April 2019.
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According to the “Announcement of policies regarding the 
corporate income tax deduction of equipment and tools” 
(Cai-Shui [2018] No. 54) and related regulations, the domes-
tic subsidiaries of the Group can deduct the whole pur-
chase cost of the assets lower than RMB 5 000 000 in the 
next month from the time that the assets were put into use 
in the calculation of taxable income. 

(b) Value-added tax (VAT)
The Group's sales of products are subject to VAT.

According to the “Announcement of adjustment of VAT rate 
from Ministry of Finance and State Administration of Taxa-
tion” (Cai-Shui [2018] No. 32) and related regulations, the 
sales income of products for the Chinese domestic market 
of the subsidiaries of the Company can apply a 13 % VAT 
rate. The applicable VAT rate of the same business before 
1 April 2019 was 16 %. The Company and domestic subsidi-
aries use the “exempt, credit, refund” method on goods 
exported. VAT input on purchase of raw materials, fuels, 
power and certain fixed assets can be deducted from VAT 
output. Tax payable is calculated using the taxable sales 
amount multiplied by the applicable tax rate less deduct-
ible VAT input of the current period. Tax payable of the 
Company’s subsidiaries outside China is calculated using 
the taxable sales amount multiplied by the applicable tax 
rate in each country less deductible VAT input of the cur-
rent period. In 2019, the applicable tax rate of the Com-
pany was ranging from 2.75 to 34 % (2018: 1.5 to 35 %). 

(2) Tax preference
On 6 July 2015, Saurer (Jiangsu) Textile Machinery Co. Ltd, a 
subsidiary of the Group, obtained the Advance High Technol-
ogy Enterprise Approval Certificate, with a validity period of 
three years. As a result, the enterprise income tax rate of 
Saurer Jiangsu reduced to 15 % from 1 January 2015 after 
approval from SAT, Jintan Office, Changzhou City, Jiangsu 
Province, PRC on 28 December 2015. In 2018, Saurer (Jiangsu) 
Textile Machinery Co. Ltd obtained the Advance High Tech-
nology Enterprise Approval Certificate and the validity period 
of the certificate is three years. The applicable enterprise 
income tax rate of the Company in 2018 and 2019 was 15 %.

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of “Circular on the Over-
all Promotion of Pilot Program of Levying VAT in place of Busi-
ness Tax” (Cai-Zheng [2016] No. 36), jointly issued by the Min-
istry of Finance and the State Administration of Taxation for 
exemplary service outsourcing enterprises registered in the 
pilot area, the taxable services in offshore service outsourc-
ing business are exempted from VAT. Pursuant to the approval 
from SAT, Jintan Office, Changzhou City, Jiangsu Province, 
PRC, relevant technical services and after-sales services of 
Saurer Jiangsu, a subsidiary of the Company, are exempted 
from VAT from 1 May 2016.

On 10 October 2015, Saurer (Changzhou) Textile Machinery Co. 
Ltd ("Saurer Changzhou"), a subsidiary of the Group, obtained 
the Advance High Technology Enterprise Approval Certificate, 
with a validity period of three years. As a result, the enterprise 
income tax rate of Saurer Changzhou reduced to 15 % from 1 
January 2015 after approval from SAT, Jintan Office, Changzhou 
City, Jiangsu Province, PRC on 22 September 2016. In 2018, Saurer 
(Changzhou) Textile Machinery Co. Ltd obtained the Advance 
High Technology Enterprise Approval Certificate and the validity 
period of the certificate is three years. The applicable enterprise 
income tax rate of the Company in 2018 and 2019 was 15 %.

According to the related regulation “Announcement of soft-
ware products VAT policies” (Cai-Shui [2011] No. 100) issued 
by the Ministry of Finance and the State Administration of 
Taxation, the VAT imposed exceeding 3 % will be refundable 
as soon as it is imposed for the 17 % (16 % from 1 May 2018) VAT 
imposed by ordinary VAT payers for selling self-produced and 
manufactured software products. The software business of 
Saurer (Changzhou) Textile Machinery Co. Ltd applied the 
VAT rebate policy from 1 October 2018 with approval from 
SAT, Jintan Office, Changzhou City, Jiangsu Province, PRC.

According to the “Announcement of issues concerning corpo-
rate income tax of fully implementing the strategy of develop-
ment in China’s western region” (2012, No. 12), valid from 1 Jan-
uary 2011 to 31 December 2020, enterprises located in the 
western region with main business listed in the “Catalogue of 
encouraged industries in the western region” and main oper-
ating revenue greater than 70 % of total revenue in the current 
year shall be subject to a reduced enterprise income tax rate 
of 15%. As at 2 January 2018, Saurer Xinjiang Intelligent Machin-
ery Co. Ltd applied with approval from the State Administra-
tion of Taxation of Urumqi Economic and Technological Devel-
opment Zone for the corporate income tax rate of 15 % .

SAURER AG, a subsidiary of the Company, has obtained in 
Switzerland a tax break from the local state government and 
from the local department for commerce, education and 
research. From 1 July 2013 to 30 June 2018, the taxable amount 
of SAURER AG is reduced by 50 % according to the tax levels 
of the state when certain conditions are satisfied, with a ceil-
ing of CHF 10 million taxable net profit. If SAURER AG goes 
bankrupt or relocates to another state or country, the local 
state government can retroactively revoke the tax break. 

Saurer Intelligent Technology AG, a subsidiary of the Company, 
has obtained a tax break for direct federal tax and local state 
income tax. a) Direct federal tax reductions will be granted 
for 10 years for a maximum tax credit of CHF 22 643 291 subject 
to certain conditions and requirements. b) State income tax: 
for a total period of 10 calendar years, 60 % of the income tax 
generally due on the taxable business profits exceeding  
CHF 2 000 000 shall be exempt from local state income tax. 
The first CHF 2 000 000 profits and 40 % of the profits exceed-
ing CHF 2 000 000 are taxed at statutory local state tax rate. 
The maximum tax relief must not exceed CHF 23 000 000.
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4 Notes to the consolidated financial 
statements

(1) Cash at bank and on hand 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Cash on hand 27 58

Cash at bank 1 973 544 3 235 159

Other cash balances 429 346 485 184

2 402 917 3 720 401

Including:  
total deposits outside China 105 197 77 538

(i)  As at 31 December 2019, other cash balances included: 
other cash balance of RMB 370 792 000 was placed as a 
security deposit for the letter of guarantee, other cash 
balance of RMB 57 000 000 was placed a deposit for the 
bank acceptance; other cash balance of RMB 1 554 000 
was placed as various other deposits.

 As at 31 December 2018, other cash balances included: 
other cash balance of RMB 384 105 000 was placed as a 
security deposit for the letter of guarantee, other cash 
balance of RMB 100 000 000 was placed a deposit for the 
bank acceptance; other cash balance of RMB 1 079 000 
was placed as other deposits.

(2) Financial assets/financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss (FVPL)

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Financial assets at fair value  
through profit or loss  
–  Forward foreign exchange contracts 

– cash flow hedges (note 4 (3)) – 4 966

Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss 
–  Forward foreign exchange contract 

– cash flow hedges (note 4 (3)) – 5 416

(3) Financial assets held for trading

31 December 2019 1 January 2019

Financial assets at fair value  
through profit or loss  
–  of which  

Designated financial assets  
at fair value through profit or loss
–  Forward foreign exchange  

contract – cash flow hedges (a) 6 310 1 104 966 

6 310 1 104 966 

(a) The Company’s subsidiaries Saurer Spinning Solutions 
GmbH & Co. KG, Saurer Technologies GmbH & Co. KG and 
Saurer Inc. entered into foreign exchange forward con-
tracts to mitigate foreign exchange risks arising from the 
collection and payment in foreign currencies for the years 
ended 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018. The for-
eign exchange forward contracts entered into by the 
Group meet the conditions for applying hedge account-
ing. Those foreign exchange forward contracts for buying 
or selling EUR, USD, GBP, SGD and CHF at fixed exchange 
rates are cash flow hedges.

 For the year ended 31 December 2019, net losses arising 
from changes in fair value of the effective portion of cash 
flow hedges amounting to RMB 56 000 (2018: net losses 
amounted to RMB 820 000) were recorded in other com-
prehensive income. The cash flow hedges had no non-ef-
fective portion.

 As at 31 December 2019, the notional amount of the out-
standing foreign exchange forward contracts of the Group 
were approximately RMB 617 178 000 (2018: RMB 898 611 000) 
which will expire within two years.

 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

 
1 January  

2019
Increase  

in 2019
Decrease  

in 2019
31 December  

2019

Financial liabilities  
at fair value through  
profit or loss;
–  of which

Designated financial 
liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss 5 416 10 478 5 416 10 478

–  Forward foreign 
exchange contract 

–  cash flow hedges (a) 5 416 10 478 5 416 10 478
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(5) Accounts receivables

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Accounts receivables 4 686 805 3 292 020

Less: long-term receivables (note 4(10)) –463 348 –42 951

4 223 457 3 249 069

Less: provision for bad debts –60 371 –14 087

4 163 086 3 234 982

Accounts receivables falling due after one year are shown 
in long-term receivables.
 

(a) The aging analysis of accounts receivables is as follows:

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Not due 1 626 523 570 937

Overdue within 3 months 950 940 1 771 276

Overdue between 3 and 6 months 132 941 81 277

Overdue between 6 and 12 months 655 533 72 181

Overdue more than 1 year 857 520 753 398

4 223 457 3 249 069

(b) Allowance for bad debts
For the accounts receivables, the Group measures the loss 
allowance based on the expected credit loss for the entire 
duration.

(i)  The analysis of the accounts receivables for the grouping 
of provision for bad debts is as follows:

Grouping 1:  
aging group 31 December 2019

Balance Provision for bad debts

Amount
Lifetime expected 

credit loss rate Amount

Not due 547 832 0.03 – 1.75 % –1 341

Overdue within 3 months 243 393 0.83 – 18.37 % –2 286

Overdue between 3 and 6 months 14 616 3.21 – 23.31 % –1 686

Overdue between 6 and 12 months 8 119 6.80 – 29.26 % –1 678

Overdue more than 1 year 14 244 42.90 – 100.00 % –7 181

828 204 –14 172

Grouping 2:  
specific risk group 31 December 2019

Balance Provision for bad debts

Amount
Lifetime expected 

credit loss rate Amount

Specific risk customers 3 395 253 0.36 – 1.80 % –46 199

(ii)  In 2019, the provision for bad debts was RMB 30 021 000 
(2018: RMB 10 783 000). The reversal or write-off of provi-
sion for bad debts amounted to RMB 8 970 000 (2018: 
RMB 3 265 000). Significant reversal or write-off is shown 
as below:

2019 Reason

Basis and rationality in 
determining the original 
provision for bad debts Amount

Recovery  
mode

China  
customer B Verdict

Provide on the basis  
of aging 3 748

Cash  
collected

2018 Reason

Basis and rationality in 
determining the original 
provision for bad debts Amount

Whether  
arising from 

related party 
transactions

China  
customer A

Business 
recovery

Provide on  
the basis of aging 1 096

Cash  
collected

(c) Accounts receivables that are written off
In 2019, the accounts receivables that were written off 
amounted to RMB 1 423 000 (2018: RMB 3 514 000). The 
significant accounts receivables are analysed as below:

2019 Reason Nature Amount

Whether 
arising from 

related party 
transactions

China 
customer D

Can not be recovered after 
many times of collection, 
and write-off according to 
the policies of the Company

Payment 
for goods 1 141 No

2018 Reason Nature Amount

Whether 
arising from 

related party 
transactions

Overseas 
customer C

Can not be recovered after 
many times of collection, 
and write-off according to 
the policies of the Company

Payment 
for goods 1 363 No
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(6) Accounts receivables financing

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Accounts receivables financing 7 025 –

The subsidiary of the Group discounts and endorses part of 
bank acceptance notes based on its daily working capital 
management and meets the conditions for derecognition. 
Therefore, the bank acceptance notes of this subsidiary are 
classified to financial assets at FVOCI.

The Group does not have a single bank acceptance note for 
impairment provision. As of 31 December 2019, the Group 
measures bad debt provisions based on the expected credit 
losses throughout its lifetime; no provision for bad debts is 
required for bank acceptance bills. The Group believes that 
the bank acceptance bills held do not have significant credit 
risk and will not cause significant losses due to bank default.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s subsidiary Saurer Jiangsu 
pledged notes receivables of RMB 2 224 000 to the bank for 
letters of guarantee amounting to RMB 1 906 000.

As of 31 December 2019, the Group's endorsed or discounted 
but receivable notes listed in the receivables financing are as 
follows:

Derecognition No derecognition

Bank acceptance notes 130 666 –

(7) Other receivables

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Loans receivables from employees 8 179 7 223

Deposits receivables 7 167 8 149

Tax refund receivables 1 818 9 575

Interest receivables 57 10 787

Accounts receivables 
from third parties (a) – 202 500

Others 12 400 17 728

29 621 255 962

Less: provision for bad debts – –

29 621 255 962

(a) The aging of other receivables is analysed as follows:

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Within 1 year 12 885 244 459

1 to 2 years 8 534 3 035 

Over 2 years 8 202 8 468 

29 621 255 962 

 As at 31 December 2019, the Group has no other receivables 
in the second and third stages, and the amount of bad debt 
for other receivables in the first stage is not significant.

 In 2019 and 2018, there is no provision for bad debts to be 
recovered or reversed and no other receivables were actu-
ally written off.

(b) The analysis of top 5 other receivables by balance
 As of 31 December 2019, the top 5 other receivables are 

analysed by balance as follows:

Nature Balance Aging

% of the 
total 

amount

Provision 
for bad 

debts

Jiangsu Jintan 
Management 
Committee of Economic 
Development Zone

Project 
establish-
ment 
deposit 1 800

Over 
3 years 6.08 % –

Shanghai Huatian Real 
Estate Development 
Company

House  
rental  
deposit 871

Over 
3 years 2.94 % –

Jiangsu Huihong 
International Group 
Exhibition Shares 
Limited Deposit 768

Within 
1 year 2.59 %

Shanghai Intellectual 
Property Court Deposit 500

Over 
3 years 1.69 % –

Oerlikon (China) 
Science and 
Technology Co. Ltd

House  
rental  
deposit 493

Over 
3 years 1.66 % –

4 432 14.96 % –

(8) Advances to suppliers

(a) The aging of advances to suppliers is analysed as follows: 

31 December 2019 31 December 2019

Amount
% total  

balance Amount
% total  

balance

Within 6 months 51 184 44 % 105 714  80 %

6 to 12 months 13 188 11 % 21 864  16 %

Over 1 year 53 271 45 % 5 380  4 %

117 643 100 % 132 958  100 %

 
As at 31 December 2019, advances with the aging over one 

year were unsettled advances for procurement, amounted 
to RMB 53 271 000 (2018: RMB 5 380 000).

(b) As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, the top 5 
advances to suppliers are analysed by balance as follows:

Total balance of the top 5 
advances to suppliers

% of total advances  
to suppliers

31 December 2019 49 521 42 %

31 December 2018 78 036 59 %
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(9) Inventories
(a) Inventories are summarised by categories as follows:

31 December 2019  31 December 2018 

Raw materials

Carrying  
amount

Provision for decline  
in inventories

Carrying  
amount

Carrying  
amount

Provision for decline  
in inventories

Carrying  
amount

1 000 786 –53 283 947 503 1 009 830  –79 297  930 533

Work in progress 208 098 –2 419 205 679 172 606  –2 500  170 106

Finished goods 251 730 –11 587 240 143 361 493 –8 030 353 463

Spare parts 345 775 –42 962 302 813 359 022 –50 479 308 543

1 806 389 –110 251 1 696 138 1 902 951 –140 306 1 762 645

(b) Provision for decline in inventories is analysed as follows:

31 December 
2018

Increase in the  
current year Decrease in 2019

Foreign currency 
translation difference

31 December 
2019

Accrual Reversal Write-off

Raw materials  79 297  19 711 –20 110 –25 199 –416 53 283

Work in progress  2 500 110 –125 –54 –12 2 419

Finished goods 8 030 7 339 – –3 581 –201 11 587

Spare parts 50 479 19 122 –6 081 –20 086 –472 42 962

140 306 46 282 –26 316 –48 920 –1 101 110 251

(c) Provision for decline in inventories in 2018 is as follows:

Specific determining basis for net realisable value
The reason for reversal or write-off of  
provision for decline in the value of inventories

Raw materials Net realisable value is determined based on the 
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, 
less the estimated costs to completion and estimated 
costs necessary to make the sale and related taxes.

The difference between the accrued provision for the 
decline in the value of inventories in the current year and 
prior year is reversed; the provision for decline in the  
value of inventories in prior year is written-off based on the 
physical disposal of the inventories in the current year.

Work in progress

Finished goods 

Spare parts
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(10) Long-term receivables

31 December  
2019

31 December  
2018

Accounts receivables (note 4 (3) (b)) 512 389 46 396

Less: accounts receivables due within one year –49 041 –3 445

 463 348 42 951

Less: allowances for accounts receivables –117 –

463 231 42 951

In 2019, the Group signed a series of sales agreements with 
three third-party customers (collectively referred to as "the 
Three Customers") to provide intelligent spinning equipment 
for their expansion and new factories. As of 31 December 
2019, the Group has recognised the revenue of RMB 451 536 000 
with these three customers, and the Three Customers have 
signed and confirmed that the relevant goods have been 
delivered. Based on the sales agreement, the Three Custom-
ers would make payment to the Group by instalments, and 
mortgaged the equipment related to the payment in full to 
the Group as the repayment guarantee. As of 31 December 
2019, the Group has received a total of RMB 26 705 000 from 
the Three Customers, and the remaining accounts receivables 
of RMB 179 811 000 will be due within one year, which is recog-
nised as accounts receivables, and the RMB 302 195 000 will be 
due after one year, which is recognised as long-term receiva-
bles. As of the date of approval and issue of the financial 
statements, the Group has received a total of RMB 104 705 000 
from the Three Customers.
 

(11) Other current assets

31 December  
2019

31 December  
2018

Enterprise income tax prepaid 124 474 13 831

VAT input 83 237 187 224

Wealth management products (WMPs) (a) – 1 100 000

207 711 1 301 055

(a) The balance of WMPs on 31 December 2018 comprises: the 
subsidiary of the Company, Saurer Intelligent Machinery 
Co. Ltd, purchased a principal-guaranteed WMP amount-
ing to RMB 1 100 000 000 with an expected annual yield of 
2.10 % that could be redeemed at any time in the open 
period. The WMP was fully collected on 2 January 2019. 
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(12) Fixed assets

31 December 
2018 Increase in 2019

Decrease  
in 2019

Foreign currency 
translation difference

31 December 
2019

Transfers from 
construction in progress

Other  
increases

Total cost 1 649 982  325 540 229 518 (30 811) 4 865 2 179 094

Buildings 467 518  278 093 148 271 –2 011 2 053 893 924

Machinery equipment 
and other equipment 1 063 979  47 447 81 247 –28 800 2 433 1 166 306

Land ownership 118 485  – – – 379 118 864

Total accumulated 
depreciation –739 448 – –140 664 21 074 –4 079 –863 117

Buildings –127 335 – –22 462 232 –880 –150 445

Machinery equipment 
and other equipment –612 113 – –118 202 20 842 –3 199 –712 672

Land ownership –  – – – – –

Total impairment –7 534 – – – 38 –7 496

Buildings –  – – – – –

Machinery equipment 
and other equipment –7 534 – – – 38 –7 496

Land ownership –  – – – – –

Carrying amount 903 000  1 308 481

Buildings 340 183  743 479

Machinery equipment 
and other equipment 444 332  446 138

Land ownership 118 485  118 864

(a)	In	2019,	depreciation	of	fixed	assets	was	RMB	140 664 000	
(2018:	 RMB	 136 771 000)	 of	 which	 RMB	 110 313 000,	 RMB	
9 662 000,	 RMB	 15 270 000	 and	 RMB	 5 419 000	 (2018:	 RMB	
107 133 000,	RMB	7 651 000,	RMB	14 414 000	and	RMB	7 573 000)	
were recorded in cost of sales, operating expenses, general 
and administrative expenses and research and develop-
ment expenses.

 In 2019, the cost of fixed asset transfers from construction 
in	progress	were	RMB	325 540 000	(2018:	RMB	76 206 000).

(b) Information on mortgages and pledges
 Refer to note 4 (20) (c) and note 4 (28) (c) for mortgage 

information of fixed assets.
 
(c) In 2019 and 2018, the Company had no idle fixed assets, 

fixed assets held under financial lease, fixed assets used 
for operating lease or fixed assets without property certif-
icates.
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(13) Construction in progress

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Book  
balance

Provision for  
impairment 

Carrying 
 amount

Book  
balance

Provision for  
impairment 

Carrying 
 amount

Xinjiang Plant Construction Project 262 749 – 262 749 342 095  – 342 095 

Other plant and equipment 119 149 – 119 149 122 941  – 122 941 

381 898 – 381 898 465 036 – 465 036

(a) Changes in major construction in progress
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Xinjiang Plant 
Construction  
Project (note) 841 279  342 095   198 276 –277 622 – – 262 749 64 % 64 % 27 175 2 821 5.17 % Loan

Other plant and 
equipment 168 304 122 941  50 607 –47 918 –6 630 149 119 149 71 % 71 % – – –

Self-
raised

1 009 583 465 036    248 883 –325 540 –6 630 149 381 898 27 175 2 821

As at 31 December 2019, the Group believed that there 
was no indication that any construction in progress may 
be impaired, therefore no provision was made.

Note: as at 31 December 2019, the constructions in pro-
gress of the subsidiary of the Company, Saurer Xinjiang 
Intelligent Machinery Co. Ltd, were placed as collateral for 
a short-term loan and a long-term loan. For details, refer to 
note 4 (20) (c) and note 4 (28) (c).
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(14) Intangible assets/development expenditure

31 December  
2018

Increase in 
2019

Decrease in 
2019

Foreign currency 
translation difference

31 December  
2019

Cost

Development cost 90 417  114 312 –23 591 813 181 951

Total intangible assets 1 658 511  46 239 –597 28 354 1 732 507

 ʸ Land use rights 118 427  – – – 118 427

 ʸ Customer relations 104 621  12 699 – 359 117 679

 ʸ Patents 355 284  808 – –601 355 491

 ʸ Trademarks 866 671  339 – 25 122 892 132

 ʸ Software and others 59 029  8 802 –597 195 67 429

 ʸ Capitalising R&D expenditure – technology 154 479  23 591 – 3 279 181 349

Accumulated amortisation

Development cost –  – – – –

Total intangible assets –362 487 –92 546 597 –1 772 –456 208

 ʸ Land use rights –6 458 –2 252 – – –8 710

 ʸ Customer relations –61 311 –14 019 – –514 –75 844

 ʸ Patents –205 588 –37 671 – 40 –243 219

 ʸ Trademarks –  – – – –

 ʸ Software and others –33 200 –8 054 597 –150 –40 807

 ʸ Capitalising R&D expenditure – technology –55 930 –30 550 – –1 148 –87 628

Impairment

 ʸ Capitalising R&D expenditure – technology –5 312 – – 167 –5,145

Carrying amount

Development cost 90 417  181 951

Total intangible assets 1 290 712  1 270 810

 ʸ Land use rights 111 969  109 717

 ʸ Customer relations 43 310  41 835

 ʸ Patents 149 696  112 272

 ʸ Trademarks 866 671  891 788

 ʸ Software and others 25 829  26 622

 ʸ Capitalising research and  
development expenditure – technology 93 237  88 576

(a) In 2019, the amortisation of intangible assets amounted to 
RMB 92 546 000 (2018: RMB 85 446 000).

As at 31 December 2019, the land use rights with book value 
amounting to RMB 87 507 000 (original value amounted to 
RMB 92 802 000; 2018: book value amounted to RMB 
89 244 000) of Saurer Xinjiang Intelligent Machinery Co. Ltd, 
a subsidiary of the Company, were placed as the security 
collateral for a bank loan. The mortgage term was up to 
48 months (note 4 (20) (c) and note 4 (28) (c)).
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(b) Expenditure on R&D of the Group is as follows:

Project name
31 December  

2018 Increase in 2019 Decrease in 2019
Foreign currency 

translation difference
31 December  

2019

Expenditures  
on R&D

Recognised  
in profit or loss

Recognised as 
intangible assets

Project 1  4 740  – –  –4 659 –81  –  

Project 2  3 680 – –  –3 649 –31  –  

Project 3  2 349  30 916  –28 223 – 162  5 204

Project 4  9 778  15 003  –     –   134  24 915

Project 5  36 842  7 814 – – –89  44 567

Project 6  5 305  3 278 – – 13  8 596

Project 7  1 130  6 271  –     –   71  7 472

Project 8 –  7 613  –     –   93  7 706

Other 26 593 503 708 –432 068 –15 283 541 83 491

90 417  574 603 –460 291 –23 591 813 181 951

R&D expenditures incurred in 2019 amounted to RMB 
574 603 000 (2018: RMB 530 221 000), of which RMB 
460 291 000 (2018: RMB 475 204 000) was the expenditure 
incurred on the research phase and recognised in profit or 
loss during the current year, RMB 23 591 000 (2018: RMB 
16 890 000) was recognised as intangible assets, and RMB 
181 951 000 (in 2018: RMB 90 417 000) was incurred on the 
development phase and was included in the year-end 
balance of development costs.

Development costs incurred in 2019 accounted for 20 % of 
total expenditures on R&D (in 2018: 10 %). 

As at 31 December 2019, intangible assets resulting from 
internal R&D of the Group comprised 7 % of the carrying 
amount of intangible assets (2018: 7.2 %).

As at 31 December 2019, the Company’s subsidiary, SAU-
RER AG, made a provision of CHF 753 000 (equivalent to 
RMB 5 145 000) for impairment of parts of R&D projects 
(2018: CHF 753 000 (equivalent to RMB 5 312 000)). 

As at 31 December 2019, while performing the intangible 
assets-trademark impairment test, the management 
estimated the future cash flows on the basis of historical 
experience and the prediction of market developments 
and estimated the brand commission rate (1.5 %) on the 
basis of historical experience and the brand maintenance 
charge ratio. The adopted discount rate (pre-tax dis-
count rate: 16~17 %) reflects the specific risk of trademark 
rights. The above hypotheses were used to analyse the 
recoverable amount of trademark rights in accordance 
with the historical experience of the Group and related 
external information.
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(15) Goodwill

31  
December 

2018
Movement  

in 2019

Foreign  
currency 

translation 
difference

31  
December 

2019

Goodwill 

 ʸ Acquisition of natural 
fibres and textile 
components business 
from the Oerlikon Group 599 777  – 9 779 609 556

 ʸ Acquisition of Verdol 
twisting operations 15 360  – 6 15 366

615 137  – 9 785 624 922

Less: impairment –  – – –

615 137  – 9 785 624 922

Goodwill is the result of the acquisition of the natural fibres 
and textile components business from the Oerlikon Group in 
2013 and the acquisition of Verdol twisting operations in 2015.

The allocation of goodwill to the asset groups and combina-
tion of asset groups are summarised by operating segments 
as follows:

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Spinning Solutions 520 827 512 401

Technologies 104 095 102 736

624 922 615 137

The main hypothesis for future discounted cash flows:

Spinning Solutions Technologies

Growth rate in forecast period –24.0 ~ 26.0 % 5.0 ~ 28.0 %

Growth rate in stable period 2.30 % 2.30 %

Gross profit rate 26.0 ~ 31.0 % 21.0 ~ 27.0 %

Discount rate 14.33 % 14.21 %

The Group determines the growth rate and gross profit rate 
on the basis of historical experience and the prediction of 
market development and uses the pre-tax rate that can 
reflect the specific risk of the asset groups and combination 
of asset groups as the discount rate. The recoverable amount 
of the asset groups or combination of asset groups is calcu-
lated using the estimated cash flows determined according 
to the five-year budget approved by the management. Fixed 
growth rates will be used as basis of estimation after five 
years. The cash flows beyond the five-year period are calcu-
lated based on the estimated sales growth rates. The esti-
mated sales growth rates are determined based on the esti-
mated data of the market by management. Management 
determines budgeted gross margins on the basis of historical 
experience and the prediction of market development. The 
assumptions above are used to assess the recoverable 
amount of each asset group or combination of asset groups 
within the corresponding business segment. According to the 
result of the impairment test, the recoverable amount of 
asset group or combination of asset groups is higher than its 
carrying amount. Thus, no impairment loss is recognised. The 
allocation of goodwill has not changed in 2019.

(16) Long-term prepaid expenses

31  
December 

2018
Increase  

in 2019
Amortisation 

in 2019

Foreign  
currency 

translation 
difference

31  
December 

2019

Leasehold 
improvement 4 121 186 –1 388 –6 2 913
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(17) Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
(a) Deferred tax assets without taking into consideration the 

offsetting of balances

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Deductible temporary 
differences and 

deductible losses
Deferred  

tax assets

Deductible temporary 
differences and  

deductible losses
Deferred  

tax assets

Bad debts provision for accounts receivables 100 033 19 651 803 221

Provision for decline in inventories 46 591 10 036 41 968  9 060 

Defined benefit plan 272 114 87 428 179 092  53 321 

Other payables and accrued expenses 88 013 18 230 78 243  16 416 

Provisions 5 334 842 450 91

Depreciation of fixed assets 10 878 1 180 12 543  3 882 

Amortisation of intangible assets 57 287 7 481 50 157  9 384 

Deductible losses 372 170 67 596 36 812  12 000 

Elimination of intra-group unrealised profit 62 754 11 642 67 116  15 184 

Others 12 883 3 967 577 142

1 028 057 228 053 467 761 119 701

Including:

Expected to reverse within one year (inclusive) 131 963 56 739

Expected to reverse after one year 96 090  62 962

228 053  119 701

(b) Deferred tax liabilities without taking into consideration 
the offsetting of balances

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Taxable temporary 
differences

Deferred tax 
liabilities

Taxable temporary  
differences

Deferred tax 
liabilities

Depreciation of fixed assets 151 014 29 083 118 087 25 701

Amortisation of intangible assets 457 512 84 221 449 088 96 828

Capitalised development cost 207 150 65 592 144 551 45 853

Defined benefit plan 134 308 18 989 163 238 28 680

Bad debts provision for accounts receivables 4 909 867 8 136 1 509

Provision for decline in inventories 12 558 1 889 18 621 3 326

Withholding income tax of profit not remitted  
by subsidiaries outside China – – 332 231 29 435

Interest receivables 621 154 501 124

Others 224 363 42 532 102 901 21 346

1 192 435 243 327  1 337 354  252 802

Including:

Expected to reverse within one year (inclusive) 10 692 16 997 

Expected to reverse after one year 232 635 235 805 

243 327  252 802
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(c) Deductible temporary differences and deductible losses 
that are not recognised as deferred tax assets are ana-
lysed as follows:

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Deductible temporary differences 160 871 69 556

Deductible losses 334 255 165 931

495 126 235 487

(d) Deductible losses that are not recognised as deferred tax 
assets will expire in the following years:

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

2020 1 028 – 

2021 2 210 1 028 

2022  506 2 210 

2023 122 455 506

2024 and above 208 056 162 187 

334 255 165 931 

(e) The net balances of deferred tax assets and liabilities after 
offsetting are as follows:

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Offsetting 
amount

After  
offsetting

Offsetting 
amount

After  
offsetting

Deferred tax assets –117 523 110 530 –69 244 50 457

Deferred tax liabilities –117 523 125 804 –69 244 183 558

(f) Temporary differences that are not recognised as deferred 
tax liabilities and related to investment to subsidiaries 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Retained earnings of subsidiaries 1 680 118 775 205

(18) Allowance for assets impairment

31  
December  

2018

Changes in 
accounting 

policies

1  
January  

2019 Increase Decrease

Foreign 
currency 

translation

31  
December  

2019

Reversal Write-off

Provision for/reversal of bad debts  14 087 26 149 40 236 30 021 –8 970 –1 423 507 60 371

Including: provision for bad debts of accounts 
receivables  14 087 26 149 40 236 30 021 –8 970 –1 423 507 60 371

Provision for long-term accounts receivables – – – 117 – – – 117

Provision for decline in the value of inventories  140 306 –  140 306 46 282 –26 316 –48 920 –1 101 110 251

Provision for impairment of fixed assets  7 534 –  7 534 – – – –38 7 496

Provision for impairment of intangible assets  5 312 –  5 312 – – – –167 5 145

 167 239 26 149 193 388 76 420 –35 286 –50 343 –799 183 380
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(19) Other non-current assets

31 December  
2019

31 December  
2018

Defined benefit plan assets (note 4 (30)) 134 308 163 238

Prepayment for machinery equipment 68 217 252 866

Margin (a) 15 000 –

Other 11 259 11 480

228 784 427 584

(a) As at 31 December 2019, the Company’s subsidiary Saurer 
Xinjiang Intelligent Machinery Co. Ltd pledged the deposit 
of RMB 15 000 000 to the bank as the guarantee for the 
long-term loan of RMB 250 000 000 (note 4 (28) (d)).

(20) Short-term borrowings

Original 
currency

31 December  
2019

31 December  
2018

Credited borrowings (a) RMB  359 981 100 000

Guaranteed borrowings (b) RMB 513 088 297 573

Guaranteed and mortgaged 
borrowings (c) RMB 245 000 –

Pledged borrowings (d) EUR 96 734 –

Guaranteed borrowings (e) EUR 669 330 1 051 419

Guaranteed borrowings (f) INR 55 143 50 342

Guaranteed borrowings (g) USD 2 024 –

Guaranteed and pledged 
borrowings (h) RMB 300 000 –

2 241 300 1 499 334 

(a) As at 31 December 2019, the credited borrowing of the 
Company amounted to RMB 359 981 000 (with an annual 
interest rate ranging from 4.35 to 5.66 %) (2018: RMB 
100 000 000, with an annual interest rate of 5.66 %).

 
(b) As at 31 December 2019, the guaranteed borrowings of 

RMB 513 088 000 (2018: RMB 297 573 000) were borrowings 
of the Company and the Company's subsidiaries Saurer 
(Jiangsu) Textile Machinery Co. Ltd, Saurer (Changzhou) 
Textile Machinery Co. Ltd and Saurer Xinjiang Intelligent 
Machinery Co. Ltd, and were guaranteed by Jiangsu Jin-
sheng Industry Co. Ltd, Mr Pan Xueping and Mrs Chen Mei-
fang respectively, by providing a maximum amount guar-
antee and a joint liability guarantee (note 7 (4) (h)), with an 
annual interest rate of 4.35 to 5.66 % (2018: 4.79 to 5.66 %).

(c) As at 31 December 2019, the guaranteed and mortgaged 
borrowings of RMB 245 000 000 were borrowings of the 
Company and the Company's subsidiaries Saurer 
(Jiangsu) Textile Machinery Co. Ltd including:

(i) as of 31 December 2019, the total borrowing amount was 
RMB 150 000 000 (31 December 2018: Nil) and was guar-
anteed by Jiangsu Jinsheng Industry Co. Ltd and Mr Pan 
Xueping, by providing a maximum amount guarantee and 
a joint liability guarantee (note 7 (4) (h)), and mortgages 
of construction in progress and land user's right with an 
annual interest rate of 5.22 % (2018: Nil).

(ii) as of 31 December 2019, the total amount of borrowings 
was RMB 95 000 000 (31 December 2018: Nil), was guaran-
teed by Jiangsu Jinsheng Industry Co. Ltd, Mr Pan Xueping 
and Mrs Chen Meifang, and was mortgaged with mechan-
ical equipment, with an annual interest rate of 4.79 % 
(2018: Nil).

 
(d) As at 31 December 2019, the total borrowing amount of 

EUR 12 390 000 (equivalent to RMB 96 734 000) (2018: Nil), 
was pledged by the Company's guarantee deposit of 
RMB 10 000 000, with an annual interest rate of 0.65 % 
(2018: Nil).

(e) As at 31 December 2019, the guaranteed borrowings of 
EUR 85 725 000 (equivalent to RMB 669 330 000) (2018: 
EUR 133 988 000, equivalent to RMB 1 051 419 000) was bor-
rowed by the Company’s subsidiaries, Saurer (Jiangsu) 
Textile Machinery Co. Ltd and Saurer Spinning Solutions 
GmbH & Co. KG, including:

(i) as at 31 December 2019, the borrowing of Saurer (Jiangsu) 
Textile Machinery Co. Ltd with a total amount of EUR 
4 000 000 (equivalent to RMB 31 232 000) (2018: EUR 
9 974 000 (equivalent to RMB 78 267 000)) was guaranteed 
by Jiangsu Jinsheng Industry Co. Ltd, Mr Pan Xueping and 
Mrs. Chen Meifang by providing a maximum amount guar-
antee and a joint liability guarantee. The annual interest 
rate was 2.50 % (2018: 2.50 %).

(ii) as at 31 December 2019, the borrowing of Saurer (Jiangsu) 
Textile Machinery Co. Ltd with a total amount of EUR 
1 060 000 (equivalent to RMB   276 000) (2018: Nil) was guar-
anteed by the Company by providing a maximum amount 
guarantee and a joint liability guarantee. The annual inter-
est rate was 2.70 % (2018: Nil).

(iii) as at 31 December 2019, the borrowing of Saurer Spin-
ning Solutions GmbH & Co. KG with a total amount of 
EUR 80 665 000 (equivalent to RMB 629 822 000) (2018: 
EUR 124 014 000 (equivalent to RMB 973 152 000)) was 
guaranteed by Saurer Hong Kong Machinery Company 
Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, with an annual inter-
est rate ranging from 1.40 to 2.25 % (2018: 1.65 to 2.05 %).
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(f) As at 31 December 2019, the guaranteed borrowings of 
INR 561 495 000 (equivalent to RMB 55 143 000) (2018: INR 
513 763 000 (equivalent to RMB 50 342 000)) were secured 
borrowings of the Company's subsidiary Saurer Textile 
Solutions Private Ltd, guaranteed by the Company’s sub-
sidiary Saurer Hong Kong Machinery Co. Ltd, with an 
annual interest rate of 6.20 to 9.50 % (2018: 5.70 to 9.50 %).

 
(g) As at 31 December 2019, the guaranteed borrowings of 

USD 290 000 (equivalent to RMB 2 024 000) (2018: Nil) were 
secured borrowings from the Company's subsidiary Saurer 
(Jiangsu) Textile Machinery Co. Ltd, guaranteed by the 
Company, with an annual interest rate of 4.00 % (2018: Nil).

(h) As at 31 December 2019, the total amount of borrowings 
was RMB 300 000 000 (2018: Nil), which was guaranteed by 
Jiangsu Jinsheng Industry Co. Ltd, Mr and Mrs Pan Xueping 
and the Company’s subsidiary Saurer Intelligent Machinery 
Co. Ltd (note 7 (4) (h)), with the fixed deposit certificate of 
Jiangsu Jinsheng Asset Management Co. Ltd of RMB 
303 400 000 as the pledge, with an annual interest rate of 
4.35 % (2018: Nil).

(i)  As at 31 December 2019, the annual interest rates of 
short-term borrowings ranged from 0.65 to 9.50 % (2018: 
1.65 to 9.50 %).

(j) As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, there was 
no overdue short-term borrowing.

(21) Notes and accounts payables

Notes payables

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Bank acceptance notes 57 000 100 000

 
(22) Accounts payables

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Material trade payables 1 586 229 1 447 131

 
As at 31 December 2019, accounts payables with aging over 
one year amounted to RMB 62 628 000 (2018: RMB 79 521 000), 
and mainly comprised unsettled material trade payables.

(23) Advances from customers

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Advances from customers 260 616 586 799

As at 31 December 2019, advances from customers with aging 
over one year amounted to RMB 74 366 000 (2018: RMB 
21 350 000), and mainly comprised advances for machinery 
orders.
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(24) Employee benefits payables

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Short-term employee benefits (a) 182 077 208 068

Defined contribution plans (b) 3 359 1 640

Termination benefits (c) 1 923 2 271

Long-term employee benefits 
payables within one year (note 4 (30)) 77 060 62 686

264 419 274 665

(a) Short-term employee benefits

31 December  
2018

Increase  
in 2019

Decrease 
in 2019

Foreign currency  
translation difference

31 December  
2019

Wages and salaries, bonuses, allowances and subsidies 139 241 1 302 543 –1 321 246 2 363 122 901

Welfare of employees – 8 423 –8 264 –9 150

Social security contributions 922 75 709 –75 479 –20 1 132

Including:

 ʸ Medical insurance 493 73 296 –72 822 –16 951

 ʸ Work injury insurance 414 1 449 –1 692 –4 167

 ʸ Maternity insurance 15 964 –965 – 14

Housing funds 150 13 348 –13 119 – 379

Labour union funds and employee education funds  3 847  2 151 –2 344 – 3 654

Other short-term employee benefits  63 908 63 466 –71 326 –2 187 53 861

208 068 1 465 640 –1 491 778 147 182 077

(b) Defined contribution plans

31 December  
2018

Increase  
in 2019

Decrease 
in 2019

Foreign currency  
translation difference

31 December  
2019

Basic pensions 1 351  33 111 –31 429 21 3 054

Unemployment insurance 289 1 814 –1 801 3 305

1 640  34 925 –33 230 24 3 359

(c) Termination benefits payables

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Other termination benefits 1 923 2 271

(25) Tax payables

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Enterprise income tax payables 137 689 188 345

Unpaid value-added tax 31 058 25 006

Withholding taxes payables 30 290 28 515

Individual income tax payables 17 517 38 860

Stamp tax 714 1 668

Others 8 177 8 996

225 445 291 390
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(26) Other payables

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Accrued expenses 122 470 69 174

Project payment payables 85 699 61 243

Accrued agent fees 63 317 49 676

Overpayment from customers 50 748 57 625

Freight payable 42 033 24 563

Professional service fee payables 25 057 48 652

Fixed assets procurement 20 026 20 737

Accrued rebates 9 364 9 845

Customer deposit payables 9 067 5 641

IT maintenance fees 5 525 5 634

Bank loan interest payables 2 099 4 153

Payables to related parties  
(note 7 (5) (d)) 701 45

Others 29 276  20 044

465 382 377 032

(a) As at 31 December 2019, other payables with an aging over 
one year amounted to RMB 31 384 000 (2018: RMB 41 768 000), 
and mainly comprised non-trade payables. Such payables 
are not paid because they have not been settled yet.

(27) Current portion of non-current liabilities

31 December 
2019

31 December 
2018

Current portion of long-term borrowings (a) 491 626 491 999

Current portion of provisions (note 4 (29)) 268 658 241 821

760 284 733 820

(a) Current portion of long-term borrowings

Original 
currency

31 December 
2019

31 December 
2018

Pledged borrowings  
(note 4 (28) (a)) EUR – 383 528

Guaranteed borrowings  
(note 4 (28) (b)) EUR 421 627 78 471

Guaranteed and mortgaged 
borrowings (note 4 (28) (c)) RMB  70 000 30 000

491 627 491 999

As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, the Group 
had no overdue current portion of long-term borrowings.

(28) Long-term borrowings

Original 
currency

31 December 
2019

31 December 
2018

Pledged borrowings (a) EUR – 2 147 756

Guaranteed borrowings (b) EUR 421 626 596 381

Guaranteed and mortgaged 
borrowings (c) RMB 270 000 300 000

Guaranteed and pledged 
borrowings (d) RMB  250 000 –

941 626 3 044 137

Less:

Current portion of long-term EUR –421 626 –461 999

Guaranteed borrowings  
(note 4 (27) (a)) RMB –70 000 –30 000

450 000 2 552 138

(a) As at 31 December 2018, pledged borrowings with a bal-
ance of EUR 273 700 000 (equivalent to RMB 2 147 756 000) 
(including the current portion of long-term borrowings EUR 
48 875 000 (equivalent to RMB 383 528 000)) were borrowed 
from China Development Bank by the Company's subsidi-
ary Saurer Hong Kong Machinery Co. Ltd in 2013, which 
was secured by long-term equity investments held by the 
Group in SAURER AG, Saurer Netherlands Machinery Com-
pany B.V., Saurer (Jiangsu) Textile Machinery Co. Ltd, 
Saurer (Changzhou) Textile Machinery Co. Ltd and Saurer 
(Changzhou) Texparts Components Co. Ltd. The interest 
was paid every six months. For the principal, EUR 9 775 000 
was repaid on 23 June 2014, 22 June 2015 and 21 June 2016, 
respectively; EUR 39 100 000 was repaid on 21 June 2017; 
EUR 48 875 000 was repaid on 21 June 2018; and the remain-
ing portion should be paid in instalments from 2019 to 2023 
according to the original repayment schedule. The borrow-
ing was prepaid on 28 February 2019.

 The borrowing was guaranteed by the guarantee letter of 
China Development Bank Jiangsu Branch (CDB Jiangsu 
Branch). The guarantee charges were paid quarterly. In 
2019, the total guarantee charges for the borrowing 
amounted to RMB 4 298 000 (note 4 (42)).

(b) As at 31 December 2019, the bank guaranteed borrow-
ings of EUR 54 000 000 (equivalent to RMB 421 626 000, 
due within one year) (2018: EUR 76 000 000 (equivalent to 
RMB 596 381 000)) were borrowed by the Company's sub-
sidiary Saurer Hong Kong Machinery Co. Ltd and were 
guaranteed by Saurer Spinning Solutions GmbH & Co. KG 
and Saurer Technologies GmbH & Co. KG.
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(c) As at 31 December 2019, the bank guaranteed and secured 
borrowings with a total amount of RMB 270 000 000 
(including current portion of borrowings RMB 70 000 000) 
(2018: RMB 300 000 000 (including current portion of bor-
rowings RMB 30 000 000)) and a maturity term of four years 
were borrowed from a domestic bank by the Company's 
subsidiary Saurer Xinjiang Intelligent Machinery Co. Ltd. 
The borrowings were guaranteed by the Company by pro-
viding a joint liability guarantee, pledged by the building 
and land usage rights with a maximum mortgage term not 
exceeding 48 months starting 21 June 2019. The principal 
will be repaid in instalments of RMB 70 000 000 in 2020 
and RMB 100 000 000 in 2021 and 2022 respectively.

(d) As at 31 December 2019, the bank guaranteed and 
pledged borrowings with a total amount of RMB 
250 000 000 (31 December 2018: Nil) were borrowed from 
a domestic bank by Saurer Xinjiang Intelligent Machinery 
Co. Ltd, a subsidiary of the Company, with a loan term of 
three years. The borrowings were guaranteed by the 
Company by providing a joint liability guarantee and 
pledged by the RMB 15 000 000 security deposit of Saurer 
Xinjiang Intelligent Machinery Co. Ltd. The borrowing will 
expire on 20 June 2022.

(e) As at 31 December 2019, the annual interest rates of long-
term borrowings ranged from 1.90 to 5.23 % (2018: 1.90 to 
5.23 %).

(29) Provisions
31 December  

2018
Increase in 

2019
Decreases 

in 2019
Foreign currency  

translation difference
31 December  

2019

Product warranties 213 578  72 368  –94 944 –498 190 504

Restructuring costs for sites outside China –  115 480   –55 768 901 60 613

Others 38 581   10 328   –15 785 457 33 581

 252 159   198 176  –166 497 860 284 698

Less: provision due within one year

Product warranties –204 025 –72 368  94 177  663 –181 553

Restructuring costs for sites outside China –  –115 480  55 768  –901  –60 613

Others –37 796  –4 221  15 785  –260  –26 492

–241 821 –192 069  165 730  –498 –268 658

Non-current portion of provisions

Product warranties 9 553  – –767 165 8 951

Others 785 6 107 – 197 7 089

10 338  6 107 –767 362 16 040
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(30) Long-term employee benefits payables

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Defined benefit plan (a) 458 780 372 662

Other employee benefits 22 695 26 748

481 475 399 410

Less: payables within 1 year –77 060 –62 686

404 415 336 724

Retirement benefits supposed to be paid within one year are 
presented in employee benefits payables (note 4 (24)).

(a) Defined benefit pension plans
 The Group's defined benefit pension plans are mainly 

adopted in subsidiaries located in Germany and Switzer-
land. The Group's defined benefit pension plan assets are 
mainly held by independent entities (such as foundations) 
separated from the Group. The plans are reviewed by 
qualified actuaries according to local practices and the 
required frequency. Actuarial assumptions adopted in the 
calculation of defined retirement benefit liabilities and 
current service cost will vary due to the economic condi-
tions of countries or regions where the plans are located.

(i) Changes in the current value of defined benefit pension 
and fair value of plan assets 

 
Current value  

of defined  
benefit pension 

plans
Fair value of  
plan assets

31 December 2018 999 257  789 833 

Defined benefit cost recorded  
in profit and loss in 2019 – –

 ʸ Service cost in 2019 47 344 –

 ʸ Past service cost 136 –

 ʸ Gain on settlement 216 –

 ʸ Net interest 12 760 8 616

60 456 8 616

Defined benefit cost recorded in  
other comprehensive income in 2019

 ʸ Actuarial gain

 ʸ Difference from actuarial assumption 99 596 –

 ʸ Difference from experience adjustments 15 661 –

 ʸ Return on plan assets – 12 875

115 257 12 875

Other movement

 ʸ Consideration paid upon settlement

 ʸ From companies – 29 439

 ʸ From employees  
participating in the plan 8 341 8 341

 ʸ Benefit paid –49 884 –43 968 

–41 543 –6 188

Foreign currency translation difference 13 797 17 616

31 December 2019 1 147 224 822 752

Current value  
of defined  

benefit pension
plans 

Fair value of  
plan assets

31 December 2017 913 704 700 395

Defined benefit cost recorded  
in profit and loss in 2018

 ʸ Service cost in 2018 37 648  – 

 ʸ Past service cost –601 – 

 ʸ Gain on settlement 176 – 

 ʸ Net interest 10 454  7 116 

47 677  7 116 

Defined benefit cost recorded in  
other comprehensive income in 2018

 ʸ Actuarial gain

 ʸ Difference from actuarial assumption –11 674 –

 ʸ Difference from experience adjustments –7 743 –

 ʸ Return on plan assets –  –10 790

–19 417 –10 790

Other movement

 ʸ Consideration paid upon settlement

 ʸ From companies – 23 485

 ʸ From employees  
participating in the plan 7 139 6 786

 ʸ Benefit paid 31 960  40 704 

39 099  70 975 

Foreign currency translation difference 18 194  22 137 

31 December 2018 999 257  789 833 

(ii) The net amount of defined benefit plans after offsetting is 
presented in the balance sheet as follows:

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Defined benefit plan assets

Present value of defined benefit 
plan obligations –359 527 –345 413

Less: fair value of plan assets 493 835 508 651

Less: upper limit of plan assets – –

134 308 163 238

Defined benefit plan liabilities 

Present value of defined benefit plan 
obligations –787 697 –653 844

Less: fair value of plan assets 328 917 281 182

–458 780 –372 662

–324 472 –209 424
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(iii) Changes in the retirement benefits of the Group are as fol-
lows: this note was listed according to the net value of 
defined benefit pension plans and fair value of plan 
assets. The consolidation is applied at subsidiary level.

Defined benefit  
plan assets

Defined benefit  
plan liabilities 

Net liabilities  
of the Group

31 December 2018 163 238  –372 662 –209 424

Defined benefit cost included in profit and loss in 2019

 ʸ Service cost in 2019 –8 723 –38 621 –47 344

 ʸ Past service cost – –136 –136

 ʸ Gain on settlement –173 –43 –216

 ʸ Net interest 1 457 –5 601 –4 144

–7 439 –44 401 –51 840

Re-measurement of defined benefit plan liabilities

 ʸ Actuarial gain

 ʸ Difference from actuarial assumption –35 767 –63 829 –99 596

 ʸ Difference from experience adjustments –6 169 –9 492 –15 661

 ʸ Return on plan assets (excluding that included in net interest) 11 423 1 452 12 875

–30 513 –71 869 –102 382

Other changes

 ʸ Consideration paid upon settlement

 ʸ From companies 4 608 24 831 29 439

 ʸ From employees participating in the plan – – –

 ʸ Benefit paid – 5 916 5 916

4 608 30 747 35 355

Foreign currency translation difference 4 414 –595 3 819

31 December 2019 134 308 –458 780 –324 472

Defined benefit  
plan assets

Defined benefit  
plan liabilities 

Net liabilities  
of the Group

31 December 2017 138 844 –352 153 –213 309

Defined benefit cost included in profit or loss in 2018

 ʸ Service cost in 2018 –8 095 –29 553 –37 648

 ʸ Past service cost –  601 601

 ʸ Gain on settlement –156 –20 –176

 ʸ Net interest 1 112  –4 450 –3 338

–7 139 –33 422 –40 561

Re-measurement of defined benefit plan liabilities

 ʸ Actuarial gain

 ʸ Difference from actuarial assumption 5 898 5 776  11 674

 ʸ Difference from experience adjustments 19 878  –12 135 7 743 

 ʸ Return on plan assets (excluding that included in net interest) –4 671 –6 119 –10 790

21 105  –12 478 8 627 

Other changes

 ʸ Consideration paid upon settlement

 ʸ From companies 4373 19 112  23 485 

 ʸ From employees participating in the plan –353 – –353

 ʸ Benefit paid – 8 744 8 744 

4 020 27 856 31 876 

Foreign currency translation difference 6 408 –2 465 3 943 

31 December 2018 163 238  –372 662 –209 424
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(iv) The main actuarial assumptions used in estimating the 
liabilities at the balance sheet date were as follows:

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Germany Switzerland Germany Switzerland

Discount rate 0.65 % 0.10 % 1.60 % 0.90 %

Salary growth rate N/A 0.50 % N/A 1.00 %

Pension growth rate 1.55 % 0.00 % 1.55 % 0.00 %

(v) The sensitivity of principal actuarial assumptions adopted 
in determining the present value of defined benefit plan 
obligations in 2019 is analysed as follows:

Change  
in assumption

Impact on defined 
benefit obligations

Increase in 
assumption

Decrease in 
assumption

Discount rate
Change of  
0.5 percentage point

Decrease by 
6.36 %

Increase by 
7.25 %

Salary growth rate
Change of  
0.5 percentage point

Increase by 
0.46 %

Decrease by 
0.48 %

Pension growth rate
Change of  
0.5 percentage point

Increase by 
0.31 %

Decrease by 
0.20 %

Life expectancy Change of 1 year
Increase by 

1.50 % 
Decrease by 

1.51 %

The sensitivity of principal actuarial assumptions adopted 
in determining the present value of defined benefit plan 
obligations in 2018 is analysed as follows:

Change  
in assumption

Impact on defined 
benefit obligations

Increase in 
assumption

Decrease in 
assumption

Discount rate
Change of  
0.5 percentage point

Decrease by 
5.94 % 

Increase by 
6.77 % 

Salary growth rate
Change of  
0.5 percentage point

Increase by 
0.38 % 

Decrease by 
0.41 % 

Pension growth rate
Change of  
0.5 percentage point

Increase by 
0.34 % 

Decrease by 
0.17 %

Life expectancy Change of 1 year
Increase by 

1.27 % 
Decrease by 

1.35 %

(vi) The plan assets portfolio of the Group is mainly composed 
of the following investment products:

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Cash and cash equivalents 24 667 43 099

Equity instruments 126 430 134 142

Debt instruments 137 462 157 436

Real estate 164 710 173 975

Investment funds 237 797 227 041

Others 131 686 54 140

822 752 789 833

(31) Deferred revenue
31 December 

2019
31 December 

2018

Enterprise development special fund (a) – 24 826

Other special fund (b) 4 760 4 760

4 760 29 586

(a) The Finance Bureau of Urumqi Economic and Technologi-
cal Development Zone (Toutunhe District), Xinjiang Uygur 
Autonomous Region, appropriates an enterprise develop-
ment special fund amounting to RMB 69 290 000 through 
Construction Investment and Development Co. Ltd of 
Urumqi Economic and Technological Development Zone 
to support the development of the Company’s subsidiary 
Saurer Xinjiang Intelligent Machinery Co. Ltd to promote 
industrial transformation and upgrading and to expand 
the business scope. The special fund must be earmarked 
for its specified purpose only. With the start of production 
and operation at Saurer Xinjiang Intelligent Machinery Co. 
Ltd, total amounts of RMB 44 464 000 and RMB 24 826 000 
were recognised in non-operating income as government 
subsidy income in 2018 and 2019 respectively (note 4 (49)).

(b) In order to promote intelligent manufacturing, the Finance 
Bureau of Urumqi Shuimogou District appropriated special 
funds with a total amount of RMB 4 560 000 on 19 October 
2018. The special funds must be earmarked for its speci-
fied purpose only, in particular for the construction of intel-
ligent manufacturing sites, development and integration 
of intelligent systems and purchase of intelligent manufac-
turing equipment. Because the specific project has not yet 
begun, the appropriation was recorded as deferred reve-
nue in 2019.

 In order to enhance the talent cultivation of high-skilled 
workers, the Employment Service and Management Office 
of Urumqi Economic and Technological Development Zone 
appropriated RMB 200 000 to the subsidiary of the Com-
pany, Saurer Xinjiang Intelligent Machinery Co. Ltd. The 
special fund must be earmarked for its specified purpose 
only, in particular for the construction of Saurer Intelligent 
Group numerical control and technology centre. Because 
the specific project has not yet begun, the appropriation 
was recorded as deferred revenue in 2019.
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(c) Government grants

31 December 2018 Increase in 2019 Decrease in 2019 31 December 2019
Related to assets / 

related to income

Enterprise development  
special fund

Recorded in non-operating income 

24 826  – –24 826 – Related to income

Other special fund 4 760 – – 4 760 Related to assets

29 586  –24 826 4 760

(32) Paid-in capital and treasury shares

31 December 2018 Increase and decrease in 2019 31 December 2019

Ordinary  
shares

Issue of new shares Stock dividend Public reserve funds Others Total

1 895 413 – – – – – 1 895 413

31 December 2017 Increase and decrease in 2018 31 December 2018

Ordinary  
shares

Issue of new shares Stock dividend Public reserve funds Others Total

1 895 413 – – – – – 1 895 413

On 1 September 2019 and 18 September 2019, the Company's 
ninth Board of Directors meeting and the third EGM of share-
holders in 2019 approved the proposal to repurchase Com-
pany shares by means of centralised bidding. It was agreed 
that the Company's own or self-raised funds should not be less 
than RMB 600 000 000 and not more than RMB 1 200 000 000. 
The Company's shares will be repurchased by centralised bid-
ding, which will be used for equity incentive and employee 
stock ownership plan, and the buyback period will be within 
12 months from the date when the share repurchase plan is 
approved by the general meeting of shareholders.

As of 31 December 2019, the Company has repurchased 
14 614 325 shares of the Company through centralised bidding 
for the amount of RMB 108 931 000.

According to Article 8 of the Detailed Rules for the Implemen-
tation of Share Repurchase by Listed Companies of the Shang-
hai Stock Exchange, "if a listed company repurchases its 
shares by means of centralised bidding or offer with cash as 
consideration, the amount to repurchase shares already 
spent in the current year shall be regarded as cash dividends, 
and shall be included in the relevant proportion of cash divi-
dends in that year.” The accumulated amount to repurchase 
shares of the Company in 2019 accounts for 17.9 % of the dis-
tributable profit realised in 2019. The Company does not plan 
to distribute cash dividends separately.
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(33) Other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive  
income in the balance sheet

Other comprehensive income in the income statement  
for the year ended 31 December 2019
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Items that will not be reclassified  
subsequently to profit or loss

 ʸ Defined benefit plan actuarial losses or gains 930 –60 670 –59 740 –102 382 – 27 151 –60 670 –14 561

 ʸ Foreign currency translation difference – – – 27 114 – – – 27 114

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss

 ʸ Cash flow hedge losses 122 –46 76 34 – –90 –46 –10

 ʸ Foreign currency translation difference  –49 492 112 987 63 495 112 987 – – 112 987 –

 –48 440 52 271 3 831 37 753 – 27 061 52 271 12 543

Other comprehensive  
income in the balance sheet

Other comprehensive income in the income statement  
for the year ended 31 December 2018
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Items that will not be reclassified  
subsequently to profit or loss

 ʸ Defined benefit plan actuarial losses or gains –6 472 7 402 930 8 627 –  –1 225  7 402  –

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss

 ʸ Cash flow hedge losses 942 –820 122  –1 077 – 257 –820 –

 ʸ Foreign currency translation difference –117 858  68 366   –49 492  68 366   –     –     68 366  –

–123 388  74 948   –48 440  75 916   –    –968  74 948  –
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(34) Capital surplus and surplus reserve
(a) Capital surplus

31 December 
2018

Increase  
in 2019

Decrease  
in 2019

31 December 
2019

Capital incomes 1 579 834 – – 1 579 834 

31 December 
2017

Increase  
in 2018

Decrease  
in 2018

31 December 
2018

Capital incomes – 1 579 834 – 1 579 834 

As at 8 December 2018, Saurer Intelligent Machinery, a 
subsidiary of the Company, brought in seven investors for 
an increase in its share capital, including the Nongyin Xin-
silu (Jiaxing) Investment Partnership Enterprise (Limited 
Partnership) which is led by the Nongyin Financial Prop-
erty Investment Co. Ltd. The Company signed an “Invest-
ment Agreement” and a “Subscription Agreement” with 
each investor. As at 29 December 2018, the Company 
received the subscription amount of RMB 3 000 000 000. 
After the subscription, the Company holds 80.65 % shares 
of Saurer Intelligent Machinery. The changes on the regis-
tration were completed on 15 February 2019. 

The Company calculated the net asset share of the sub-
sidiary based on the shareholding before the subscription. 
The difference between the net asset share and the net 
asset share of the subsidiary calculated based on the 
respective shareholding after the subscription was 
recorded in capital surplus, amounting to RMB 1 579 834 000.

(b) Surplus reserve

31 December 
2018

Increase  
in 2019

Decrease  
in 2019

31 December 
2019

Statutory surplus reserve 48 742 – – 48 742

31 December 
2017

Increase  
in 2018

Decrease  
in 2018

31 December 
2018

Statutory surplus reserve 48 742 – – 48 742

 In accordance with the Company Law of the People's 
Republic of China, the Company should appropriate net 
profit (after offsetting accumulated losses of previous 
years) to the statutory surplus reserve, in which the statu-
tory surplus reserve accounts for no less than 10 % of net 
profit. The Company can cease appropriation when the 
statutory surplus reserve amounts to more than 50 % of 
the registered capital. The statutory surplus reserve can 
be used to make up for the loss or increase in the paid-in 
capital after approval from the appropriate authorities. 
No surplus reserve was appropriated by the Company due 
to net losses in 2019 (2018: Nil).

(35) Earnings per share
(a) Basic earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the con-
solidated net profit attributable to the common sharehold-
ers of the parent company according to the weighted aver-
age number of common shares relevant for EPS calculation.

2019 2018

Attributable to equity holders of the Company 608 934 810 294

Weighted average number of common shares 
for EPS calculation 1 892 336 1 895 413

Basic earnings per share 0.3218 0.4275

Including:

 ʸ Basic earnings per share  
from continuing operations 0.3218 0.4275

 ʸ Basic earnings per share  
from discontinuing operations – –

(a) Diluted earnings per share 
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the 
consolidated net profit attributable to common share-
holders of the parent company adjusted for the dilutive 
potential of common shares according to the weighted 
average number of common shares issued by the Com-
pany. In 2019, the Company has no common shares with 
dilutive potential (2018: Nil). Therefore, diluted earnings 
per share equals basic earnings per share.

(36) Retained earnings

2019 2018

Undistributed profit at the beginning 
of the year (before adjustment) 1 177 607 386 267

Changes in accounting policies (note 2 (28)) –18 320 –

Undistributed profit at the beginning  
of the year (after adjustment) 1 159 287 386 267

Add: net profit attributable to shareholders  
of the Company for the current year 608 934 810 294

Less: withdrawal of statutory surplus  
reserve (note 4 (34) (b)) – –

Dividend payment –244 306 –18 954

Undistributed profit at the end of the year 1 523 915 1 177 607

As at 28 May 2019, approved by the AGM, the Company paid 
out a cash dividend of RMB 0.1293 per share based on the 
total capital of 1 895 412 995 shares. The total payout for cash 
dividends amounted to RMB 244 306 000.
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(37) Revenue and cost of sales

2019 2018

Main operating income 8 566 110 9 212 297

Other operating income 9 199 8 462

8 575 309 9 220 759

2019 2018

Cost of goods sold 6 024 662 6 571 207

Other operating costs – –

6 024 662 6 571 207

(a) Revenue from main operations and cost of main operations

2019 2018

Revenue 
from main 
operations

Cost of  
main 

operations

Revenue  
from main 
operations

Cost of  
main 

operations

Sale of machinery, 
equipment  
and components 6 971 904 5 239 148  8 043 334  5 889 991 

Sale of spare  
parts and rendering 
of services 1 594 206 785 514 1 168 963   681 216 

8 566 110 6 024 662 9 212 297 6 571 207

(b) Revenue from other operations and cost of other operations

2019 2018

Revenue 
from other 
operations

Cost of  
other 

operations

Revenue  
from other 
operations

Cost of  
other 

operations

Sale of raw materials 6 595 –  5 799 –

Rental income 2 604 –  2 663 –

9 199 –  8 462 –

 
(38) Taxes and surcharges

2019 2018 Calculating standard

City maintenance and construction tax 12 689 8 052 Refer to note 3

Educational surcharge 9 190 5 864 Refer to note 3

Stamp tax 4 588 3 139

Others 3 004 2 856

29 471 19 911

(39) Selling expenses 
 

2019 2018

Employee benefits 218 721 258 565

Freight insurance 133 168 174 222

Exhibition and advertising fees 53 068 18 836

Travelling expenses 30 591 44 103

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 23 432 18 550

Rental and related expenses 12 272 13 478

IT costs 7 164 7 032

Others 20 248 33 913

498 664 568 699

(40) General and administrative expenses 

2019 2018

Employee benefits 234 007 227 991

Professional service fees 39 751 56 425

Rental and related expenses 33 804 27 394

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 22 117 16 063

Travelling expenses 17 059 16 893

Tax expenses 13 381 15 617

IT costs 8 729 3 021

Transportation insurance 7 163 11 310

Others 3 466 8 208  

379 477 382 922

(41) Research and development expenses 

2019 2018

Employee benefits 255 968 256 495

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 74 007 80 865

Professional service fees 46 574 52 147

Raw material costs 46 039 43 907

Rental and related expenses 11 677 11 443

Travelling expenses 7 975 10 510

IT costs 3 590 4 348

Transportation insurance 3 567 3 132

Others 10 894 12 357

460 291 475 204
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(42) Financial expenses 

2019 2018

Interest expenses, including:

 ʸ Interest expenses for borrowings 107 295 114 170

 ʸ Interest expenses for benefit plans 4 144 3 338

 Less: capitalised interest –18 267 –8 908

Subtotal for interest expenses 93 172 108 600

Less: interest income –9 097 –8 819

Interest income - net 84 075 99 781

Net exchange loss/gains 45 705 –16 496

Charges for letter of guarantee (note 4 (28) (a)) 4 298 24 617

Others 34 842 31 258

168 920 139 160

(43) Expenses by nature
The cost of sales, selling expenses, general and administra-
tive expenses in the income statements are listed as follows 
by nature:

2019 2018

Cost of raw materials 4 586 931 5 023 322

Employee benefits 1 686 244 1 781 755

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 234 598 223 565

Rental and related expenses 196 486 186 854

Freight insurance 184 076 229 140

Travelling expenses 95 023 114 440

Professional service fees 88 356 111 272

Warranties 79 058 108 995

Exhibition and advertising fees 53 068 18 836

IT costs 30 786 23 507

Tax expenses 18 204 20 517

Others 110 264 155 829

7 363 094 7 998 032

 
(44) Asset impairment losses 

2019 2018

Provision for decline in value of inventories 19 966 45 675

Provision for bad debts - 7 518

19 966 53 193

(45) Credit impairment loss 

2019 2018

Accounts receivables bad debt losses 21 051 -

Long-term receivables 117 -

21 168 -

(46) Other income 

2019 2018

Tax/VAT refund 9 285 1 017

Government grants (Indian Export Promotion Program) 4 150 -

13 435 1 017

(47) Investment income 

2019 2018

Interest income (note 4 (11)) 11 578 88 599

Share of investee’s net loss under equity method - –350

11 578 88 249

(48) Gains/losses of asset disposal

2019 2018

Amount included in 
2019 non-recurring 
income statement

Amount included in 
2018 non-recurring 
income statement

Gains from disposal  
of fixed assets 335 608 335 608

Loss from disposal  
of fixed assets –197 –460 –197 –460

138 148 138 148

 
(49) Non-operating income

2019 2018

Amount included in 
2019 non-recurring 
income statement

Amount included in 
2018 non-recurring 
income statement

Government 
grants (i) 27 519 46 305 27 519 46 305

Asset  
write-downs 285 - 285 -

Others 1 022 255 1 022 255

28 826 46 560 28 826 46 560

 
(i) Details of government grants 

2019 2018
Asset related / 
income related

Financial subsidies (note 4 (31)) 24 826 44 464 Income related

Other government grants 2 693 1 841 Income related

27 519 46 305
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(50) Non-operating expenses

2019 2018

Amount included in 
2019 non-recurring 
income statement

Amount included in 
2018 non-recurring 
income statement

Restructuring  
costs 115 480 – 115 480 –

Penalty and 
overdue fines 218 296 218 296

Others 50 599 50 599

115 748 895 115 748 895

The restructuring costs are the expenses for staff placement 
and related integration costs incurred by the organisational 
structure adjustment of the Chinese Ministry of Textile Science 
and Technology.

 
(51) Income tax expenses 

2019 2018

Current income tax calculated according  
to tax law and relevant regulations 212 090 262 467

Deferred income tax –91 342 26 415

120 748 288 882

The reconciliation from income tax calculated based on the 
applicable tax rates and total profit presented in the income 
statement to the income tax expenses is as follows:

2019 2018

Total profit 910 911 1 145 932 

Income tax expenses calculated at the Company's 
applicable tax rate of 25 % 227 728 286 483

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries (note 3(1)) –102 614 –23 268

Income not subject to tax –3 142 –765

Other costs, expenses and losses not deductible  
for tax purposes 13 515 22 041

Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses –7 403 –10 765

Tax losses for which no deferred income  
tax asset was recognised in 2019 51 270 29 541

Withholding income tax of profit not remitted  
by subsidiaries outside China  –28 925 –12 083

Deduction for research and development expenses  –11 551 –

Tax clearance difference in prior years –26 234 –5 870

Others 8 104 3 568

Income tax expenses 120 748 288 882 

(52) Notes to the cash flow statement
(a) Cash received relating to other operating activities

2019 2018

Government grants 16 128 6 601

Others 14 060 11 779

30 188 18 380

(b) Cash paid relating to other operating activities

2019 2018

Freight insurance 126 428 195 210

Professional service fees 85 303 76 361

Warranties 79 058 142 274

Rental and related expenses 57 753 52 315

Restructuring costs 54 867 –

Exhibition and advertising fees 53 068 18 106

Bank charges 34 842 31 258

IT costs 19 592 23 824

Guarantee charges 4 298 24 617

Donations 33 2 000

Others 133 128  120 400

648 370 686 365

 
(c) Cash received relating to other investing activities

2019 2018

Recovery of mature bank WMPs  
(note 4 (11) (a)) (note) 1 100 000 9 000 000

Net cash inflows from actual income  
of foreign exchange forward contracts 3 662 –

1 103 662 9 000 000

Note: on 3 January 2019, the Company received RMB 1 100 000 000 for WMPs 
purchased in 2018.

(d) Cash paid relating to other investing activities

2019 2018

Net cash flow from actual earnings of  
foreign exchange forward contracts – 1 724 

Purchase of WMPs issued by banks – 5 600 000

– 5 601 724

(e) Cash paid relating to other financing activities

2019 2018

Repurchase of treasury shares 108 931 –

Repayment of third-party borrowings 64 000 –

Payment of service fees related  
to subsidiary’s capital increase 24 617 60 000

197 548 60 000
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(53) Supplementary information to the cash flow statement
(a) Reconciliation from net profit to cash flows from operating 

activities

2019 2018

Net profit 790 163 857 050

Add/Less:

 ʸ Provision for asset impairment (note 4 (44)) 19 966 53 193

 ʸ Credit impairment loss (note 4 (45)) 21 168 –

 ʸ Depreciation of fixed assets (note 4 (12)) 140 664 136 771

 ʸ Amortisation of intangible assets (note 4 (14)) 92 546 85 446

 ʸ Amortisation of long-term prepaid expenses 
(note 4 (16)) 1 388 1 348

 ʸ Net losses on disposal of fixed assets,  
intangible assets and other non-current assets –138 –148

 ʸ Profit arising from changes in fair value – –390

 ʸ Financial expenses 78 194 157 033

 ʸ Investment income –11 578 –88 249

 ʸ Increase/decrease in deferred tax assets –60 073 16 730

 ʸ Decrease/increase in deferred tax liabilities –57 754 15 235

 ʸ Increase in inventories 47 642 –233 236

 ʸ Increase in operating receivables –1 280 327 –1 266 788

 ʸ Decrease in operating payables –34 594 –776 758

Net cash flow from operating activities –252 733 –1 042 763

(b) In 2019, the Group's major operating activities that did 
not involve cash receipts and payments were the inven-
tory purchases in the amount of RMB 506 806 000 (2018: 
315 611 000) paid by bank acceptance notes. The Group 
did not have any significant non-cash investment and 
financing activities (2018: Nil).

(c) Cash and cash equivalents

31 December  
2019

31 December 
2018

Cash 2 402 917 3 720 401

Including: 

 ʸ Cash on hand 27 58

 ʸ Bank deposits on demand 1 973 544 3 235 159

 ʸ Other cash balances 429 346 485 184

Less: 

 ʸ Restricted cash at bank –429 346 –485 184

 ʸ Term deposits with the original term over 3 months –230 –400 278

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 1 973 341 2 834 939

(d) Net decrease/increase in cash and cash equivalents

2019 2018

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 1 973 341 2 834 939

Less: cash and cash equivalents at the  
beginning of the year –2 834 939 –2 057 716

Net decrease/increase in cash and  
cash equivalents –861 598 777 223
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5 Equity in other entities

(1) Equity in subsidiaries
(a) Structure of the Group  

(i) Major subsidiaries obtained through incorporation or investment

Type

Major  
business 
location

Place of 
registration

Date of 
incor poration

Nature of  
business

31 December 
2019

31 December  
2018

Direct/ 
indirect  

share
holding 

 (%)

Voting  
rights  

(%)

Direct/
indirect 

share
holding  

(%)

Voting 
rights  

(%)

1
Saurer Intelligent Machinery  
Co. Ltd (note 4 (34))

Directly 
held China China 05.11.12

Manufacturing  
and sales of textile 
machinery 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 %

2
Saurer Hong Kong Machinery  
Co. Ltd

Indirectly 
held

Hong Kong, 
China

Hong Kong, 
China 25.10.12 Investment holding 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 %

3 Saurer Asia Machinery Co. Ltd
Indirectly 
held

Hong Kong, 
China

Hong Kong, 
China 28.02.13 Investment holding 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 %

4
Saurer (Jiangsu) Textile  
Machinery Co. Ltd

Indirectly 
held China China 01.04.13

Manufacturing, 
sales and services 
of textile machinery 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 %

5 Saurer Têxtil Soluções Ltda.
Indirectly 
held Brazil Brazil 08.03.13

Sales and services 
of textile machinery 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 %

6 SAURER AG 
Indirectly 
held Switzerland Switzerland 06.03.13

Manufacturing  
and sales of textile 
machinery 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 %

7
Saurer Spinning Solutions 
Management GmbH

Indirectly 
held Germany Germany 21.12.12 Investment holding 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 %

8
Saurer Spinning Solutions  
GmbH & Co. KG

Indirectly 
held Germany Germany 27.11.12

Manufacturing, 
sales and services 
of textile machinery 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 %

9
Saurer Technologies  
GmbH & Co. KG 

Indirectly 
held Germany Germany 14.11.17

Manufacturing, 
sales and services 
of textile machinery 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 %

10
Saurer Textile Solutions  
Private Ltd

Indirectly 
held India India 18.04.13

Manufacturing, 
sales and services 
of textile machinery 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 %

11
Saurer Netherlands Machinery 
Company B.V.

Indirectly 
held Netherlands Netherlands 22.11.12 Investment holding 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 %

12 Saurer Inc.
Indirectly 
held US US 25.03.13

Sales and services 
of textile machinery 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 %

13
Saurer (Shanghai) Textile 
Machinery Technology Co. Ltd

Indirectly 
held China China 11.04.14

Sales and services 
of textile machinery 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 %

14 Saurer Finance Lease Co. Ltd
Indirectly 
held China China 16.12.14 Leasing 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 %

15

Changzhou Jintan Saurer Textile 
Machinery Technology Co. Ltd 
(note 1)

Indirectly 
held China China 18.08.16

Consulting, 
investment and 
import and export 
business N/A N/A N/A N/A

16

Changzhou Saurer Textile 
Machinery Technology Co. Ltd 
(note 2)

Indirectly 
held China China 17.08.16

Consulting, 
investment and 
import and export 
business N/A N/A N/A N/A

17
Changzhou Jintan Saurer 
Investment Co. Ltd

Indirectly 
held China China 08.04.16 Investment holding 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 %

18
Saurer Xinjiang Intelligent 
Machinery Co. Ltd

Indirectly 
held China China 05.08.16

Manufacturing, 
sales and service of 
intelligent textile 
machinery 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 %
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Type

Major  
business 
location

Place of 
registration

Date of 
incor poration

Nature of  
business

31 December 
2019

31 December  
2018

Direct/ 
indirect  

share
holding 

 (%)

Voting  
rights  

(%)

Direct/
indirect 

share
holding  

(%)

Voting 
rights  

(%)

19 Zinser Textile Machines LLP
Indirectly 
held India India 18.11.16

Manufacturing and 
sales of textile 
machinery 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 %

20 Saurer Industries AG (note 3)
Indirectly 
held Switzerland Switzerland 21.12.17

Manufacturing and 
sales of textile 
machinery N/A N/A N/A N/A

21
Saurer Technologies  
Management GmbH

Indirectly 
held Austria Austria 01.07.17 Investment holding 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 %

22
Saurer Intelligent Technology AG 
(note 4)

Indirectly 
held Switzerland Switzerland 15.05.18

Consulting, 
manufacturing and 
sales of textile 
machinery 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 %

23
Saurer Intelligent Machinery LLC 
(note 5)

Indirectly 
held Uzbekistan Uzbekistan 16.04.19

Sales and service of 
textile machinery 80.65 % 80.65 % N/A N/A

 

Note 1: Changzhou Jintan Saurer Textile Machinery Technology Co. Ltd was deregistered on 11 October 2018 (note 5 (1) (b)).
Note 2: Changzhou Saurer Textile Machinery Technology Co. Ltd was deregistered on 11 October 2018 (note 5 (1) (b)).
Note 3: Saurer Industries AG was deregistered on 22 November 2018.
Note 4: Saurer Intelligent Technology AG was registered in Switzerland on 15 May 2018 with a registered capital of CHF 1 000 000.
Note 5: Saurer Intelligent Machinery LLC was registered in Uzbekistan on 16 April 2019 with a registered capital of UZS 84 000 000.

(ii) Major subsidiaries obtained through acquisition involving 
enterprises not under common control

Type

Major 
business 
location

Place of 
registration Nature of business

31 December  
2019

31 December  
2018

Direct/indirect  
share holding 

 (%)

Voting  
rights  

(%)

Direct/indirect 
share holding  

(%)

Voting  
rights  

(%)

1
Saurer (Changzhou) Textile 
Machinery Co. Ltd 

Indirectly 
held China China

Manufacturing and  
sales of textile machinery 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 %

2
Saurer (Changzhou) Texparts 
Components Co. Ltd 

Indirectly 
held China China

Manufacturing and  
sales of textile machinery 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 %

3 Saurer Czech s.r.o.
Indirectly 
held

Czech 
Republic

Czech 
Republic

Manufacturing and  
sales of textile machinery 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 %

4 Saurer Fibrevision Ltd
Indirectly 
held UK UK

Manufacturing and  
sales of textile machinery 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 %

5 Schlafhorst Machines LLP.
Indirectly 
held India India Investment holding 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 %

6 Saurer México S.A. de C.V.
Indirectly 
held Mexico Mexico

Sales and services of  
textile machinery 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 %

7 Saurer Components Pte. Ltd
Indirectly 
held Singapore Singapore

Manufacturing of  
textile machinery 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 %

8 Saurer Tekstil A.S.
Indirectly 
held Turkey Turkey Textile machinery 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 % 80.65 %
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(b) Subsidiaries with significant non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries

Shareholding of 
non-controlling 

shareholders

Total profit or loss 
attributable to  
non-controlling  

shareholders for the year 
ended 31 December 2019

Other comprehensive 
income attributable to 

non-controlling interests 
for the year ended 
31 December 2019

Dividends paid  
to non-controlling 

interests for the year 
ended 31 December  

2019

Accumulated 
non-controlling  
interests as at  
31 December  

2019

Saurer Intelligent 
Machinery Co. Ltd 19.35 % 181 229 12 543 135 000 1 388 995

Subsidiaries

Shareholding of 
non-controlling 

shareholders

Total profit or loss 
attributable to  
non-controlling  

shareholders for the year 
ended 31 December 2018

Other comprehensive 
income attributable to 

non-controlling interests 
for the year ended 
31 December 2018

Dividends paid  
to non-controlling 

interests for the year 
ended 31 December  

2018

Accumulated 
non-controlling  
interests as at  
31 December  

2018

Changzhou Jintan Saurer Textile 
Machinery Technology Co. Ltd 49.82 % –  –  47 887 – 

Changzhou Saurer Textile 
Machinery Technology Co. Ltd 49.91 % 46 756  –  97 199 – 

Saurer Intelligent Machinery  
Co. Ltd (note 4 (34)) 19.35 % – – – 1 334 619

46 756  –  145 086 1 334 619

As at 31 December 2018, the total undistributed profit 
attributable to minority shareholders was RMB 559 million. 
According to the relevant laws and the Articles of Associa-
tion, the AGM approved the profit distribution plan for 
2018 on 29 May 2019, which is to distribute cash dividends 
totaling RMB 135 million (before tax) to all minority share-
holders in accordance with their respective shareholding 
proportions, and no other forms of profit distribution shall 
be conducted.
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Subsidiaries with significant non-controlling interests:

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Current 
assets

Non- 
current 
assets

Total  
assets

Current 
liabilities

Non- 
current 

liabilities
Total 

liabilities
Current  

assets

Non- 
current 
assets

Total 
assets

Current 
liabilities

Non- 
current 

liabilities
Total 

liabilities

Saurer Intelligent 
Machinery Co. Ltd 9 356 299 4 573 520 13 929 819 5 108 893 996 459 6 105 352 11 401 133 3 889 415 15 290 548 5 201 686 3 107 784 8 309 470

 
2019 2018

Revenue
Net profit/

loss

Total com- 
prehensive 

income

Cash flows  
from operating 

activities Revenue
Net profit/

loss

Total com- 
prehensive 

income

Cash flows  
from operating 

activities

Changzhou Jintan Saurer 
Textile Machinery  
Technology Co. Ltd – – – – –  97 555 97 555 –

Changzhou Saurer Textile 
Machinery Technology Co. Ltd –  – – – –  62 449 62 449 –36 965

Saurer Intelligent 
Machinery Co. Ltd 8 575 309 936 291 1 001 105 3 376 9 220 759 971 396 1 046 344 –942 627

(2) Equity in joint ventures
(a) General information of significant joint ventures

Joint ventures Major business location Place of registration Nature of business
Whether strategic to  
the Group's activities Shareholding (%)

Direct Indirect

Saurer Premier  
Technologies Private Ltd India India

Production and sales of 
clearers and accessories Yes – 50 %

 
On 2 March 2015, SAURER AG, the Company's Swiss subsid-
iary, signed a joint venture agreement with a third-party 
partner to establish Saurer Premier Technologies Private 
Ltd in India. The registered capital was INR 30 000 000. 
According to the joint venture agreement, SAURER AG and 
its partner hold each 50 % of the shares in the joint venture 
and each of them hold 50 % of the voting rights. The main 
business of the joint venture is to produce and sell yarn 
clearer and its accessories. The long-term equity invest-
ment is subject to the relevant foreign exchange control of 
India where the investment is located.

The Group adopts the equity method to calculate the 
above equity investment.

On 31 December 2018, Saurer Premier Technologies Pri-
vate Ltd had an excess loss with insignificant amount. It 
entered the liquidation procedure in the current year, and 
the book value of the Group's long-term equity investment 
was written down to zero. On 31 December 2019, the liqui-
dation of the Company has not yet been completed.
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6 Segment information

The reportable segments of the Group are the business units 
that provide different products or service, or operate in the 
different areas. Different businesses or areas require different 
technologies and marketing strategies. The Group, therefore, 
separately manages the production and operation of each 
reportable segment and evaluates their operating results 
respectively, in order to make decisions about resources to be 
allocated to these segments and to assess their performance.

The Group identified two reportable segments as follows:

 ʸ Spinning Solutions (SPIN) is mainly engaged in 
manufacturing and sales of carding, combing, roving 
machines, drawframes and new textile machinery;  
R&D and manufacturing of spinning machines and 
winders; and providing related mechanical spare parts.

 ʸ Technologies (TECH) is mainly engaged in R&D, 
designing and manufacturing of twisting and  
embroidery machines; providing mechanical parts;  
and sales of a variety of spare parts.

 
Inter-segment transfer prices are measured by reference to 
selling prices to third parties.

The assets are allocated based on the operations of the seg-
ments and the physical location of the assets. The liabilities 
are allocated based on the operations of the segments. 
Expenses indirectly attributable to each segment are allo-
cated to the segments based on the proportion of each seg-
ment’s revenue.
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(a) Segment information as at and for the year ended  
31 December 2019 is as follows:

Spinning Solutions Technologies Unallocated Elimination Total

Revenue from external customers 7 279 590 1 295 079 640 – 8 575 309

Inter-segment revenue 23 380 31 987 – –55 367 –

Cost of sales –5 101 985 –922 430 –247 – –6 024 662

Credit impairment loss –20 015 –1 153 – –21 168

Asset impairment losses –12 516 –7 450 – – –19 966

Depreciation and amortisation expenses –163 726 –68 930 –1 942 – –234 598

Earnings before interest and tax 1 265 585 –57 682 –212 917 – 994 986

Interest income – – 9 097 – 9 097

Interest expenses – – –93 172 – –93 172

Total profit 1 265 585 –57 682 –296 992 – 910 911

Income tax expenses – – –120 748 – –120 748

Net profit 1 265 585 –57 682 –417 740 – 790 163

Total assets 7 584 423 1 140 277 4 627 431 –148 160 13 203 971

Total liabilities 2 901 864 516 897 3 601 571 –148 160 6 872 172

Addition of fixed assets, construction in progress, 
long-term prepaid expenses and intangible assets 527 315 83 396 4 497 – 615 208

Segment information as at and for the year ended  
31 December 2018 is as follows:

Spinning Solutions Technologies Unallocated Elimination Total

Revenue from external customers  7 391 748    1 828 881   130 –   9 220 759  

Inter-segment revenue 29 705  47 790  –  –77 495 – 

Cost of sales –5 168 670 –1 402 537 –  –  –6 571 207

Asset impairment losses –33 728 –19 465 –  –  –53 193

Depreciation and amortisation expenses –158 764 –62 098 –2 703 –  –223 565

Earnings before interest and tax  1 146 837    146 750   –47 874 –  1 245 713

Interest income –  –   8 819   –   8 819  

Interest expenses –  –  –108 600 –  –108 600

Total profit 1 146 837  146 750   –147 655 –   1 145 932   

Income tax expenses –  –  –288 882 –  –288 882

Net profit 1 146 837  146 750   –436 537 –  857 050

Total assets 7 618 243  1 257 288   5 632 263   –92 088 14 415 706

Total liabilities 2 746 177 599 304  5 174 538 –92 088 8 427 931

Addition of fixed assets, construction in progress, 
long-term prepaid expenses and intangible assets 408 423  94 551  14 407  –  517 381 
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The Group’s sales revenue from third-party customers in 
China and in foreign countries or geographical areas, and 
the total non-current assets other than financial assets 
and deferred tax assets located in China and in foreign 
countries or geographical areas are as follows:

Sales revenue from third-party customers 2019 2018

China 4 191 053 3 752 026

Germany 3 777 111 4 604 935

US 271 190 391 979

India 134 039 150 688

Switzerland 82 312 182 339

Turkey 42 686 39 431

UK 36 937 45 638

Brazil 32 300 36 545

Mexico 7 605 10 922

Singapore 76 6 256

8 575 309 9 220 759

Total non-current assets
31 December 

2019
31 December 

2018

Switzerland 1 431 435 1 354 885

China 1 126 614 1 006 402

Germany 1 166 033 1 152 615

India 149 362 150 088

UK 52 653 52 335

Singapore 39 965 45 182

US 28 194 29 352

Brazil 2 730 1 672

Czech Republic 2 078 2 479

Turkey 543 724

Mexico 152 273

3 999 759 3 796 007

In 2019, the sales revenue from the customer Litai Xing-
shi, assigned to Spinning Solutions, amounted to RMB 
1 978 782 000, accounting for 23 % (2018: 27.5 %) of sales 
revenue of the Group.

In 2019, the sales revenue from a third-party customer, 
assigned to Spinning Solutions, amounted to RMB 
962 400 000, accounting for 11.2 % (2018: Nil) of sales reve-
nue of the Group. The Group signed a series of sales con-
tracts and supplementary agreements with this third-
party customer to supply intelligent spinning machines for 
a factory intended to be built. As at 31 December 2019, 
this customer had signed and confirmed the delivery of 
the relevant equipment. The customer has not yet built its 
new factory and lacks the necessary storage space for its 
equipment. The customer and the related party of the 
Group, Xinjiang Litai Silk Road Investment Co. Ltd (herein-
after referred to as "Litai Company") signed a custody 
agreement, Litai Company executed custody of relevant 
equipment. As at 31 December 2019, the Group had not 
received any payment. At the date of publication of these 
financial statements, the Group had received from this 
customer payments for a total amount of RMB 105 000 000 
for goods.
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7 Related parties and related  
party transactions

(1) Information on the controlling shareholder
(a) General information on the controlling shareholder 

Type
Place of 

registration
Legal 

representative
Nature  

of business

Jinsheng  
Industrial

Limited 
company Jintan, China Pan Xueping

Manufacturing of 
textile machinery

Jiangsu Jinsheng Holding Co. Ltd (formerly known as Chang-
zhou Jintan Changsheng Investment Company) is the ulti-
mate controller of the Company and Mr Pan Xueping is the 
ultimate controlling shareholder (holding 69 % equity shares) 
of Jiangsu Jinsheng Holding Co. Ltd.

(b) Registered capital and changes in registered capital of the 
controlling shareholder 

31 December  
2018

Increase  
in 2019

Decrease  
in 2019

31 December  
2019

Jinsheng Industrial 100 000 – – 100 000

(c) The percentages of shareholding and voting rights in the 
Company held by the controlling shareholder 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Percentage of 
shareholdings

Percentage of 
voting rights

Percentage of 
shareholdings

Percentage of 
voting rights

Jinsheng  
Industrial 46.94 % 46.94 % 46.94 % 46.94 %

(2) Information of subsidiaries
The general information and other related information on the 
subsidiaries are set out in note 5 (1).

(3) Information on other related parties

Name of related party Relationship with the Group

Taicang Litai Textile Co. Ltd
Controlled by the same controlling 
shareholder together with the Company

Jiangsu Jin Hong Textile Co. Ltd
Controlled by the same controlling 
shareholder together with the Company

EMAG (China) Machinery Co. Ltd
Controlled by the same controlling 
shareholder together with the Company

Shanghai Huayuan  
Mechatronics Co. Ltd

Controlled by the same controlling 
shareholder together with the Company

Litai Xingshi (note)
Controlled by the same controlling 
shareholder together with the Company

Xinjiang Litai Silk Road Investment  
Co. Ltd (note)

Controlled by the same controlling 
shareholder together with the Company

Kuitun Litai Silk Road Investment  
Co. Ltd (note)

Controlled by the same controlling 
shareholder together with the Company

LT Textile International Limited  
Liability Company (note)

Controlled by the same controlling 
shareholder together with the Company

Maigaiti Litai Silk Road Textile Co. Ltd
Controlled by the same controlling 
shareholder together with the Company

Aral Litai Silk Road Investment Co. Ltd
Controlled by the same controlling 
shareholder together with the Company

Heberlein AG
Controlled by the same controlling 
shareholder together with the Company

Saurer Premier Technologies  
Private Ltd Joint ventures

Chen Meifang 
Close family member of the ultimate 
controlling shareholder

Changzhou Jintan Huamao Jinsheng 
Technology Development Co. Ltd 
(former name: Jintan Huamao Jinsheng 
Technology Development Co. Ltd)

Controlled by a close family member 
of the ultimate controlling shareholder 

Jintan Garden Hotel
Controlled by a close family member 
of the ultimate controlling shareholder 

Note: Xinjiang Litai Silk Road Investment Co. Ltd, Kuitun Litai Silk Road 
Investment Co. Ltd and LT Textile International Limited Liability Company are 
subsidiaries of Litai Xingshi. The financial statements disclose Litai Xingshi 
and its subsidiaries as a whole.
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(4) Related party transactions
(a) Pricing policy and decision-making procedure

The transaction price between the Group and related 
parties is based on the market price and agreed price 
between both parties. Lease expenses are negotiated by 
both parties involved in the lease and by making refer-
ence to the market price.

(b) Sales of goods and rendering of services

2019 2018

Litai Xingshi (note) 1 978 782 2 539 675

Taicang Litai Textile Co. Ltd 58 57

Jiangsu Jin Hong Textile Co. Ltd 56 51

Changzhou Jintan Huamao Jinsheng 
Technology Develompment Co. Ltd 7 –

EMAG (China) Machinery Co. Ltd – 30

1 978 903 2 539 813

Note: the Group sells textile equipment and spare parts to Litai Xingshi.  
Litai Xingshi uses the equipments and spare parts in its own production.

(c) Purchase of goods
2019 2018

Jiangsu Jin Hong Textile Co. Ltd 107 87

Shanghai Huayuan Mechatronics Co. Ltd 6 –

113 87

(d) Other services provided
2019 2018

Shanghai Huayuan Mechatronics Co. Ltd 348 279

Jintan Garden Hotel 282 546

Changzhou Jintan Huamao Jinsheng 
Technology Development Co. Ltd 20 –

650 825

(e) Interest expenses
2019 2018

Interest expenses – 71

(f) Financing
2019 2018

Borrowing from 

Jinsheng Industrial – 3 000

Paying back to

Jinsheng Industrial – 3 000

(g) Remuneration of key management
2019 2018

Jinsheng Industrial 31 389 26 580

(h) Guarantees received and provided
As of 31 December 2019, the loan of the Group was guar-
anteed by related parties as follows:

Guarantee Secured Party Currency 31 December 2019

Jinsheng Industrial 
and Pan Xueping The Company RMB 150 000

Jinsheng Industrial The Company RMB 50 000

Jinsheng Industrial, 
Pan Xueping and 
Chen Meifang The Company RMB 95 000

Pan Xueping and 
Chen Meifang The Company RMB 100 000

Jinsheng Industrial, 
Pan Xueping and 
Chen Meifang

Saurer (Jiangsu) Textile 
Machinery Co. Ltd RMB 447 157

Jinsheng Industrial, 
Pan Xueping and 
Chen Meifang

Saurer (Jiangsu)  
Textile Machinery  
Co. Ltd EUR 4 000

Jinsheng Industrial 
and Pan Xueping

Saurer (Changzhou) 
Textile Machinery  
Co. Ltd RMB 150 000

Jinsheng Industrial 
and Pan Xueping

Saurer (Changzhou) 
Textile Machinery  
Co. Ltd RMB 150 000

Jinsheng Industrial, 
Pan Xueping and 
Chen Meifang

Saurer (Jiangsu)  
Textile Machinery  
Co. Ltd RMB 147 573

Jinsheng Industrial, 
Pan Xueping and 
Chen Meifang

Saurer (Jiangsu)  
Textile Machinery  
Co. Ltd EUR 9 974

(5) Receivables from and payables to related parties
(a) Accounts receivables

31 December  
2019

31 December  
2018

Litai Xingshi 2 184 457 2 493 170

Taicang Litai Textile Co. Ltd 64 1

Jiangsu Jinhong Textile Co. Ltd 2 –

2 184 523 2 493 171

(b) Other receivables
31 December  

2019
31 December  

2018

Saurer Premier Technologies Private Ltd – 659

Heberlein AG – 133

Shanghai Huayuan Mechatronics Co. Ltd – 12

– 804

(c) Advances from customers
31 December  

2019
31 December  

2018

Litai Xingshi 31 943 219 764
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(d) Other payables
31 December  

2019
31 December  

2018

Pan Jian 635 –

Jintan Garden Hotel 45 45

Shanghai Huayuan Mechatronics Co. Ltd 21 –

701 45

(e) Employee benefits payables
31 December  

2019
31 December  

2018

Pan Xueping 1 889 2 083

(6) Commitments in relation to related parties
As at each balance sheet date, the Group’s commitments in 
relation to Litai Xingshi that have been contracted for but not 
yet performed are as follows:

Sales of goods
31 December  

2019
31 December  

2018

Litai Xingshi 229 919 449 051

8 Contingencies

As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, the Group did 
not have significant contingencies.

9 Commitments

(1) Capital commitments
Capital expenditures contracted for by the Group at the bal-
ance sheet date but are not yet necessary to be recognised 
on the balance sheet are as follows:

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Buildings, machinery and equipment 188 434 361 119

(2) Operating lease commitments
As at the balance sheet date, the future minimum lease pay-
ments due under the signed irrevocable operating leases 
contracts are summarised as follows:

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Within 1 year 80 952 76 769

1 to 2 years  65 562  48 941

2 to 3 years  27 809  40 774

Over 3 years  133 047  157 688

307 370 324 172

10 Events after the balance sheet date
 
Affected by the novel coronavirus (Covid-19) pandemic and 
related preventive and control measures, the upstream and 
downstream companies of the Group have had to postpone 
or stop production, which is expected to cause some tempo-
rary effects on the production and operation of the Group, 
slowing down business development and the recovery of 
receivables. This may lead to corrections to the estimation of 
impairment of assets such as goodwill, accounts receivables 
and the recognition of deferred income tax assets. The extent 
of the impact depends on the progress and duration of pan-
demic prevention and control policies and their respective 
implementation in the different regions. The above impacts 
are non-adjusting events not affecting the financial state-
ments 2019. With the global outbreak of the pandemic, the 
impact on the Group will increase. The Group will closely mon-
itor and adjust production and operations in a timely manner 
according to the pandemic situation and market changes.

11 Financial risk
 
The Group's operating activities expose it to various financial 
risks, including market risk (mainly foreign exchange risk and 
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The above 
financial risks and the risk management policies adopted by 
the Group to reduce these risks are as follows:

The Board of Directors is responsible for planning and estab-
lishing the Group's risk management structure, formulating 
the Group's risk management policies and related guidelines, 
and supervising the implementation of risk management 
measures. The Group has formulated risk management poli-
cies to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group. 
These risk management policies have defined specific risks, 
including market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group 
regularly evaluates changes in the market environment and 
the Group's operating activities to determine whether to 
update risk management policies and systems. The risk man-
agement of the Group is carried out by the Risk Management 
Committee in accordance with the policies approved by the 
Board of Directors. The Risk Management Committee identi-
fies, evaluates and mitigates relevant risks through close 
cooperation with other business units of the Group. The inter-
nal audit department of the Group conducts regular audits of 
risk management controls and procedures, and reports the 
audit results to the Group's audit committee.
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(1) Market risk
(a) Foreign exchange risk

As of 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, the amount 
of foreign currency financial assets and foreign currency 
financial liabilities held by the Group converted into RMB is 
shown below:

31 December 2019

EUR CHF USD RMB Others Total

Financial assets denominated in foreign currency

 ʸ Cash at bank and on hand 2 626 455 6 408 200 588 15 302 225 379

 ʸ Notes receivables, accounts receivables and long-term receivables 22 525 641 265 092 80 26 493 314 831

25 151 1 096 271 500 200 668 41 795 540 210

Financial liabilities denominated in foreign currency

 ʸ Short-term borrowings 136 241 – 2 024 – – 138 265

 ʸ Payables 82 257 39 664 24 529 1 424 10 621 158 495

218 498 39 664 26 553 1 424 10 621 296 760

 
31 December 2018

EUR CHF USD RMB Others Total

Financial assets denominated in foreign currency

 ʸ Cash at bank and on hand 40 051  530 13 408  148 062  14 452  216 503 

 ʸ Notes receivables, accounts receivables and long-term receivables 7 505  1 727  294 587  137 22 727  326 683 

47 556  2 257  307 995  148 199  37 179  543 186 

Financial liabilities denominated in foreign currency

 ʸ Short-term borrowings 78 267 –  –  –  –  78 267 

 ʸ Payables 60 125  67 386  26 330  3 203  10 307  167 351 

138 392  67 386  26 330  3 203  10 307  245 618 

As of 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, the Group's 
foreign exchange risk arises mainly from the various types 
of financial assets and liabilities in EUR, USD and CHF.

For companies who adopt EUR as foreign currency, if the EUR 
had weakened or strengthened by 10 %, with all other var-
iables held constant for the year ended 31 December 2019, 
the net profit of the Group would have decreased or increased 
by approximately RMB 19 335 000 (2018: RMB 9 084 000).

For companies who adopt CHF as foreign currency, if the CHF 
had weakened or strengthened by 10 %, with all other var-
iables held constant for the year ended 31 December 2019, 
the net profit of the Group would have decreased or increased 
by approximately RMB 3 857 000 (2018: RMB 6 513 000).

For companies who adopt USD as foreign currency, if the USD 
had weakened or strengthened by 10%, with all other var-
iables held constant for the year ended 31 December 2019, 
the net profit of the Group would have increased or decreased 
by approximately RMB 24 495 000 (2018: RMB 28 167 000).
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For companies who adopt RMB as foreign currency, if the RMB 
had weakened or strengthened by 10 %, with all other varia-
bles held constant for the year ended 31 December 2019, the 
net profit of the Group would have increased or decreased 
by approximately RMB 19 924 000 (2018: RMB 14 500 000).

(b) Interest rate risk
The Group's interest rate risk mainly arises from inter-
est-bearing borrowings including bank borrowings. Finan-
cial liabilities issued at floating rates expose the Group to 
cash flow interest rate risk. Financial liabilities issued at 
fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate 
risk. As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, the 
Group's interest-bearing assets and borrowings classified 
by floating rate and fixed rate were as follows:

31 December  
2019

31 December  
2018

Floating interest rate

 ʸ Short-term borrowings 563 284 924 120

 ʸ Long-term borrowings (including  
current portion of long-term borrowings) 598 078 2 604 698

1 161 362 3 528 818

Fixed interest rate

 ʸ Short-term borrowings 1 678 016 575 214

 ʸ Long-term borrowings (including  
current portion of long-term borrowings) 343 548 439 439

2 021 564 1 014 653

To mitigate the impact of interest rate fluctuations, the 
Group continuously assesses and monitors its exposure to 
interest rate risk to take measures to control relevant risks. 

As at 31 December 2019, if the floating rate had strength-
ened/weakened by 50 points, while all other variables 
had been held constant, the Group’s net profit for the 
year would have decreased/increased by approximately 
RMB 5 807 000 (2018: RMB 17 644 000).

(2) Credit risk
The Group's credit risk mainly arises from cash at bank, notes 
receivables, accounts receivables, financing receivables, 
other receivables, debt investments, other debt investments 
and financial guarantee contracts, etc., and those that have 
not been included in the scope of impairment assessment. 
Debt instrument investments and derivative financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss are included in the current 
profit and loss statement. At the balance sheet date, the 
book value of the Group's financial assets represent its max-
imum credit risk exposure; there are no off-balance sheet 
financial guarantees.

The Group's cash at bank funds are mainly deposits with 
state-owned banks and other large and medium-sized listed 
banks with good reputations and high credit ratings. The 
Group believes that it does not have significant credit risk 
and there will be hardly any losses caused by bank defaults. 

In addition, the Group has policies to limit the credit exposure 
on accounts receivables, other receivables and notes receiv-
ables. The Group assesses the credit quality of and sets credit 
limits on its customers by taking into account their financial 
position, the availability of guarantees from third parties, 
their credit history and other factors such as current market 
conditions. The credit history of the customers is regularly 
monitored by the Group. In respect of customers with a poor 
credit history, the Group will use written payment reminders, 
or shorten or cancel credit periods, to ensure the overall 
credit risk of the Group is limited to a controllable extent.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not hold any guaran-
tee or other credit enhancement arsing from mortgage for 
the debtor (2018: Nil).
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(3) Liquidity risk
Cash flow forecasting is performed by each subsidiary of the 
Group and consolidated by the Group’s finance department 
on Group level. The Group’s finance department monitors 
rolling forecasts of the Group's short-term and long-term 
liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash and 
securities that are readily convertible to cash to meet opera-
tional needs, while maintaining sufficient headroom on its 
undrawn committed borrowing facilities from major financial 
institutions so that the Group does not breach borrowing lim-
its or covenants on any of its borrowing facilities to meet the 
short-term and long-term liquidity requirements.

Except for financial liabilities held for trading that have been 
disclosed in note 4 (3), the financial liabilities of the Group at 
the balance sheet date are analysed by their maturity date 
below at their undiscounted contractual cash flows:

31 December 2019

Within 
 1 year

1 to 2  
years

2 to 5  
years

Over  
5 years Total

Short-term borrowings 2 272 140 – – – 2 272 140

Notes payables 57 000 – – – 57 000

Accounts payables 1 586 229 – – – 1 586 229

Other payables 465 382 – – – 465 382

Long-term borrowings 
(Including: current 
portion of non-current 
liabilities) 525 985 122 511 367 213 – 1 015 709

4 906 736 122 511 367 213 – 5 396 460

 
31 December 2018

Within 
 1 year

1 to 2  
years

2 to 5  
years

Over  
5 years Total

Short-term borrowings 1 510 379 – – – 1 510 379

Notes payables 100 000 – – – 100 000

Accounts payables 1 447 131 – – – 1 447 131

Other payables 377 318 – – – 377 318

Long-term borrowings 
(Including: current 
portion of non-current 
liabilities) 632 683 1 177 079 1 513 796 – 3 323 558

4 067 511 1 177 079 1 513 796 – 6 758 386

As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, the Group had 
no external financial guarantee.

12 Fair value estimates
 
The level at which fair value measurement is categorised is 
determined by the level of the fair value hierarchy of the low-
est level input that is significant to the entire fair value meas-
urement:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for iden-
tical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
or indirectly.

Level 3: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

(1) Financial instruments measured at fair value on 
recurring basis
As at 31 December 2019, the financial assets measured at fair 
value on a recurring basis by the above three levels are ana-
lysed below:
 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets

Financial assets held for trading – 6 310 – 6 310

Accounts receivables financing – – 7 025 7 025

– 6 310 7 025 13 335

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities  
held for trading – 10 478 – 10 478

– 10 478 – 10 478

As at 31 December 2018, the financial assets measured at fair 
value on a recurring basis by the above three levels are ana-
lysed below
 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets

Financial assets at FVPL – 4 966  –  4 966 

Financial assets available-for-sale – –  1 100 000 1 100 000 

– 4 966  1 100 000 1 104 966 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities at FVPL – 5 416 –  5 416

– 5 416  –  5 416

The Group takes the date on which events causing the trans-
fers between the levels take place as the timing specific for 
recognising the transfers. In 2019 and 2018, there was no shift 
among the first, second and third level.
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The fair value of financial instruments traded in an active 
market is determined at the quoted market price; and the fair 
value of those not traded in an active market is determined 
by the Group using a valuation technique. For the valuation 
of hedging instruments, the discounted cash flow method is 
used with significant input being the observable exchange 
rate; for the valuation of currency swap contracts, the dis-
counted cash flow method is used with significant input 
being the observable forward exchange rate and swap rate 
of the related currency.

The changes in level 3 financial assets are analysed below: 

Financial assets 31
 D

ec
em

b
er

  
20

18

C
ha

ng
es

 in
  

a
cc

ou
nt

in
g

  
p

ol
ic

ie
s

1 
Ja

nu
a

ry
  

20
19

In
cr

ea
se

D
ec

re
a

se

Tr
a

ns
fe

r 
 

in
to

 le
ve

l 3

Tr
a

ns
fe

r 
ou

t 
 

of
 le

ve
l 3

To
ta

l g
a

in
s 

 
or

 lo
ss

es
 fo

r 
 

th
e 

cu
rr

en
t 

 
p

er
io

d

31
 D

ec
em

b
er

  
20

19

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 u

nr
ea

lis
ed

 g
a

in
s 

or
 

lo
ss

es
 o

f a
ss

et
s 

st
ill

 h
el

d
 a

s 
of

 3
1 

D
ec

em
b

er
 2

01
9 

in
cl

ud
ed

 in
 c

ur
re

nt
 

p
ro

fit
s 

a
nd

 lo
ss

es
 -

 g
a

in
s 

a
nd

  
lo

ss
es

 fr
om

 c
ha

ng
es

 in
 fa

ir
 v

a
lu

e

Account receivables 
financing

Gains 
recognised 

in profit

Gains or losses 
recognised in other 

comprehensive income

 ʸ Notes receivables – 113 322 113 322 400 509 –506 806  – – – – 7 025 –

Financial assets  
held for trading

 ʸ Breakeven  
floating income 
financial products 1 100 000 – 1 100 000 – –1 100 253 – – 253 – – –

1 100 000 113 322 1 213 322 400 509 –1 607 059 – – 253 - 7 025 -

Other current assets 1 
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 ʸ Breakeven floating  
income financial products

Gains 
recognised 

in profit

Gains or losses 
recognised in other 

comprehensive income

– 1 100 000 – – – – – 1 100 000 –

Gains or losses recognised in profit or loss are included in the 
income statement under the items of gains on changes in fair 
value, investment income, asset impairment losses and credit 
impairment loss respectively.
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(2) Assets measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis
As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, the Group had 
no assets measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis. 

(3) Assets and liabilities not measured at fair value  
but disclosed
Financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost 
mainly include receivables, short-term borrowings, payables, 
long-term borrowings and long-term payables. The carrying 
amount of the financial assets and liabilities not measured at 
fair value is a reasonable approximation of their fair value.

13 Capital management
 
The Group’s capital management policies aim to safeguard 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to 
provide returns for owners and benefits for other stakehold-
ers, and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce 
the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group 
can adjust the dividends payment to the owners, inject cap-
ital or dispose the assets to net off the debts.

The total capital of the Group is the total owners’ equity 
listed in the consolidated balance sheet. The Group is not 
subject to external mandatory capital requirements, and 
monitors capital on the basis of gearing ratio.

As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, the Group's 
gearing ratios are as follows:

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Gearing ratio 52 % 58 %

14 Notes to the Company financial statements

(1) Cash at bank and on hand

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Cash at bank 446 892 63

Other cash balances 10 010 –

456 902 63

(2) Other receivables

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Deposit 871 871

Less: provision for bad debts – –

Net book value 871 871

The aging of other receivables is analysed as follows:

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Within 1 year – 871

1–2 years 871 –

871 871

As at 31 December 2019, the Company has no other receiva-
bles at stage two and stage three. As at 31 December 2019, 
the amount of other receivables at stage one is immaterial.

As at 31 December 2018, the Company did not make any pro-
visions for other receivables or bad debts.

In 2018 and 2019, there is no reversal or write-off of provisions 
for bad debt and no writte-off for other receivables.
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(3) Long-term equity investments

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Subsidiaries 10 452 842 10 452 842

Less: provision for impairment of 
long-term equity investments – –

Net book value 10 452 842 10 452 842

As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, the Compa-
ny’s directly holding subsidiary is Saurer Intelligent Machinery 
Co. Ltd (note 5 (1) (a)), which holds certain long-term equity 
investments in subsidiaries in Hong Kong and outside of China. 
Those long-term equity investments are subject to applicable 
foreign exchange control in Mainland China, Hong Kong and 
overseas where the investment locates.

(4) Revenue and cost of sales

2019 2018

Main 
operating 

revenue

Main 
operating 

cost

Main  
operating  

revenue

Main 
operating 

cost

Sale of machinery  
and equipment  
and components  140 045    140 045   – –

15 Supplementary information  
by the management

(1) Detailed list of non-recurring gain and loss

2019 2018

Income from disposal of non-current assets 138 148

Governmental subsidy included in the  
current profits and losses 27 519 46 305 

Paid or received payment for use of state funds 
recorded in current profits and losses 11 325 5 353 

Estimated expenses of employee dismissals caused 
by plant shutdowns outside China and others –115 480 – 

Income of subsidiary disposal – – 

Net value of other non-operating income and expense 1 031 –640

Subtotal –75 467 51 166 

Less: impact of income tax 25 360 –8 253

Less: extraordinary profit and loss  
attributable to minority shareholders 9 685 – 

Extraordinary profit and loss attributable  
to parent company shareholders –40 422 42 913 

Compiling foundation of extraordinary profit and loss detailed 
statements 

According to the regulations of “Standards For Content And 
Format Of Information Disclosure Of Companies Issuing Securi-
ties Publicly No. 1 — Extraordinary profit and loss [2008]” 
promulgated by CSRC, extraordinary profit and loss arises in 
various trading and issues that have no direct relation with the 
normal operations of a company, or that are related to normal 
operations but may influence reasonable judgment of the 
Company’s operation, performance and profitability due to 
the special and occasional nature of such trading and issues.

(2) Net assets income and earnings per share

Weighted average net 
asset income rate (%)

2019 2018

Net profits attributable to shareholders  
of the parent company 12.69 % 30.58 %

Net profits attributable to shareholders of the parent 
company excluding extraordinary profit and loss 13.53 % 28.96 %

Earnings per share

Basic earnings  
per share

Diluted earnings  
per share

2019 2018 2019 2018

Net profits attributable to share - 
holders of the parent company 0.3218 0.4275 0.3218 0.4275

Net profits attributable to 
shareholder of the parent company 
excluding extraordinary profit  
and loss 0.3432 0.4049 0.3432 0.4049
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10. Catalogue of 
documents available 
for inspection
Catalogue of documents available for inspection

Financial statements bearing the signatures and seals of the Company’s  
legal representative, Chief Financial Officer and the person in charge of accounting.

Catalogue of documents available for inspection
Original of the audit report bearing the seal of PwC and the signature  
and seal of a certified public accountant.

Catalogue of documents available for inspection
Originals of all documents and announcements publicly disclosed by the  
Company in newspapers designated by the CSRC within the reporting period.

Approval and submission date of the Board of Directors:  
     

 

Chairman: Pan Xueping
29 June 2020
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Disclaimer

Parts of the Saurer Annual Report 2019 have been trans-
lated into English. Please note that the Chinese-language 
version of the Saurer Annual Report is the binding version. 

Caution concerning forward-looking statements
This report contains forward-looking statements. These 
forward-looking statements reflect the views of the man-
agement of Saurer Intelligent Technology Co. Ltd as of 
the date of publication. The forward-looking statements 
may involve risks and uncertainties, including technolog-
ical advances, product demand and market acceptance, 
the effect of economic conditions, the impact of compet-
itive products and pricing, foreign currency exchange 
rates, changes in legal requirements, political measures 
and other risks. All of these forward-looking statements 
are based on estimates and assumptions made by the 
Saurer management and are believed to be reasonable, 
but are inherently uncertain and difficult to predict. 
Actual results or experience could differ materially from 
the forward-looking statements. Saurer disclaims any 
intention or obligation to update these forward-looking 
statements because of new information, future events or 
otherwise. It should also be noted that past performance 
is not a guide to future performance.
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